

# **3E**

# ECONOMICS

ACEMOGLU | LAIBSON | LIST



Third Edition Global Edition

# ECONOMICS

This page is intentionally left blank

Third Edition Global Edition

# ECONOMICS

### **Daron Acemoglu**

Massachusetts Institute of Technology

## **David Laibson**

Harvard University

### John A. List

University of Chicago



Harlow, England • London • New York • Boston • San Francisco • Toronto • Sydney • Dubai • Singapore • Hong Kong Tokyo • Seoul • Taipei • New Delhi • Cape Town • Sao Paulo • Mexico City • Madrid • Amsterdam • Munich • Paris • Milan Please contact https://support.pearson.com/getsupport/s/contactsupport with any queries on this content. Cover Image: rikkyall / Shutterstock

Microsoft and/or its respective suppliers make no representations about the suitability of the information contained in the documents and related graphics published as part of the services for any purpose. All such documents and related graphics are provided "as is" without warranty of any kind. Microsoft and/or its respective suppliers hereby disclaim all warranties and conditions with regard to this information, including all warranties and conditions of merchantability, whether express, implied or statutory, fitness for a particular purpose, title, and non-infringement. In no event shall Microsoft and/or its respective suppliers be liable for any special, indirect, or consequential damages or any damages whatsoever resulting from loss of use, data, or profits, whether in an action of contract, negligence, or other tortious action, arising out of or in connection with the use or performance of information available from the services.

The documents and related graphics contained herein could include technical inaccuracies or typographical errors. Changes are periodically added to the information herein. Microsoft and/or its respective suppliers may make improvements and/ or changes in the product(s) and/or the program(s) described herein at any time. Partial screen shots may be viewed in full within the software version specified.

Microsoft® and Windows® are registered trademarks of the Microsoft Corporation in the U.S.A. and other countries. This book is not sponsored or endorsed by or affiliated with the Microsoft Corporation.

Acknowledgments of third-party content appear on the appropriate page within the text.

Pearson Education Limited KAO Two KAO Park Hockham Way Harlow Essex CM17 9SR United Kingdom

and Associated Companies throughout the world

Visit us on the World Wide Web at: www.pearsonglobaleditions.com

© Pearson Education Limited 2022

The rights of Daron Acemoglu, David Laibson, and John A. List, to be identified as the authors of this work, has been asserted by them in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

Authorized adaptation from the United States edition, entitled *Economics*, 2nd Edition, ISBN 978-0-13-449206-3 by Daron Acemoglu, David Laibson, and John A. List, published by Pearson Education © 2018.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without either the prior written permission of the publisher or a license permitting restricted copying in the United Kingdom issued by the Copyright Licensing Agency Ltd, Saffron House, 6–10 Kirby Street, London EC1N 8TS.

All trademarks used herein are the property of their respective owners. The use of any trademark in this text does not vest in the author or publisher any trademark ownership rights in such trademarks, nor does the use of such trademarks imply any affiliation with or endorsement of this book by such owners. For information regarding permissions, request forms, and the appropriate contacts within the Pearson Education Global Rights and Permissions department, please visit www.pearsoned.com/permissions/.

This eBook is a standalone product and may or may not include all assets that were part of the print version. It also does not provide access to other Pearson digital products like MyLab and Mastering. The publisher reserves the right to remove any material in this eBook at any time.

ISBN 10: 1-292-41101-5 ISBN 13: 978-1-292-41101-9 eBook ISBN 13: 978-1-292-41114-9

British Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data

A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library

Typeset in Times NR MT Pro by Integra Software Services

## **Dedication**

With love for Annika, Aras, Arda, Eli, Greta, Mason, Max, and Noah, who inspire us every day.

## **About the Authors**



**Daron Acemoglu** is an Institute Professor in the Department of Economics at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology. He has received a B.A. in economics from the University of York, 1989; an M.Sc. in mathematical economics and econometrics from the London School of Economics, 1990; and a Ph.D. in economics from the London School of Economics in 1992.

He is an elected fellow of the National Academy of Sciences, the American Academy of Arts and Sciences, the Econometric Society, the European Economic Association, and the Society of Labor Economists. He has received numerous awards and fellowships, including the inaugural T. W. Schultz Prize from the University of Chicago in 2004, the inaugural Sherwin Rosen Award for outstanding contribution to labor economics in 2004, the Distinguished Science Award from the Turkish Sciences Association in 2006, the John von Neumann Award, Rajk College, Budapest, in 2007, the Carnegie Fellowship in 2017, the Jean-Jacques Laffont Prize in 2018, and the Global Economy Prize in 2019.

He was also the recipient of the John Bates Clark Medal in 2005, awarded every two years to the best economist in the United States under the age of 40 by the American Economic Association, the Erwin Plein Nemmers Prize, awarded every two years for work of lasting significance in economics, and the BBVA Frontiers of Knowledge Award in Economics, Finance and Management. He holds honorary doctorates from the University of Utrecht, Bosporus University, University of Athens, Bilkent University, University of Bath, Ecole Normale Superieure, Saclay Paris, and the London Business School.

His research interests include political economy, economic development and growth, human capital theory, growth theory, innovation, inequality, search theory, network economics, and learning.

His books include *Economic Origins of Dictatorship and Democracy* (jointly with James A. Robinson), which was awarded the Woodrow Wilson and the William Riker prizes, *Introduction to Modern Economic Growth*, and *Why Nations Fail: The Origins of Power, Prosperity, and Poverty* (jointly with James A. Robinson), which has become a *New York Times* bestseller, and *The Narrow Corridor: States, Societies, and the Fate of Liberty* (jointly written with James A. Robinson).



**David Laibson** is the Robert I. Goldman Professor of Economics at Harvard University and the Faculty Dean of Lowell House. He is also a member of the National Bureau of Economic Research, where he is Research Associate in the Asset Pricing, Economic Fluctuations, and Aging Working Groups and where he co-directs the National Institute of Aging Roybal Center for Behavior Change in Health. His research focuses on the topics of behavioral economics, intertemporal choice, macroeconomics, and household finance, and he leads Harvard University's Foundations of Human Behavior Initiative. He serves on the Pension Research Council (Wharton), Harvard's Pension Investment Committee, and the Board of the Russell Sage Foundation. He has previously served on the boards of the Health and Retirement Study (National Institutes of Health) and the Academic Research Council of the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau. He is a recipient of a Marshall Scholarship, a Fellow of the Econometric Society, and an elected member of the American Academy of Arts and Sciences and the National Academy of Sciences. He is also a recipient of the T. W. Schultz Prize from the University of Chicago and the TIAA-CREF Paul A. Samuelson Award for Outstanding Scholarly Writing on Lifelong Financial Security. Laibson holds degrees from Harvard University (A.B. in economics), the London School of Economics (M.Sc. in econometrics and mathematical economics), and the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (Ph.D. in economics). He received his Ph.D. in 1994 and has taught at Harvard since then. In recognition of his teaching excellence, he has been awarded Harvard's Phi Beta Kappa Prize and a Harvard College Professorship.



**John A. List** is the Kenneth C. Griffin Distinguished Service Professor in Economics at the University of Chicago. He received his B.S. in economics at the University of Wisconsin-Stevens Point, and Ph.D. in economics at the University of Wyoming. List joined the UChicago faculty in 2005, and served as Chairman of the Department of Economics from 2012–2018. Prior to joining the University of Chicago, he was a professor at the University of Central Florida, University of Arizona, and University of Maryland.

List was elected a Member of the American Academy of Arts and Sciences in 2011, and a Fellow of the Econometric Society in 2015. He also received the Arrow Prize for Senior Economists in 2008, the Kenneth Galbraith Award in 2010, the Yrjo Jahnsson Lecture Prize in 2012, and the Klein Lecture Prize in 2016. He received an honorary doctorate from Tilburg University in 2014, and from the University of Ottawa in 2017. John was also named a Top 50 Innovator in the Non-Profit Times for 2015 and 2016 for his work on charitable giving. He also served in the White House on the Council of Economic Advisers from 2002–2003, and is a Research Associate at the NBER.

His research focuses on questions in microeconomics, with a particular emphasis on using field experiments to address both positive and normative issues. For decades his field experimental research has focused on issues related to the inner-workings of markets, the effects of various incentives schemes on market equilibria and allocations, how behavioral economics can augment the standard economic model, on early childhood education and interventions, and most recently on the gender earnings gap in the gig economy (using evidence from rideshare drivers).

His research includes over 200 peer-reviewed journal articles and several published books, including the 2013 international best-seller, *The Why Axis: Hidden Motives and the Undiscovered Economics of Everyday Life* (with Uri Gneezy).

This page is intentionally left blank

# **Brief Contents**

| PART I     | Introduction to Economics 36  |
|------------|---|
| Chapter 1  | The Principles and Practice of Economics 36                                   |
| Chapter 2  | Economic Science: Using Data and Models to Understand the World 54            |
| Chapter 3  | Optimization: Trying to Do the Best You Can 78                                |
| Chapter 4  | Demand, Supply, and Equilibrium 96  |
| PART II    | Foundations of Microeconomics 124   |
| Chapter 5  | Consumers and Incentives 124  |
| Chapter 6  | Sellers and Incentives 154  |
| Chapter 7  | Perfect Competition and the Invisible Hand 186                                |
| Chapter 8  | Trade 216   |
| Chapter 9  | Externalities and Public Goods 244  |
| Chapter 10 | The Government in the Economy: Taxation and Regulation 274                    |
| Chapter 11 | Markets for Factors of Production 306   |
| PART III   | Market Structure 332  |
| Chapter 12 | Monopoly 332  |
| Chapter 13 | Game Theory and Strategic Play 358  |
| Chapter 14 | Oligopoly and Monopolistic Competition 382                                    |
| PART IV    | Extending the Microeconomic Toolbox 410                                       |
| Chapter 15 | Trade-offs Involving Time and Risk 410  |
| Chapter 16 | The Economics of Information 428  |
| Chapter 17 | Auctions and Bargaining 446   |
| Chapter 18 | Social Economics 468  |
| PART V     | Introduction to Macroeconomics 490  |
| Chapter 19 | The Wealth of Nations: Defining and Measuring<br>Macroeconomic Aggregates 490 |
| Chapter 20 | Aggregate Incomes 520   |
| PART VI    | Long-Run Growth and Development 546   |
| Chapter 21 | Economic Growth 546   |
| Chapter 22 | Why Isn't the Whole World Developed? 582                                      |

| PART VII   | Equilibrium in the Macroeconomy 608                    |
|------------|--|
| Chapter 23 | Employment and Unemployment 608                        |
| Chapter 24 | Credit Markets 636                                     |
| Chapter 25 | The Monetary System 662                                |
| PART VIII  | Short-Run Fluctuations and<br>Macroeconomic Policy 690 |
| Chapter 26 | Short-Run Fluctuations 690                             |
| Chapter 27 | Countercyclical Macroeconomic Policy 722               |
| PART IX    | Macroeconomics in a Global Economy 750                 |
| Chapter 28 | Macroeconomics and International Trade 750             |
| Chapter 29 | Open Economy Macroeconomics 774                        |
|            |  |

## Contents

| PART I INTRODUCTION TO<br>ECONOMICS                          | 36 |
|--|----|
| Chapter 1: The Principles and<br>Practice of Economics       | 36 |
| 1.1 The Scope of Economics                                   | 37 |
| Economic Agents and Economic Resources                       | 37 |
| Definition of Economics                                      | 38 |
| Positive Economics and Normative Economics                   | 39 |
| Microeconomics and Macroeconomics                            | 40 |
| <b>1.2 Three Principles of Economics</b>                     | 40 |
| <b>1.3</b> The First Principle of Economics:<br>Optimization | 41 |
| Trade-offs and Budget Constraints                            | 42 |
| Opportunity Cost   | 43 |
| Cost-Benefit Analysis  | 44 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: Is Facebook<br>free?               | 45 |
| Equilibrium  | 47 |
| -<br>The Free-Rider Problem                                  | 48 |
| <b>1.5</b> The Third Principle of Economics:                 |    |
| Empiricism   | 49 |
| <b>1.6 Is Economics Good for You?</b>                        | 49 |
| Summary  | 50 |
| Key Terms  | 51 |
| Questions  | 51 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems                            | 51 |
| Problems   | 52 |

#### **Chapter 2: Economic Science:** Using Data and Models to **Understand the World**

| 2.1 The Scientific Method  | 55 |
|--|----|
| Models and Data  | 56 |
| An Economic Model  | 57 |
| <b>Evidence-Based Economics:</b> How much more does a worker with a 4-year college degree earn compared to a worker with a high school |    |
| degree?  | 58 |
| Means and Medians  | 60 |
| Argument by Anecdote   | 60 |

| 2.2 Causation and Correlation  | 61       |
|--|----------|
| The Red Ad Blues   | 61       |
| Causation Versus Correlation   | 61       |
| Choice & Consequence: Spend Now and Pay<br>Later?<br>Experimental Economics and Natural<br>Experiments                     | 64<br>64 |
| <ul> <li>Evidence-Based Economics: What is the return to education?</li> <li>2.3 Economic Questions and Answers</li> </ul> | 65<br>66 |
| Summary  | 68       |
| Key Terms  | 68       |
| Questions  | 68       |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems  | 69       |
| Problems   | 69       |
| Appendix: Constructing and Interpreting<br>Charts and Graphs   | 71       |
| A Study about Incentives   | 71       |
| Experimental Design  | 71       |
| Describing Variables   | 72       |
| Cause and Effect   | 74       |
| Appendix Key Terms   | 77       |
| Appendix Problems  | 77       |

#### **Chapter 3: Optimization: Trying** to Do the Best You Can

| <b>3.1</b> Optimization: Trying to Choose the Best Feasible Option  | 79 |
|---|----|
| <ul><li>Choice &amp; Consequence: Do People Actually<br/>Choose the Best Feasible Option?</li><li>3.2 Optimization Application: Renting the</li></ul> | 80 |
| Optimal Apartment   | 80 |
| Before and After Comparisons  | 83 |
| <b>3.3 Optimization Using Marginal Analysis</b>   | 84 |
| Marginal Cost   | 85 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: How does  |    |
| location affect the rental cost of housing?   | 88 |
| Summary   | 91 |
| Key Terms   | 92 |
| Questions   | 92 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems   | 92 |
| Problems  | 92 |

## Chapter 4: Demand, Supply, and Equilibrium

| and Equilibrium                                | 96  |
|--|-----|
| 4.1 Markets                                    | 97  |
| Competitive Markets                            | 98  |
| 4.2 How Do Buyers Behave?                      | 99  |
| Demand Curves                                  | 100 |
| Willingness to Pay                             | 100 |
| From Individual Demand Curves to Aggregated    |     |
| Demand Curves                                  | 101 |
| Building the Market Demand Curve               | 102 |
| Shifting the Demand Curve                      | 103 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: How much mo          | ore |
| gasoline would people buy if its price were    |     |
| lower?   | 105 |
| 4.3 How Do Sellers Behave?                     | 107 |
| Supply Curves                                  | 107 |
| Willingness to Accept                          | 107 |
| From the Individual Supply Curve to the Market |     |
| Supply Curve                                   | 108 |
| Shifting the Supply Curve                      | 109 |
| 4.4 Supply and Demand in Equilibrium           | 111 |
| Curve Shifting in Competitive Equilibrium      | 113 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Technological          |     |
| Breakthroughs Drive Down the Equilibrium       |     |
| Price of Oil                                   | 114 |
| Letting the Data Speak: The Day Oil            | 115 |
| A 5 What Would Happen If the Government        | 115 |
| Tried to Dictate the Price of Gasoline?        | 116 |
| Choice & Consequence: The Unintended           |     |
| Consequences of Fixing Market Prices           | 118 |
| Summary  | 119 |
| Key Terms                                      | 120 |
| Questions                                      | 120 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems              | 121 |
| Problems                                       | 121 |
|  |     |
|  |     |
|  | 194 |
| INICROECONOMICS                                | 144 |
| Chapter 5: Consumers and                       |     |
| Incentives                                     | 124 |
| 5.1 The Buyer's Problem                        | 125 |
| What You Like                                  | 125 |
| Prices of Goods and Services                   | 126 |
| How Much Money You Have to Spend               | 126 |
| Choice & Consequence: Absolutes Versus         |     |
| Percentages                                    | 126 |
| 5.2 Putting It All Together                    | 128 |
| Price Changes                                  | 130 |
| 5  |     |

| Letting the Data Speak: Does \$6+\$1   |            |
|--|------------|
| Always $=$ \$7?  | 131        |
| Income Changes   | 131        |
| 5.3 From the Buyer's Problem to the  |            |
| Demand Curve   | 132        |
| 5.4 Consumer Surplus   | 133        |
| An Empty Feeling: Loss in Consumer Surplus<br>When Price Increases                 | 134        |
| Evidence-Based Economics: Would a  |            |
| smoker quit the habit for \$100 per month?   | 135        |
| 5.5 Demand Elasticities  | 138        |
| The Price Elasticity of Demand   | 138        |
| The Cross-Price Elasticity of Demand   | 143        |
| The Income Elasticity of Demand  | 144        |
| <b>Letting the Data Speak:</b> Should McDonald's Be Interested in                  |            |
| Elasticities?  | 145        |
| Summary  | 145        |
| Key Terms  | 146        |
| Questions  | 146        |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems  | 147        |
| Problems   | 148        |
| Appendix: Representing Preferences with<br>Indifference Curves: Another Use of the |            |
| Budget Constraint  | 150        |
| Appendix Questions<br>Appendix Key Terms   | 153<br>153 |

## Chapter 6: Sellers and Incentives

| 154 | ŀ |
|-----|---|
|-----|---|

| 6.1 Sellers in a Perfectly Competitive            |     |
|---|-----|
| Market  | 155 |
| 6.2 The Seller's Problem                          | 155 |
| Making the Goods: How Inputs Are Turned into      |     |
| Outputs   | 156 |
| The Cost of Doing Business: Introducing Cost      |     |
| Curves  | 157 |
| The Rewards of Doing Business: Introducing        |     |
| Revenue Curves                                    | 160 |
| Putting It All Together: Using the Three          |     |
| Components to Do the Best You Can                 | 161 |
| <b>Choice &amp; Consequence:</b> Maximizing Total |     |
| Profit. Not Per-Unit Profit                       | 163 |
| 6.3 From the Seller's Problem to the              |     |
| Supply Curve                                      | 164 |
| Price Elasticity of Supply                        | 164 |
| Shutdown  | 165 |
| Choice & Consequence: Marginal Decision           |     |
| Makers Ignore Sunk Costs                          | 167 |
| 6.4 Producer Surplus                              | 167 |
| 6.5 From the Short Run to the Lona Run            | 169 |
| Long-Run Supply Curve                             | 170 |
| Long Kun Supply Curve                             | 170 |

#### Choice & Consequence: Visiting a Car

| Manufacturing Plant  | 170 |
|--|-----|
| 6.6 From the Firm to the Market: Long-Run  |     |
| Competitive Equilibrium  | 171 |
| Firm Entry   | 171 |
| Firm Exit  | 173 |
| Zero Profits in the Long Run   | 173 |
| Economic Profit Versus Accounting Profit   | 174 |
| <b>Letting the Data Speak:</b> The Effect of Uber Driver Entry in the Long Run             | 175 |
| <b>Evidence-Based Economics:</b> How would<br>an ethanol subsidy affect ethanol producers? | 176 |
| Summary  | 179 |
| Key Terms  | 179 |
| Questions  | 180 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems  | 181 |
| Problems   | 181 |
| Appendix: When Firms Have Different Cost   |     |
| Structures   | 184 |

#### **Chapter 7: Perfect Competition** and the Invisible Hand

186

| 7.1 Perfect Competition and Efficiency  | 187 |
|---|-----|
| Social Surplus  | 188 |
| Pareto Efficiency   | 190 |
| <ul><li>7.2 Extending the Reach of the Invisible</li><li>Hand: From the Individual to the Firm</li><li>7.3 Extending the Reach of the Invisible</li></ul> | 190 |
| Hand: Allocation of Resources Across<br>Industries  | 194 |
| <b>Letting the Data Speak:</b> Adam Smith Visits the White House  | 197 |
| 7.4 Prices Guide the Invisible Hand   | 197 |
| Deadweight Loss   | 199 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: Do companies  |     |
| like Uber make use of the invisible hand?   | 200 |
| The Command Economy   | 204 |
| Choice & Consequence: FEMA and Walma  | art |
| After Katrina   | 205 |
| The Central Planner   | 206 |
| Choice & Consequence: Command and   | 207 |
| 7.5 Equity and Efficiency   | 207 |
|   | 200 |
| composed of only self-interested people maximi  | ze  |
| the overall well-being of society?  | 209 |
| Summary   | 212 |
| Key Terms   | 212 |
| Questions   | 212 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems   | 213 |
| Problems  | 214 |

#### **Chapter 8: Trade**

| 8.1 The Production Possibilities Curve         | 217 |
|--|-----|
| Calculating Opportunity Cost                   | 219 |
| 8.2 The Basis for Trade: Comparative           |     |
| Advantage                                      | 220 |
| Specialization                                 | 221 |
| Absolute Advantage                             | 221 |
| Choice & Consequence: An Experiment on         |     |
| Comparative Advantage                          | 222 |
| The Price of the Trade                         | 223 |
| 8.3 Trade Between States                       | 224 |
| Choice & Consequence: Should LeBron Jam        | es  |
| Paint His Own House?                           | 225 |
| Economy-Wide PPC                               | 226 |
| Comparative Advantage and Specialization Among |     |
| States   | 227 |
| 8.4 Trade Between Countries                    | 228 |
| Determinants of Trade Between Countries        | 230 |
| Exporting Nations: Winners and Losers          | 231 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Fair Trade Products    | 231 |
| Importing Nations: Winners and Losers          | 233 |
| Where Do World Prices Come From?               | 234 |
| Determinants of a Country's Comparative        |     |
| Advantage                                      | 234 |
| 8.5 Arguments Against Free Trade               | 234 |
| National Security Concerns                     | 234 |
| Fear of Globalization                          | 235 |
| Environmental and Resource Concerns            | 235 |
| Infant Industry Arguments                      | 235 |
| The Effects of Tariffs                         | 236 |
| Choice & Consequence: Tariffs Affect Trade     |     |
| Between Firms                                  | 237 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: Will free trade      |     |
| cause you to lose your job?                    | 238 |
| Summary  | 240 |
| Key Ierms                                      | 240 |
| Questions                                      | 240 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems              | 241 |
| Problems                                       | 242 |

#### **Chapter 9: Externalities and Public Goods**

| 9.1 Externalities  | 245 |
|--|-----|
| A "Broken" Invisible Hand: Negative Externalities  | 246 |
| A "Broken" Invisible Hand: Positive Externalities  | 248 |
| Pecuniary Externalities  | 250 |
| <b>Choice &amp; Consequence:</b> Coronavirus<br>Vaccination: Positive Externalities in Spots You |     |
| Never Imagined   | 250 |

| 9.2 Private Solutions to Externalities  | 251               |
|---|-------------------|
| Private Solution: Bargaining  | 251               |
| The Coase Theorem   | 252               |
| Private Solution: Doing the Right Thing   | 253               |
| 9.3 Government Solutions to Externalities   | 254               |
| Government Regulation: Command-and-Control Policies   | 254               |
| <b>Evidence-Based Economics:</b> How did the government lower the number of earthquakes in Oklahoma?  | 255               |
| Government Regulation: Market-Based Approaches  | 255               |
| Corrective Taxes  | 257               |
| Corrective Subsidies  | 258               |
| <b>Letting the Data Speak:</b> How to Value Externalities   | 259               |
| Letting the Data Speak: Pay as You Throw:<br>Consumers Create Negative Externalities Too!<br>9.4 Public Goods                                   | 260<br><b>260</b> |
| Government Provision of Public Goods  | 262               |
| Choice & Consequence: The Free-Rider's<br>Dilemma   | 262<br>264        |
| 9.5 Common Pool Besource Goods  | 204<br>266        |
| Choice & Consequence: Tragedy of the  | 200               |
| Commons   | 267               |
| <b>Choice &amp; Consequence:</b> The Race to Fish<br><b>Evidence-Based Economics:</b> How can the<br>Queen of England lower her commute time to | 268               |
| Wembley Stadium?  | 269               |
| Koy Torms   | 270               |
| Questions   | 271               |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems   | 271               |
| Problems  | 272               |

#### **Chapter 10: The Government in** the Economy: Taxation and Regulation

| <b>10.1</b> Taxation and Government Spending<br>in the United States   | 275        |
|--|------------|
| Where Does the Money Come From?  | 276        |
| Why Does the Government Tax and Spend?   | 278        |
| <b>Choice &amp; Consequence:</b> The Government<br>Budget Constraint   | 279        |
| <b>Letting the Data Speak:</b> Understanding Federal Income Tax Brackets   | 280        |
| Letting the Data Speak: Reducing Inequality<br>the Scandinavian Way<br>Taxation: Tax Incidence and Deadweight Losses | 283<br>284 |
| <b>Choice &amp; Consequence:</b> The Deadweight Loss Depends on the Tax  | 287        |

| 10.2 Regulation  | 289 |
|--|-----|
| Direct Regulation  | 289 |
| 10.3 Government Failures   | 292 |
| The Direct Costs of Bureaucracies  | 293 |
| Corruption   | 293 |
| Underground Economy  | 293 |
| <b>Choice &amp; Consequence:</b> Can Market                                      | 204 |
| 10.4 Equity Versus Efficiency  | 295 |
| 10.5 Consumer Sovereignty and  |     |
| Paternalism  | 297 |
| The Debate   | 297 |
| <b>Evidence-Based Economics:</b> What is the optimal size of government?         | 298 |
| <b>Letting the Data Speak:</b> The Efficiency of Government Versus Privately Run |     |
| Expeditions  | 300 |
| Choice & Consequence: Taxation and   |     |
| Innovation   | 300 |
| Summary  | 301 |
| Key Terms  | 301 |
| Questions  | 301 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems  | 302 |
| Problems   | 302 |

#### Chapter 11: Markets for Factors of Production

| 11.1 The Competitive Labor Market              | 307 |
|--|-----|
| The Demand for Labor                           | 308 |
| 11.2 The Supply of Labor: Your Labor-          |     |
| Leisure Trade-Off                              | 310 |
| Labor Market Equilibrium: Supply Meets         |     |
| Demand   | 312 |
| Labor Demand Shifters                          | 312 |
| Choice & Consequence: Producing Web            |     |
| Sites and Computer Programs                    | 312 |
| Letting the Data Speak: "Get Your Hot          |     |
| Dogs Here!"                                    | 313 |
| Factors That Shift Labor Supply                | 314 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Do Wages Really        | Go  |
| Down If Labor Supply Increases?                | 315 |
| <b>11.3 Wage Inequality</b>                    | 316 |
| Differences in Human Capital                   | 316 |
| Differences in Compensating Wage Differentials | 317 |
| Choice & Consequence: Paying for Worke         | r   |
| Training                                       | 317 |
| Discrimination in the Job Market               | 318 |
| Changes in Wage Inequality over Time           | 319 |
| Choice & Consequence: Compensating             |     |
| Wage Differentials                             | 320 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Broadband and          |     |
| Inequality                                     | 321 |
|  |     |

#### **11.4** The Market for Other Factors of **Production: Physical Capital and Land**

| Production: Physical Capital and Land     | 322 |
|---|-----|
| Letting the Data Speak: The Top 1 Percent |     |
| Share and Capital Income                  | 323 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: Is there        |     |
| discrimination in the labor market?       | 325 |
| Summary                                   | 326 |
| Key Terms                                 | 327 |
| Questions                                 | 327 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems         | 327 |
| Problems                                  | 328 |
| Appendix: Monopsony in the Labor          |     |
| Market                                    | 330 |

#### PART III **MARKET STRUCTURE**

| Chapter | 12: | Monopoly | 332 |
|---------|-----|----------|-----|
|         |     |          |     |

| 12.1 Introducing a New Market Structure       | 333 |
|---|-----|
| 12.2 Sources of Market Power                  | 333 |
| Legal Market Power                            | 334 |
| Natural Market Power                          | 334 |
| Control of Key Resources                      | 335 |
| Choice & Consequence: Barriers to Entry       |     |
| Lurk Everywhere                               | 335 |
| Economies of Scale                            | 336 |
| <b>12.3</b> The Monopolist's Problem          | 337 |
| Revenue Curves                                | 338 |
| Price, Marginal Revenue, and Total Revenue    | 340 |
| <b>12.4</b> Choosing the Optimal Quantity and |     |
| Price   | 341 |
| Producing the Optimal Quantity                | 341 |
| Setting the Optimal Price                     | 342 |
| How a Monopolist Calculates Profits           | 343 |
| Does a Monopoly Have a Supply Curve?          | 344 |
| 12.5 The "Broken" Invisible Hand: The         |     |
| Cost of Monopoly                              | 344 |
| 12.6 Restoring Efficiency                     | 346 |
| Three Degrees of Price Discrimination         | 347 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Third-Degree          |     |
| Price Discrimination in Action                | 349 |
| 12.7 Government Policy Toward                 |     |
| Monopoly                                      | 349 |
| The Microsoft Case                            | 350 |
| Price Regulation                              | 351 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: Can a               |     |
| monopoly ever be good for society?            | 351 |
| Summary                                       | 354 |
| Key Terms                                     | 354 |
| Questions                                     | 354 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems             | 355 |
| Problems                                      | 355 |

#### **Chapter 13: Game Theory and** Strategic Play

| 13.1 Simultaneous-Move Games  | 359               |
|---|-------------------|
| Best Responses and the Prisoners' Dilemma   | 360               |
| Dominant Strategies and Dominant Strategy   |                   |
| Equilibrium   | 361               |
| Games Without Dominant Strategies   | 361               |
| 13.2 Nash Equilibrium   | 363               |
| Finding a Nash Equilibrium  | 364               |
| Choice & Consequence: Work or Surf?<br>13.3 Applications of Nash Equilibria                   | 365<br><b>365</b> |
| Tragedy of the Commons Revisited  | 366               |
| Zero-Sum Games  | 366               |
| 13.4 How Do People Actually Play Such   |                   |
| Games?  | 368               |
| Game Theory in Penalty Kicks  | 368               |
| <b>Evidence-Based Economics:</b> Is there value   |                   |
| in putting yourself in someone else's shoes?  | 369               |
| <b>13.5</b> Extensive-Form Games  | 371               |
| Backward Induction  | 372               |
| First-Mover Advantage, Commitment, and  |                   |
| Vengeance   | 373               |
| <b>Evidence-Based Economics:</b> Is there value i putting yourself in someone else's shoes in | n                 |
| extensive-form games?   | 374               |
| <b>Choice &amp; Consequence:</b> There Is More to   | 277               |
| Summary   | 378               |
| Key Terms   | 378               |
| Questions   | 378               |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems   | 370               |
| Problems  | 370               |
| i i obieniis  | 5/7               |

#### Chapter 14: Oligopoly and **Monopolistic Competition**

| 14.1 Two More Market Structures                 | 383 |
|---|-----|
| 14.2 Oligopoly                                  | 384 |
| The Oligopolist's Problem                       | 385 |
| Oligopoly Model with Homogeneous Products       | 385 |
| Doing the Best You Can: How Should You Price to |     |
| Maximize Profits?                               | 386 |
| Oligopoly Model with Differentiated Products    | 387 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Airline Price Wars      | 389 |
| Collusion: Another Way to Keep Prices High      | 389 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Apple Versus            |     |
| Samsung   | 390 |
| Letting the Data Speak: To Cheat or Not to      |     |
| Cheat: That Is the Question                     | 392 |
| Choice & Consequence: Collusion in              |     |
| Practice  | 394 |

| 14.3 Monopolistic Competition                    | 394 |
|--|-----|
| The Monopolistic Competitor's Problem            | 394 |
| Doing the Best You Can: How a Monopolistic       |     |
| Competitor Maximizes Profits                     | 395 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Why Do Some Fir          | ms  |
| Advertise and Some Don't?                        | 396 |
| How a Monopolistic Competitor Calculates Profits | 396 |
| Long-Run Equilibrium in a Monopolistically       |     |
| Competitive Industry                             | 397 |
| 14.4 The "Broken" Invisible Hand                 | 399 |
| Regulating Market Power                          | 400 |
| 14.5 Summing Up: Four Market Structures          | 401 |
| Letting the Podcast Speak: A Surprising          |     |
| Duopoly: Democrats and Republicans               | 402 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: How many firm          | ms  |
| are necessary to make a market competitive?      | 403 |
| Summary  | 405 |
| Key Terms  | 405 |
| Questions  | 405 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems                | 406 |
| Problems   | 406 |
|  |     |
|  |     |
| PART IV EXTENDING THE                            |     |
| MICROECONOMIC                                    |     |
| Τοοιβοχ  | 410 |
|  |     |

# Chapter 15: Trade-offs InvolvingTime and Risk410

| 15.1 Modeling Time and Risk                           | 411 |
|---|-----|
| <b>15.2</b> The Time Value of Money                   | 412 |
| Future Value and the Compounding of Interest          | 412 |
| Borrowing Versus Lending                              | 414 |
| Present Value and Discounting                         | 415 |
| 15.3 Time Preferences                                 | 417 |
| Time Discounting                                      | 417 |
| Preference Reversals                                  | 418 |
| <b>Choice &amp; Consequence:</b> Failing to Anticipat | e   |
| Preference Reversals                                  | 419 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: Do people                   |     |
| exhibit a preference for immediate gratification?     | 419 |
| 15.4 Probability and Risk                             | 420 |
| Roulette Wheels and Probabilities                     | 420 |
| Independence and the Gambler's Fallacy                | 421 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Roulette Wheels               |     |
| and Elections   | 421 |
| Expected Value  | 422 |
| Extended Warranties                                   | 423 |
| Choice & Consequence: Is Gambling                     |     |
| Worthwhile?   | 423 |

| 15.5 Risk Preferences            | 424 |
|----------------------------------|-----|
| Summary                          | 425 |
| Key Terms                        | 426 |
| Questions                        | 426 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problem | 426 |
| Problems                         | 426 |

## **Chapter 16: The Economics** of Information

| 16.1 Asymmetric Information  | 429 |
|--|-----|
| Hidden Characteristics: Adverse Selection in the   |     |
| Used Car Market  | 430 |
| Hidden Characteristics: Adverse Selection in the Health Insurance Market   | 431 |
| Market Solutions to Adverse Selection:   |     |
| Signaling  | 432 |
| <b>Choice &amp; Consequence:</b> Are You Earning a Signal Right Now?   | 433 |
| <b>Evidence-Based Economics:</b> Why do new cars lose considerable value the minute they are driven off the lot? | 433 |
| Choice & Consequence: A Tale of a Tail   | 435 |
| <b>16.2</b> Hidden Actions: Markets with Moral   |     |
| Hazard   | 435 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Moral Hazard on<br>Your Bike   | 436 |
| Market Solutions to Moral Hazard in the Labor<br>Market: Efficiency Wages  | 436 |
| <b>Letting the Podcast Speak:</b> Tackling<br>Adverse Selection and Moral Hazard in the<br>Workplace             | 437 |
| Market Solutions to Moral Hazard in the Insurance<br>Market: "Putting Your Skin in the Game"                     | 438 |
| <b>Letting the Data Speak:</b> Designing Incentives for Teachers   | 438 |
| <b>Evidence-Based Economics:</b> Why is private health insurance so expensive?                                   | 439 |
| <b>16.3 Government Policy in a World of</b>  | 440 |
| Asymmetric information   | 440 |
| Government Intervention and Moral Hazard   | 441 |
| The Equily-Efficiency Trade-off  | 442 |
| Problem  | 442 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Moral Hazard   |     |
| Among Job Seekers  | 442 |
| Summary  | 443 |
| Key lerms  | 443 |
| Questions  | 443 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems  | 444 |
| Problems   | 444 |

## **Chapter 17: Auctions and Bargaining**

| 17.1 Auctions                            | 448   |
|--|-------|
| Types of Auctions                        | 449   |
| Open Outcry: English Auctions            | 450   |
| Letting the Data Speak: To Snipe or Not  | t     |
| to Snipe?                                | 451   |
| Open Outcry: Dutch Auctions              | 451   |
| Sealed Bid: First-Price Auctions         | 453   |
| Sealed Bid: Second-Price Auctions        | 453   |
| The Revenue Equivalence Theorem          | 455   |
| Evidence-Based Economics: How should     | d     |
| you bid in an eBay auction?              | 456   |
| 17.2 Bargaining                          | 457   |
| What Determines Bargaining Outcomes?     | 457   |
| Bargaining in Action: The Ultimatum Game | 458   |
| Bargaining and the Coase Theorem         | 460   |
| Evidence-Based Economics: Who deterr     | nines |
| how the household spends its money?      | 461   |
| Letting the Data Speak: Sex Ratios Cha   | nge   |
| Bargaining Power Too                     | 463   |
| Summary                                  | 463   |
| Key Terms                                | 463   |
| Questions                                | 464   |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems        | 464   |
| Problems                                 | 465   |
|  |       |

446

469

469

#### Chapter 18: Social Economics 468

# 18.1 The Economics of Charity and Fairness The Economics of Charity Letting the Data Speak: Do People Donate Less When It's Costlier to Give?

| Less When It's Costlier to Give?                | 471 |
|---|-----|
| Letting the Data Speak: Why Do People           |     |
| Give to Charity?                                | 472 |
| The Economics of Fairness                       | 473 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Dictators in the Lab    | 476 |
| <b>Evidence-Based Economics:</b> Do people care |     |
| about fairness?                                 | 476 |
| 18.2 The Economics of Trust and Revenge         | 478 |
| The Economics of Trust                          | 478 |
| The Economics of Revenge                        | 480 |
| Choice & Consequence: Does Revenge Have         | e   |
| an Evolutionary Logic?                          | 481 |
| Letting the Podcast Speak: Sorry! I Should      |     |
| Apologize, but How?                             | 482 |
| <b>18.3 How Others Influence Our Decisions</b>  | 482 |
| Where Do Our Preferences Come From?             | 482 |

| The Economics of Peer Effects             | 483 |
|---|-----|
| Letting the Data Speak: Is Economics Bad  |     |
| for You?                                  | 483 |
| Following the Crowd: Herding              | 484 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Your Peers Affect |     |
| Your Waistline                            | 485 |
| Choice & Consequence: Are You an Internet |     |
| Explorer?                                 | 486 |
| Summary                                   | 487 |
| Key Terms                                 | 487 |
| Questions                                 | 487 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems         | 488 |
| Problems                                  | 488 |
|   |     |

PART V INTRODUCTION TO MACROECONOMICS

# Chapter 19: The Wealth ofNations: Defining and MeasuringMacroeconomic Aggregates490

| 19.1 Macroeconomic Questions   | 491 |
|--|-----|
| <b>19.2 National Income Accounts:</b>  |     |
| Production = Expenditure = Income  | 493 |
| Production   | 493 |
| Expenditure  | 494 |
| Income   | 494 |
| Circular Flows   | 495 |
| National Income Accounts: Production   | 496 |
| National Income Accounts: Expenditure  | 498 |
| <b>Evidence-Based Economics:</b> In the United States, what is the total market value of annual economic production? | 500 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Saving versus  |     |
| Investment   | 502 |
| National Income Accounting: Income   | 503 |
| 19.3 What Isn't Measured by GDP?   | 503 |
| Physical Capital Depreciation  | 504 |
| Home Production  | 504 |
| The Underground Economy  | 505 |
| Externalities  | 506 |
| Gross Domestic Product versus Gross National   |     |
| Product  | 506 |
| The Increase in Income Inequality  | 507 |
| Leisure  | 507 |
| Does GDP Buy Happiness?  | 508 |
| 19.4 Real versus Nominal   | 509 |
| The GDP Deflator   | 511 |
| The Consumer Price Index   | 513 |

| Inflation                         | 514 |
|-----------------------------------|-----|
| Adjusting Nominal Variables       | 514 |
| Summary                           | 515 |
| Key Terms                         | 515 |
| Questions                         | 516 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems | 516 |
| Problems                          | 517 |
|                                   |     |

### Chapter 20: Aggregate Incomes 520

| 20.1 Inequality Around the World   | 521 |
|--|-----|
| Measuring Differences in GDP per Capita  | 521 |
| Letting the Data Speak: The Big Mac  |     |
| Index  | 523 |
| Cross-Country Differences in GDP per capita  | 523 |
| GDP per Worker   | 524 |
| Productivity   | 525 |
| Incomes and the Standard of Living   | 526 |
| Choice & Consequence: Dangers of Just<br>Focusing on GDP per Capita                  | 527 |
| 20.2 Productivity and the Aggregate  | 500 |
| Production Function  | 520 |
| Productivity Differences   | 529 |
| The Aggregate Production Function  | 529 |
| Labor  | 530 |
| Physical Capital and Land  | 530 |
| Technology   | 530 |
| Representing the Aggregate Production Function                                       | 530 |
| 20.3 The Role and Determinants of  | 500 |
| lechnology   | 532 |
| Technology   | 532 |
| Dimensions of Technology   | 533 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Moore's Law  | 534 |
| Choice & Consequence: Academic   |     |
| Misallocation in Nazi Germany  | 535 |
| <b>Letting the Data Speak:</b> Efficiency of Production and Productivity at the      |     |
| Company Level  | 535 |
| Entrepreneurship   | 536 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Monopoly   |     |
| and GDP  | 536 |
| <b>Evidence-Based Economics:</b> Why is the average American so much richer than the |     |
| average Indian?  | 537 |
| Summary  | 539 |
| Key Terms  | 539 |
| Questions  | 539 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems  | 540 |
| Problems   | 540 |
| Appendix: The Mathematics of Aggregate<br>Production Functions                       | 543 |

#### PART VI LONG-RUN GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT

### Chapter 21: Economic Growth 546

| 21.1 The Power of Economic Growth             | 547   |
|---|-------|
| A First Look at U.S. Growth                   | 547   |
| Exponential Growth                            | 549   |
| Choice & Consequence: The Power of            |       |
| Exponential Growth                            | 550   |
| Patterns of Growth                            | 551   |
| Letting the Data Speak: Levels versus         |       |
| Growth  | 554   |
| <b>21.2 How Does a Nation's Economy Grow?</b> | 556   |
| Optimization: The Choice Between Saving and   |       |
| Consumption                                   | 556   |
| What Brings Sustained Growth?                 | 557   |
| Choice & Consequence: Is Increasing the       |       |
| Saving Rate Always a Good Idea?               | 558   |
| Knowledge, Technological Change, and Growth   | 228   |
| Letting the Data Speak: Technology and        | 5(0)  |
| 21.3 The History of Growth and                | 560   |
| Technology                                    | 560   |
| Growth Before Modern Times                    | 560   |
| Letting the Date Speek. The Crest             | 500   |
| Productivity Puzzle                           | 561   |
| Fyidence-Based Economics: Why are you so      | , 501 |
| much more prosperous than your great-great-   | )     |
| grandparents were?                            | 562   |
| Malthusian Limits to Growth                   | 565   |
| The Industrial Revolution                     | 565   |
| Growth and Technology Since the Industrial    |       |
| Revolution                                    | 566   |
| 21.4 Growth, Inequality, and Poverty          | 566   |
| Growth and Inequality                         | 566   |
| Growth and Poverty                            | 566   |
| Letting the Data Speak: Income Inequality     |       |
| in the United States                          | 567   |
| Choice & Consequence: Inequality versus       |       |
| Poverty                                       | 568   |
| How Can We Reduce Poverty?                    | 569   |
| Summary                                       | 570   |
| Key Terms                                     | 570   |
| Questions                                     | 570   |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems             | 571   |
| Problems                                      | 571   |
| Appendix: The Solow Growth Model              | 573   |
| The Three Building Blocks of the              |       |
| Solow Model                                   | 573   |
| Steady-State Equilibrium in the               |       |
| Solow Model                                   | 574   |

| Determinants of GDP                    | 575 |
|--|-----|
| Dynamic Equilibrium in the Solow Model | 577 |
| Sources of Growth in the Solow Model   | 578 |
| Calculating Average (Compound)         |     |
| Growth Rates                           | 579 |
| Appendix Key Terms                     | 581 |
| Appendix Problems                      | 581 |

#### **Chapter 22: Why Isn't the Whole** World Developed?

| 22.1 Proximate Versus Fundamental                     |     |
|---|-----|
| Causes of Prosperity                                  | 583 |
| Geography   | 584 |
| Culture   | 585 |
| Institutions  | 585 |
| A Natural Experiment of History                       | 586 |
| 22.2 Institutions and Economic                        |     |
| Development   | 588 |
| Inclusive and Extractive Economic Institutions        | 589 |
| How Economic Institutions Affect Economic             |     |
| Outcomes  | 589 |
| <b>Letting the Data Speak:</b> Democracy and Growth   | 590 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Divergence and                |     |
| Convergence in Eastern Europe                         | 592 |
| The Logic of Extractive Economic Institutions         | 595 |
| Inclusive Economic Institutions and the Industrial    | 505 |
| Revolution  | 595 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Blocking the Railways         | 596 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: Are tropical                |     |
| and semitropical areas condemned to poverty           |     |
| by their geographies?                                 | 597 |
| 22.3 IS Foreign Aid the Solution to<br>World Poverty? | 602 |
|   | 002 |
| choice & Consequence: Foreign Aid                     | 603 |
| Summary   | 603 |
| Key Terms   | 604 |
| Questions   | 604 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems                     | 605 |
| Problems  | 605 |
| Trobellio   | 000 |
| PART VII EQUILIBRIUM IN THE                           |     |
| MACROECONOMY  | 608 |
| Chapter 23: Employment and                            | _   |
| Unemployment  | 608 |
| 23.1 Measuring Employment and                         |     |
| Unemployment  | 609 |
| Classifying Potential Workers                         | 609 |

| Calculating the Unemployment Rate                    | 610 |
|--|-----|
| Trends in the Unemployment Rate                      | 611 |
| 23.2 Equilibrium in the Labor Market                 | 612 |
| The Demand for Labor                                 | 612 |
| Shifts in the Labor Demand Curve                     | 614 |
| The Supply of Labor                                  | 615 |
| Shifts in the Labor Supply Curve                     | 616 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Who Is Unemployed?           | 617 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Racial Disparities           |     |
| in Unemployment and the Existence of Racial          |     |
| Discrimination                                       | 617 |
| Equilibrium in a Competitive Labor Market            | 618 |
| 23.3 Why is There Unemployment?                      | 619 |
| Voluntary Unemployment                               | 619 |
| Job Search and Frictional Unemployment               | 620 |
| 23.4 Wage Rigidity and Structural                    | 620 |
|  | 621 |
|  | 021 |
| <b>Choice &amp; Consequence:</b> Luddites and Robots | 622 |
| Edition of the Concentre Barganning                  | 623 |
| Chaine & Conservations Minimum                       | 023 |
| Laws and Employment                                  | 624 |
| Downward Wage Rigidity                               | 625 |
| 23.5 Cyclical Unemployment and the                   |     |
| Natural Rate of Unemployment                         | 627 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: How did                    |     |
| unemployment and wages respond to the                |     |
| COVID-19 pandemic in the United States?              | 628 |
| Summary  | 630 |
| Key Terms  | 631 |
| Questions  | 631 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems                    | 631 |
| Problems   | 632 |
| Chapter 24: Credit Markets                           | 636 |
| onapter 24. Oreunt Markets                           | 000 |
| 24.1 What Is the Credit Market?                      | 637 |
| Borrowers and the Demand for Loans                   | 637 |
| Real and Nominal Interest Rates                      | 638 |
| The Credit Demand Curve                              | 639 |
| Saving Decisions                                     | 641 |
| The Credit Supply Curve                              | 641 |
| Choice & Consequence: Why Do People Save?            | 612 |
| encice a concequence.                                | 043 |

Credit Markets and the Efficient Allocation of

**24.2 Banks and Financial Intermediation:** 

Letting the Data Speak: Financing Start-ups

**Putting Supply and Demand Together** 

Assets and Liabilities on the Balance

Resources

Sheet of a Bank

Contents 

| 24.3 What Banks Do                           | 649 |
|--|-----|
| Identifying Profitable Lending Opportunities | 649 |
| Maturity Transformation                      | 650 |
| Management of Risk                           | 650 |
| Bank Runs                                    | 652 |
| Bank Regulation and Bank Solvency            | 652 |
| Evidence-based Economics: How often          |     |
| do banks fail?                               | 653 |
| Choice & Consequence: Too Big to Fail        | 655 |
| Choice & Consequence: Asset Price            |     |
| Fluctuations and Bank Failures               | 656 |
| Summary                                      | 657 |
| Key Terms                                    | 657 |
| Questions                                    | 658 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems            | 658 |
| Problems                                     | 659 |

### **Chapter 25: The Monetary**

System
25.1 Money
The Functions of Money

| The Functions of Money                      | 663 |
|---|-----|
| Types of Money                              | 664 |
| The Money Supply                            | 664 |
| Choice & Consequence: Non-Convertible       |     |
| Currencies in U.S. History                  | 665 |
| 25.2 Money, Prices, and GDP                 | 666 |
| Nominal GDP, Real GDP, and Inflation        | 666 |
| The Quantity Theory of Money                | 666 |
| 25.3 Inflation                              | 667 |
| What Causes Inflation?                      | 667 |
| The Consequences of Inflation               | 668 |
| The Social Costs of Inflation               | 669 |
| The Social Benefits of Inflation            | 670 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: What caused       |     |
| the German hyperinflation of 1922–1923?     | 671 |
| 25.4 The Federal Reserve                    | 672 |
| The Central Bank and the Objectives of      |     |
| Monetary Policy                             | 672 |
| What Does the Central Bank Do?              | 673 |
| 25.5 Bank Reserves and the Plumbing of      |     |
| the Monetary System                         | 674 |
| Bank Reserves and Liquidity                 | 675 |
| The Demand Side of the Federal Funds Market | 676 |
| The Supply Side of the Federal Funds Market |     |
| and Equilibrium in the Federal Funds Market | 677 |
| Two Ways That the Fed Controls the Federal  |     |
| Funds Rate                                  | 678 |
| Choice & Consequence: Obtaining             |     |
| Reserves Outside the Federal                |     |
| Funds Market                                | 681 |
| The Fed's Influence on the Money Supply and |     |
| the Inflation Rate                          | 681 |
| 00 Cantanta                                 |     |

| The Relationship Between the Federal Funds |     |
|--|-----|
| Rate and the Long-Term Real Interest Rate  | 682 |
| Letting the Data Speak: Two Models         |     |
| of Inflation Expectations                  | 683 |
| Summary                                    | 686 |
| Key Terms                                  | 687 |
| Questions                                  | 687 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems          | 688 |
| Problems                                   | 688 |
|  |     |

#### PART VIII SHORT-RUN FLUCTUATIONS AND MACROECONOMIC POLICY 690

#### **Chapter 26: Short-Run** Fluctuations

| 26.1 Economic Fluctuations and<br>Rusiness Cycles                            | 601 |
|--|-----|
| Busiliess Cycles   | 091 |
| Patterns of Economic Fluctuations  | 693 |
| The Great Depression   | 695 |
| 26.2 Macroeconomic Equilibrium and   |     |
| Economic Fluctuations  | 697 |
| Labor Demand and Fluctuations  | 697 |
| Sources of Fluctuations  | 699 |
| <b>Letting the Data Speak:</b> Unemployment and the Growth Rate of Real GDP: |     |
| Okun's Law   | 700 |
| Multipliers and Economic Fluctuations  | 704 |
| Equilibrium in the Medium Run: Partial Recovery                              |     |
| and Full Recovery  | 705 |
| 26.3 Modeling Expansions   | 709 |
| <b>Evidence-Based Economics:</b> What caused the recession of 2007–2009?     | 710 |
| Evidence-Based Economics: What caused  |     |
| the recession of 2020?   | 714 |
| Summary  | 717 |
| Key Terms  | 718 |
| Questions  | 719 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems  | 719 |
| Problems   | 719 |

### **Chapter 27: Countercyclical** Macroeconomic Policy

| 27.1 The Role of Countercyclical             |     |
|--|-----|
| Policies in Economic Fluctuations            | 723 |
| 27.2 Countercyclical Monetary Policy         | 724 |
| Controlling the Federal Funds Rate           | 725 |
| Other Tools of the Fed                       | 728 |
| Expectations, Inflation, and Monetary Policy | 729 |
| Zero Lower Bound                             | 729 |

| Expectations in Monetary Policy   | 730   |
|---|---|
| Inflation   | 732   |
| Policy Trade-Offs   | 734   |
| Choice & Consequence: Policy  | 751   |
| Mistakes  | 734   |
| 27.3 Countercyclical Fiscal Policy  | 735   |
| Fiscal Policy over the Business Cycle: Automatic  |   |
| and Discretionary Components  | 736   |
| Analysis of Expenditure-Based Fiscal Policy   | 738   |
| Analysis of Taxation-Based Fiscal Policy  | 740   |
| Letting the Data Speak: The Response of   |   |
| Consumption to Tax Cuts   | 742   |
| Fiscal Policies That Directly Target the Labor  | 740   |
| Market  | 742   |
| Policy Waste and Policy Lags  | 742   |
| Letting the Data Speak: Hybrid Policies<br>That Involve Cooperation Between Fiscal  | 740   |
| and Monetary Policymakers   | /43   |
| <b>Evidence-Based Economics:</b> How much   | 745   |
| Summary   | 743   |
| Key Terms   | 747   |
| Questions   | 7/7   |
|   | /4/   |
| Evidence Based Economics Problems   | 7/7   |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems Problems  | 747<br>748  |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems<br>Problems   | 747<br>748  |
| Problems PART IX MACROECONOMICS IN A GLOBAL ECONOMY   | 747<br>748<br><b>750</b>  |
| Problems PART IX Chapter 28: Macroeconomics Problems  | 747<br>748<br><b>750</b>  |
| Problems PART IX MACROECONOMICS IN A GLOBAL ECONOMY Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade  | 747<br>748<br>750<br>750  |
| PART IX MACROECONOMICS IN A<br>GLOBAL ECONOMY<br>Chapter 28: Macroeconomics<br>and International Trade  | 747<br>748<br><b>750</b><br><b>750</b>  |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems         Problems         PART IX       MACROECONOMICS IN A<br>GLOBAL ECONOMY         Chapter 28: Macroeconomics<br>and International Trade         28.1 Why and How We Trade         Absolute Advantage and Comparative   | 747<br>748<br><b>750</b><br><b>750</b><br>751   |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems         Problems         PART IX       MACROECONOMICS IN A<br>GLOBAL ECONOMY         Chapter 28: Macroeconomics<br>and International Trade         28.1       Why and How We Trade<br>Absolute Advantage and Comparative<br>Advantage   | 747<br>748<br><b>750</b><br><b>750</b><br><b>751</b>  |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems         Problems         PART IX       MACROECONOMICS IN A<br>GLOBAL ECONOMY         Chapter 28:       Macroeconomics<br>and International Trade         28.1       Why and How We Trade         Absolute Advantage and Comparative<br>Advantage       Advantage and International Trade  | 747<br>748<br><b>750</b><br><b>750</b><br><b>751</b><br>751<br>754  |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems         Problems         PART IX       MACROECONOMICS IN A<br>GLOBAL ECONOMY         Chapter 28: Macroeconomics<br>and International Trade         28.1       Why and How We Trade         Absolute Advantage and Comparative<br>Advantage         Comparative Advantage and International Trade         Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade   | 747<br>748<br><b>750</b><br><b>750</b><br><b>750</b><br><b>751</b><br>751<br>754<br>755   |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems         Problems         PART IX       MACROECONOMICS IN A<br>GLOBAL ECONOMY         Chapter 28: Macroeconomics<br>and International Trade         28.1       Why and How We Trade         Absolute Advantage and Comparative<br>Advantage         Comparative Advantage and International Trade         Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade         How Wa Trade  | 747<br>748<br><b>750</b><br><b>750</b><br><b>751</b><br>751<br>754<br>755<br>757  |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems         Problems         PART IX       MACROECONOMICS IN A<br>GLOBAL ECONOMY         Chapter 28: Macroeconomics<br>and International Trade         28.1 Why and How We Trade         Absolute Advantage and Comparative<br>Advantage         Comparative Advantage and International Trade         Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade         How We Trade  | 747<br>748<br><b>750</b><br><b>750</b><br><b>751</b><br>751<br>754<br>755<br>757  |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems         Problems         PART IX       MACROECONOMICS IN A GLOBAL ECONOMY         Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade         28.1 Why and How We Trade         Absolute Advantage and Comparative Advantage         Comparative Advantage and International Trade         Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade         How We Trade         Letting the Data Speak: Living in an  | 747<br>748<br><b>750</b><br><b>750</b><br><b>751</b><br>751<br>754<br>755<br>757  |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems         Problems         PART IX       MACROECONOMICS IN A GLOBAL ECONOMY         Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade         28.1 Why and How We Trade         Absolute Advantage and Comparative Advantage         Comparative Advantage and International Trade Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade How We Trade         Letting the Data Speak: Living in an Interconnected World         Chapter 2   | 747<br>748<br><b>750</b><br><b>750</b><br><b>751</b><br>754<br>755<br>757<br>758  |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems         Problems         PART IX       MACROECONOMICS IN A GLOBAL ECONOMY         Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade         28.1 Why and How We Trade         Absolute Advantage and Comparative         Advantage         Comparative Advantage and International Trade         Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade         How We Trade         Letting the Data Speak: Living in an Interconnected World         Choice & Consequence: Trade Policy and Politics   | 747<br>748<br><b>750</b><br><b>750</b><br><b>751</b><br>751<br>754<br>755<br>757<br>758<br>759  |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems         Problems         PART IX       Macroeconomics in a GLOBAL Economy         Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade         28.1 Why and How We Trade         Absolute Advantage and Comparative Advantage         Comparative Advantage and International Trade         Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade         How We Trade         Letting the Data Speak: Living in an Interconnected World         Choice & Consequence: Trade Policy and Politics         Trade Barriers: Tariffs   | 747<br>748<br><b>750</b><br><b>750</b><br><b>751</b><br>751<br>754<br>755<br>757<br>758<br>759<br>759   |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems         Problems         PART IX       MACROECONOMICS IN A GLOBAL ECONOMY         Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade         28.1 Why and How We Trade         Absolute Advantage and Comparative Advantage         Comparative Advantage and International Trade Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade How We Trade         Letting the Data Speak: Living in an Interconnected World         Choice & Consequence: Trade Policy and Politics         Trade Barriers: Tariffs         28.2 The Current Account and the  | 747<br>748<br><b>750</b><br><b>750</b><br><b>751</b><br>751<br>754<br>755<br>757<br>758<br>759<br>759   |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems         Problems         PART IX       MACROECONOMICS IN A GLOBAL ECONOMY         Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade         28.1 Why and How We Trade         Absolute Advantage and Comparative         Advantage         Comparative Advantage and International Trade         Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade         How We Trade         Letting the Data Speak: Living in an         Interconnected World         Choice & Consequence: Trade Policy and Politics         Trade Barriers: Tariffs         28.2 The Current Account and the         Financial Account  | 747<br>748<br><b>750</b><br><b>751</b><br>751<br>754<br>755<br>757<br>758<br>759<br>759<br>759<br>759   |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems         Problems         PART IX       MACROECONOMICS IN A GLOBAL ECONOMY         Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade         28.1 Why and How We Trade         Absolute Advantage and Comparative Advantage         Comparative Advantage and International Trade         Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade         How We Trade         Letting the Data Speak: Living in an Interconnected World         Choice & Consequence: Trade Policy and Politics         Trade Barriers: Tariffs         28.2 The Current Account and the         Financial Account         Trade Surpluses and Trade Deficits   | 747<br>748<br><b>750</b><br><b>750</b><br><b>751</b><br>751<br>754<br>755<br>757<br>758<br>759<br>759<br>759<br>759<br>750<br>760<br>760        |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems         Problems         PART IX       Macroeconomics in a GLOBAL Economy         Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade         28.1 Why and How We Trade         Absolute Advantage and Comparative Advantage         Comparative Advantage and International Trade Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade How We Trade         Letting the Data Speak: Living in an Interconnected World         Choice & Consequence: Trade Policy and Politics         Trade Barriers: Tariffs         28.2 The Current Account and the Financial Account         Trade Surpluses and Trade Deficits International Financial Flows   | 747<br>748<br><b>750</b><br><b>750</b><br><b>751</b><br>751<br>754<br>755<br>757<br>758<br>759<br>759<br>759<br>759<br>759                      |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems         Problems         PART IX       Macroeconomics in a GLOBAL Economy         Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade         28.1 Why and How We Trade         Absolute Advantage and Comparative Advantage         Comparative Advantage and International Trade         Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade         How We Trade         Letting the Data Speak: Living in an Interconnected World         Choice & Consequence: Trade Policy and Politics         Trade Barriers: Tariffs         28.2 The Current Account and the         Financial Account         Trade Surpluses and Trade Deficits         International Flows         The Workings of the Current Account and                                 | 747<br>748<br><b>750</b><br><b>751</b><br>751<br>754<br>755<br>757<br>758<br>759<br>759<br>759<br>759<br>759<br>759                             |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems         Problems         PART IX       Macroeconomics in a GLOBAL Economy         Chapter 28: Macroeconomics and International Trade         28.1 Why and How We Trade         Absolute Advantage and Comparative Advantage         Comparative Advantage and International Trade         Efficiency and Winners and Losers from Trade         How We Trade         Letting the Data Speak: Living in an Interconnected World         Choice & Consequence: Trade Policy and Politics         Trade Barriers: Tariffs         28.2 The Current Account and the         Financial Account         Trade Surpluses and Trade Deficits         International Financial Flows         The Workings of the Current Account and the Financial Account | 747<br>748<br>750<br>750<br>751<br>751<br>754<br>755<br>757<br>758<br>759<br>759<br>759<br>759<br>759<br>759<br>759<br>760<br>760<br>760<br>760 |

| 28.3 International Trade, Technology<br>Transfer, and Economic Growth    | 765 |
|--|-----|
| Letting the Data Speak: From IBM to Lenovo                               | 767 |
| <b>Evidence-Based Economics:</b> Are companies like Nike harming workers |     |
| in Vietnam?  | 767 |
| Summary  | 770 |
| Key Terms  | 771 |
| Questions  | 771 |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems  | 771 |
| Problems   | 772 |

### **Chapter 29: Open Economy** Macroeconomics

| Macroeconomics  | 774        |
|---|------------|
| 29.1 Exchange Rates   | 775        |
| Nominal Exchange Rates  | 775        |
| Flexible, Managed, and Fixed Exchange Rates   | 776        |
| 29.2 The Foreign Exchange Market  | 778        |
| How Do Governments Intervene in the Foreign<br>Exchange Market?                       | 780        |
| Defending an Overvalued Exchange Rate   | 781        |
| <b>Choice &amp; Consequence:</b> Fixed Exchange Rates and Corruption                  | 783        |
| <b>Evidence-Based Economics:</b> How did George Soros make \$1 billion?               | 784        |
| 29.3 The Real Exchange Rate and   |            |
| Exports   | 785        |
| From the Nominal to the Real Exchange Rate<br>Co-Movement Between the Nominal and the | 786        |
| Real Exchange Rates   | 787        |
| The Real Exchange Rate and Net Exports  | 788        |
| <b>Letting the Data Speak:</b> Why Did the Chinese Authorities Keep the Yuan          |            |
| Undervalued?  | 789        |
| <b>29.4 GDP in the Open Economy</b>   | 790        |
| Revisiting Black Wednesday  | 790        |
| Interest Rates, Exchange Rates, and Net Exports                                       | 791        |
| Letting the Data Speak: The Costs of  |            |
| Fixed Exchange Rates  | 793        |
| Summary<br>Kow Torms  | 774        |
| Questions   | 774        |
| Evidence-Based Economics Problems   | 794        |
| Problems  | 795        |
| Endnotes  | 799        |
| Glossary  | 807        |
| Credits<br>Index  | 820<br>823 |

This page is intentionally left blank

## Preface

# What's New in the Third Edition?

This revision is driven by the extraordinary period of economic history in which we are living in and its rich supply of applications that help bring the content into context for today's learners.

In our new edition of *Economics*, in addition to updating the existing data and empirical features, we have added Evidence-Based Economics Problems at the end of each chapter. These exercises provide students meaningful practice in analyzing and interpreting real-world economic questions. Here are some examples of other changes in the edition. Throughout this revision, we updated the data and charts to the most recent releases and made the text current for the recent global recession, the COVID-19 pandemic, and the 2020 election. We also undertook a number of more specific changes and added various new materials as we detail next.

- In Chapter 1, we've added new coverage on how to examine the economic impacts
  of COVID-19 through positive and normative lenses. We also discuss the trade-offs
  between health and economic output during the COVID-19 crisis. New EvidenceBased Economics Problems focus on the opportunity cost of social media, higher
  education, and going to a movie.
- In Chapter 4, we tell the story of how stay-at-home orders in 2020 impacted the demand for gasoline. A new Letting the Data Speak section profiles how the price of crude oil temporarily fell below \$0 per barrel.
- Chapter 5, a new Letting the Data Speak feature focuses on the impact of tax salience on price elasticity. New Evidence-Based Economics Problems explore the effectiveness of financial incentives to get people to quit smoking.
- In Chapter 6, a new Letting the Data Speak segment provides an example of longrun competitive equilibrium by examining the effect of base fare increases on Uber driver earnings.
- In Chapter 7, a new Letting the Data Speak feature "Adam Smith Visits the White House" examines the costs and benefits of government regulation and safety.
- In Chapter 9, a new Choices & Consequences example "Coronavirus Vaccination: Positive Externalities in Spots You Never Imagined," explores the society-wide impacts vaccination. New Evidence-Based Economics Problems analyze the linkage between hydraulic fracking and increased rates of earthquakes in Oklahoma.
- In Chapter 11, we emphasize the role of microeconomics in examining prominent social issues, from "Paying for Worker Training" to "Broadband and Inequality." New Evidence-Based Economics opener on employment discrimination and the Democratic presidential nomination. Using empirical research from economists Claudia Goldin, Cecilia Rouse, Marianne Bertrand, Sendhil Mullainathan, Kerwin Charles, and Jon Guryan, a new Evidence-Based Economics exercise examines the role of discrimination in explaining differences in wages across gender and ethnicity.
- In Chapter 14, we explore the connection between market power and the twoparty system in a new Letting the Podcast Speak feature.
- In Chapter 16, we discuss how corporate social responsibility programs can address information asymmetries in the workplace in a new Letting the Podcast Speak section.

- Chapter 18 includes a new Letting the Podcast Speak feature focused on how companies can optimize apologies to their customers. The feature uses field experiment data of millions of Uber trips to answer the question "What is the most effective and efficient way to say 'I'm sorry'?"
- In Chapter 19, we explore the macroeconomic indicators related to the COVID-19 recession. A new Evidence-Based Economics Problem highlights the national income accounting identity.
- Chapter 20 includes new Evidence-Based Economics Problems on efficiency and determinants of cross-country differences in GDP per capita.
- Chapter 21 features new Evidence-Based Economics Problems on GDP growth and investment into human capital, physical capital, and technology.
- In Chapter 22, a new Evidence-Based Economics Problem examines whether economic development is tied to climate.
- In Chapter 23, we added a new Evidence-Based Economics section about wages and employment during the COVID-19 pandemic. A new Letting the Data Speak feature profiles racial discrimination in the labor market. An updated "Luddites and Robots" Choice and Consequence feature explores future implications of AI on employment. New Evidence-Based Economics Problems assess downward rage rigidity and labor market contractions.
- In Chapter 24, we examine savings rate and bank failures during the COVID-19 recession and include a new Evidence-Based Economics Problem on bank failures.
- In Chapter 25, we explore the Fed's reaction to the COVID-19 recession. Our new treatment of monetary policy emphasizes interest on reserves (IOR), which is now the key mechanism that the Fed uses to pin down the federal funds rate. A new Letting the Data Speak section includes research on inflation expectations. The Evidence- Based Economics Problem examines the quantity theory of money.
- In Chapter 26, we offer an updated and expanded discussion on the causes of recessions and a new Evidence-Based Economics section tracking the recession of 2020 and the global economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. New Evidence-Based-Economic Problems cover the 2007–2009 and 2020 recessions, as well as an application of Okun's Law.
- In Chapter 27, we've added a new discussion of the government expenditure multiplier during the 2007–2009 and 2020 recessions. We examine shifting the federal funds rate by shifting the demand for reserves and analyze recent changes in the Fed's balance sheet and the federal funds rate. Chapter 27 also includes this new material:
- We discuss quantitative easing, the Fed's role as lender of last resort, and monetary policy at the zero lower bound.
- A new Evidence-Based Economic Problem examines the spending multipliers of the CARES act, which builds from in-chapter explorations of the CARES act and the impact of fiscal policy on government deficits.
- Chapter 28 contains an updated Choice and Consequence feature on trade policy and politics, including recent changes in U.S. trade policy and Brexit. New Evidence- Based Economics Problems examine economic growth, different sectors of the economy, and child labor.
- Using updated data from 2020, Chapter 29 investigates the foreign exchange market and how it relates to the real economy. Updated Evidence-Based Economics Problems on managed exchange rates explore how George Soros's hedge funds made considerable profits by betting on the devaluation of the British pound, Thai baht, and U.S. dollar.

# **Solving Learning and Teaching Challenges**

Many students who take introductory economics courses have difficulty seeing the relevance of the key concepts of opportunity cost, trade-offs, scarcity, and demand and supply to their lives and their careers. This reduces the willingness of many students to prepare for class and to be engaged during class. With this textbook, we show them how to apply economic thinking creatively to improve their work, their choices, and their daily lives. One of our main objectives in writing this textbook was to show that the fundamentals of economics are not just exciting but also alive with myriad personal applications.

We love economics. We marvel at the way economic systems work. When we buy a smartphone, we think about the complex supply chain and the hundreds of thousands of people who played a role in producing an awe-inspiring piece of technology that was assembled from components manufactured across the globe.

The market's ability to do the world's work without anyone being in charge strikes us as a phenomenon no less profound than the existence of consciousness or life itself. We believe that the creation of the market system is one of the greatest achievements of humankind.

We wrote this book to highlight the simplicity of economic ideas and their extraordinary power to explain, predict, and improve what happens in the world. We want students to master the *essential* principles of economic analysis. With that goal in mind, we identify the three key ideas that lie at the heart of the economic approach to understanding human behavior: optimization, equilibrium, and empiricism. These abstract words represent three ideas that are actually highly intuitive.

The breakneck speed of modern technological change has, more than ever, injected economics into the lives—and hands—of our students. The technologies that they use daily illustrate powerful economic forces in action: Uber users observe real-time congestion in the transportation market when they confront surge pricing, and Airbnb travelers explore the relationships among location, convenience, and price by comparing listings near different subway stops in the same city.

As educators, it's our job to transform economic concepts into language, visual representations, and empirical examples that our students understand. Today, markets are much more interactive than they were only a decade ago, and they exemplify that it is not just competitive markets with perfect information that are relevant to our economic lives. Our students routinely take part in auctions, purchase goods and services via organized platforms such as Uber, have to struggle with pervasive informational asymmetries as they participate in online exchanges, and have to guard themselves against a bewildering array of mistakes and traps that are inherent to these new transactions.

In this ever-changing world, students must understand not just well-known economic concepts such as opportunity cost, supply, and demand but also modern ones such as game theory, auctions, and behavioral mistakes. It is these modern concepts, which are bit parts in most Principles textbooks, that occupy center stage in ours. Today economic analysis has expanded its conceptual and empirical boundaries and, in doing so, has become even more relevant and useful.

This new world provides opportunities for the teaching of economics as well, provided that we adjust our Principles canon to include modern and empirically based notions of economics. This has been our aim from day one and continues to be our aim in this third edition.

At a time when competing empirical claims abound and news sources across the political spectrum are denounced as "fake," our students need the skills to systematically question and evaluate what they read. That is why, in our Evidence-Based Economics segments and end-of-chapter assignments, we examine both the implications and the limitations of academic studies. We hope that our textbook will help form a new generation of careful thinkers, smart decision makers, engaged citizens, and even a few future economists!

## **Our Vision: Three Unifying** Themes

#### Optimization

The first key principle is that people try to choose the best available option: optimization. We don't assume that people always successfully optimize, but we do believe that people try to choose the best option and often do a relatively good job of it. Because most decision makers try to choose the alternative that offers the greatest net benefit, optimization is a useful tool for predicting human behavior. Optimization is also a useful prescriptive tool. By teaching people how to do cost-benefit analysis we improve their decisions and the quality of their lives. By the end of this course, every student should be a skilled optimizer—without using complicated mathematics, simply by using economic intuition.

#### Equilibrium

The second key principle extends the first: economic systems operate in equilibrium, a state in which everybody is simultaneously trying to choose the best option. We want students to see that they're not the only ones maximizing their well-being. An economic system is in equilibrium when each person feels that he or she cannot do any better by picking another course of action. The principle of equilibrium high-lights the connections among economic actors. For example, Apple stores stock millions of iPhones because millions of consumers are going to turn up to buy them. In turn, millions of consumers go to Apple stores because those stores are ready to sell those iPhones. In equilibrium, consumers and producers are simultaneously optimizing, and their behaviors are intertwined.

#### Empiricism

Our first two principles—optimization and equilibrium—are conceptual. The third is methodological: empiricism. Economists use data to test economic theories, learn about the world, and speak to policymakers. Accordingly, data play a starring role in our book, though we keep the empirical analysis extremely simple. It is this emphasis on matching theories with real data that we think most distinguishes our book from others. We show students how economists use data to answer specific questions, which makes our chapters concrete, interesting, and fun. Modern students demand the evidence behind the theory, and our book supplies it.

For example, we begin every chapter with an empirical question and then answer that question using data. One chapter begins by asking: Would a smoker quit the habit for \$100 per month? Later in that chapter, we describe how smoking rates fell when researchers paid smokers to quit.

In our experience, students taking their first economics class often have the impression that economics is a series of theoretical assertions with little empirical basis. By using data, we explain how economists evaluate and improve our scientific insights. Data also make concepts more memorable. Using evidence helps students build intuition because data move the conversation from abstract principles to concrete facts. Every chapter sheds light on how economists use data to answer questions that directly interest students. Every chapter demonstrates the key role that evidence plays in advancing the science of economics.

## **Features**

All of our features showcase intuitive empirical questions.

• In Evidence-Based Economics (EBE), we show how economists use data to answer the question we pose in the opening paragraph of the chapter. The EBE uses actual data from field experiments and lab experiments or naturally occurring data while highlighting some of the major concepts discussed within the chapter. This tie-in with the data gives students a substantive look at economics as it plays out in the world around them.

The questions explored aren't just dry intellectual ideas; they spring to life the minute the student sets foot outside the classroom—Is Facebook free? Is college worth it? Will free trade cause you to lose your job? Is there value in putting yourself into someone else's shoes? What is the optimal size of government? Is there discrimination in the labor market?

**ECONOMICS** 

Q: Would a smoker guit the habit for \$100 per month?



**EVIDENCE-BASED** 

t the beginning of this chapter, we posed a question concerning whether *a* smoker would quit the habit for \$100 a month. The tools of this chapter can help us begin to think about whether such an incentive can work and why it might work.

In thinking about such a reward, we have learned that the impact of an increase in income leads to changes in the consumer budget constraint and subsequently the demand for goods and services. To see these tools in action, we return to the shopping-spree example. Exhibit 5.5 shows the mechanics behind the effects of an increase in what we have available to spend.

With that foundation laid, we can return to the question of quitting smoking for a month. Given our economic framework, the very same principle that was at work in the shopping-spree problem applies when considering the smoker's problem. By providing \$100 for not smoking, we create a trade-off between the current benefits of smoking and the benefits obtained by \$100 of increased income. There is also another saving: by not smoking, you save the money otherwise spent on cigarettes or cigars. For simplicity, let's assume that is another \$100 per month. Thus the comparison that we need to make is whether, at the margin, \$200 of additional monthly income provides more benefits than the current benefits you gain from smoking. If they do not, then you continue smoking and miss out on the \$200 incentive.

• Letting the Data Speak is another feature that analyzes an economic question by using real data as the foundation of the discussion. Among the many issues we explore are such questions as *Should McDonald's be interested in elasticities? Do wages really go down if labor supply increases? Why do some firms advertise while others don't?* 

## DATA SPEAK

#### Fair Trade Products

#### What's Behind the Boom?

In response to the feeling that the growth of free trade has led to the exploitation of developing countries, a new market has opened up for the consumer concerned with a broad variety of production-related issues, including the environment, fair labor practices, and child labor in the developing world. Goods imported from the developing world that meet certain criteria are certified by third-party organizations as "fair trade" products.

To receive a fair trade label, the production of a good has to meet certain standards. For example, if the producer doesn't allow unionization, uses child or slave labor, or doesn't adhere to the UN Charter on Human Rights, then the product can't be classified as fair trade.

Consumers can't seem to get enough fair trade products. Sales growth for fair trade goods has reached double-digit proportions over the past decade. Surprisingly, sales continued to expand even after the 2008 recession, growing 15 percent in 2009.<sup>1</sup>

Despite the recent surge in demand for fair trade products, not everyone is a fan. Overseeing billions of dollars of production isn't easy, and the capacity for certifying organizations to



enforce labor standards sometimes can't keep up with the increasing demand for fair trade products.  $^{2}\,$ 

• In keeping with the optimization theme, in a feature titled **Choice & Consequence** we ask students to make a real economic decision or evaluate the consequences of past real decisions. We then explain how an economist might analyze the same decision. Among the questions investigated are *Do people really optimize? Should LeBron James paint his own house? Does revenge have an evolutionary logic?* 

### 

#### **Coronavirus Vaccination: Positive Externalities** in Spots You Never Imagined

Externalities are the result of agents trying to do the best they can and ignoring how their actions affect others. In this sense, it would be wrong to think of externalities as "mistakes." Externalities may result from just *not knowing* the harm we cause others. In this case, we might make choices that we later regret.

Consider the case of coronavirus (COVID-19) vaccination. When you make the decision of whether to be vaccinated against COVID-19, you likely consider only the private benefits and costs from the vaccination—namely, the benefits and costs to yourself. But you are not the only person to incur benefits or costs.

If you decide to take the COVID-19 shot, others gain: once you are vaccinated, they are now protected against catching the coronavirus from you. But people can also lose if you choose not to get the shot because you could catch the coronavirus and spread it. Many of us do not naturally consider such externalities—whether positive or negative—when making a decision about whether to get a vaccination, but governments around the globe are beginning to bring such factors into the public eye. Indeed, in shutting down schools, business, airports, and any event that holds more than 50 people, policymakers have brought the externality discussion to every household in the world.

When considering the typical flu, how important is the externality? Researchers who have studied the



externalities of vaccinations report quite large effects.<sup>2</sup> For instance, in certain situations, the external effect of you getting a flu shot can be as high as 1.5 infections. Given that approximately 10 percent to 20 percent of the U.S. population contracts the flu each year, this estimate reveals the potential value in flu vaccination programs.

If you find it important to take account of your own externalities, the next time you are weighing your private benefits and costs of getting a flu or coronavirus vaccination, remember that not getting a shot could result in as many as 1.5 more infections for everyone else. In this sense, by avoiding the needle you have imposed a great externality on the rest of the population.

## Acknowledgments

As the three of us worked on this project, we taught each other a lot about economics, teaching, and writing. But we learned even more from the hundreds of other people who helped us along the way. For their guidance, we are thankful and deeply humbled. Their contributions turned out to be critical in ways that we never imagined when we started, and our own ideas were greatly improved by their insights and advice.

Our reviewers, focus group participants, and class testers showed us how to better formulate our ideas and helped us sharpen our writing. Through their frequently brilliant feedback, they corrected our economic misconceptions, improved our conceptual vision, and showed us how to write more clearly. Their contributions appear in almost every paragraph of this book. All of their names are listed below.

Our brilliant, creative, and resourceful research assistant for this edition—Alicia Zhang—played a critical role at every phase of the project, from identifying and critiquing our implicit analytic assumptions to analyzing data to editing prose to reviewing Evidence-Based Economics problems that are woven throughout the book. Alicia continuously inspired us and educated us as we jointly probed and improved the pedagogical principles developed in this text. Her masterful contributions appear on almost every page of this new edition. We are also deeply grateful to the many research assistants who made key contributions to the previous editions: Alec Brandon, Justin Holz, Xavier Jaravel, Angelina Liang, Daniel Norris, Yana Peysakhovich, and Jan Zilinsky. We are especially grateful to Josh Hurwitz and Maggie Yellen who made monumental contributions to previous editions.

We are also deeply grateful to the many inspiring economists who contributed major components of the project. Scott Ogawa of Northwestern University contributed extensively to the updates of the end-of-chapter questions and problems, which stand out as examples of inspiring pedagogy. Todd Sorensen of the University of Nevada, Reno updated the innovative and intuitive Instructor's Manual to provide useful teaching tips to facilitate synchronous and asynchronous online learning. Nathan Kemper updated the outstanding PowerPoint slides that illuminate and distill the key lessons of the book. Kalina Staub from the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill made critical contributions to the TestBank.

Most importantly, we acknowledge the myriad contributions of our editors and all of our amazing colleagues at Pearson. They have marched with us every step of the way. We wouldn't dare count the number of hours that they dedicated to this project, including evenings and weekends. Their commitment, vision, and editorial suggestions touched every sentence of this book. Most of the key decisions about the project were made with the help of our editors, and this collaborative spirit proved to be absolutely essential to our writing. Dozens of people at Pearson played key roles, but the most important contributions were made by Christopher DeJohn, Manager of Content Strategy; Thomas Hayward, Senior Content Analyst; Samantha Lewis, Product Manager Elaine Page, Content Producer; Heidi Allgair, Project Manager; Kristin Jobe, Content Project Management; Noel Lotz, Digital Content Team Lead; and Melissa Honig, Digital Studio Producer.

We also wish to thank Denise Clinton, who first got us started, and Donna Battista and Adrienne D'Ambrosia, who championed the project along the way. All of these publishing professionals transformed us as writers, teachers, and communicators. This book is a testimony to their perseverance, their dedication, and their brilliant eye for good (and often bad!) writing. Their commitment to this project has been extraordinary and inspirational. We are profoundly grateful for their guidance and collaboration.

Finally, we wish to thank our many other support networks. Our own professors, who first inspired us as economists and showed, through their example, the power of teaching and the joy that one can take from studying economics. Our parents, who nurtured us in so many ways and gave us the initial human capital that made our entire careers possible. Our kids, who implicitly sacrificed when our long hours on this book ate into family life. And, most profoundly, we thank our spouses, who have been supportive, understanding, and inspirational throughout the project.

## **Reviewers**

This book is the product of many streams that have flowed together and so many people who have contributed their insights and their passion to this project. We are deeply grateful for these myriad collaborations.

The following reviewers, class test participants, and focus group participants provided invaluable insights.

- Adel Abadeer, Calvin College
- Ahmed Abou-Zaid, Eastern Illinois University
- Temisan Agbeyegbe, City University of New York

Carlos Aguilar, El Paso Community College

- Rashid Al-Hmoud, Texas Tech University
- Frank Albritton, Seminole Community College
- Sam Allgood, University of Nebraska, Lincoln

Neil Alper, Northeastern University

- Farhad Ameen, Westchester Community College
- Catalina Amuedo-Dorantes, San Diego State University

Lian An, University of North Florida

- Samuel Andoh, Southern Connecticut State University
- Brad Andrew, Juniata College
- Len Anyanwu, Union County College

Robert Archibald, College of William and Mary

Ali Arshad, New Mexico Highlands University

Robert Baden, University of California, Santa Cruz

- Mohsen Bahmani-Oskooee, University of Wisconsin, Milwaukee
- Scott L. Baier, Clemson University
- Rita Balaban, University of North Carolina
- Mihajlo Balic, Harrisburg Area Community College
- Sheryl Ball, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University
- Spencer Banzhaf, Georgia State University

Jim Barbour, Elon University

Scott Barkowski, Clemson University Hamid Bastin, Shippensburg University Clare Battista, California State Polytechnic University, San Luis Obispo Jodi Beggs, Northeastern University Eric Belasco, Montana State University Susan Bell, Seminole State University Valerie Bencivenga, University of Texas, Austin Pedro Bento, West Virginia University Derek Berry, Calhoun Community College Prasun Bhattacharjee, East Tennessee State University Benjamin Blair, Columbus State University Douglas Blair, Rutgers University John Bockino, Suffolk County Community College Andrea Borchard, Hillsborough Community College Luca Bossi, University of Pennsylvania Gregory Brock, Georgia Southern University Bruce Brown, California State Polytechnic University, Pomona David Brown, Pennsylvania State University Jaime Brown, Pennsylvania State University Laura Bucila, Texas Christian University Don Bumpass, Sam Houston State University Chris Burkart, University of West Florida Julianna Butler, University of Delaware Colleen Callahan, American University Fred Campano, Fordham University Douglas Campbell, University of Memphis Cheryl Carleton, Villanova University Scott Carrell, University of California, Davis Kathleen Carroll, University of Maryland, Baltimore Regina Cassady, Valencia College, East

Campus

Shirley Cassing, University of Pittsburgh Suparna Chakraborty, University of San Francisco Catherine Chambers, University of Central Missouri Chiuping Chen, American River College Susan Christoffersen, Philadelphia University Benjamin Andrew Chupp, Illinois State University David L. Cleeton, Illinois State University Cynthia Clement, University of Maryland Marcelo Clerici-Arias, Stanford University Bently Coffey, University of South Carolina, Columbia Rachel Connelly, Bowdoin College William Conner, Tidewater Community College Kathleen Conway, Carnegie Mellon University Patrick Conway, University of North Carolina Jay Corrigan, Kenyon College Antoinette Criss, University of South Florida Sean Crockett, City University of New York Patrick Crowley, Texas A&M University, Corpus Christi Kelley Cullen, Eastern Washington University Scott Cunningham, Baylor University Muhammed Dalgin, Kutztown University David Davenport, McLennan Community College Stephen Davis, Southwest Minnesota State University John W. Dawson, Appalachian State University Pierangelo De Pace, California State University, Pomona David Denslow, University of Florida Arthur Diamond, University of

Nebraska, Omaha

Timothy Diette, Washington and Lee University Isaac Dilanni, University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign Oguzhan Dincer, Illinois State University Ethan Doetsch, Ohio State University Murat Doral, Kennesaw State University Kirk Doran, University of Notre Dame Tanya Downing, Cuesta College Mitchell Dudley, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor Gary Dymski, University of California, Riverside Kevin Egan, University of Toledo Eric Eide, Brigham Young University, Provo Harold Elder, University of Alabama, Tuscaloosa Michael Ellerbrock, Virginia Tech Harry Ellis, University of North Texas Noha Emara, Columbia University Lucas Engelhardt, Kent State University, Stark Erwin Erhardt, University of Cincinnati Hadi Esfahani, University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign Molly Espey, Clemson University Jose Esteban, Palomar College Hugo Eyzaguirre, Northern Michigan University Jamie Falcon, University of Maryland, **Baltimore** Liliana Fargo, DePaul University Leila Farivar, Ohio State University Sasan Fayazmanesh, California State University, Fresno Bichaka Fayissa, Middle Tennessee State University Virginia Fierro-Renoy, Keiser University Donna Fisher, Georgia Southern University Paul Fisher, Henry Ford Community College Todd Fitch, University of California, Berkeley Mary Flannery, University of Notre

Dame

Hisham Foad, San Diego State University Mathew Forstater, University of Missouri, Kansas City Irene Foster, George Mason University Hamilton Fout, Kansas State University Shelby Frost, Georgia State University Timothy Fuerst, University of Notre Dame Ken Gaines, East-West University John Gallup, Portland State University William Galose, Lamar University Karen Gebhardt, Colorado State University Gerbremeskel Gebremariam, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University Lisa George, City University of New York Gregory Gilpin, Montana State University Seth Gitter, Towson University Brian Goegan, Arizona State University, Tempe Rajeev Goel, Illinois State University Bill Goffe, State University of New York, Oswego Julie Gonzalez, University of California, Santa Cruz Paul Graf, Indiana University, Bloomington Philip Graves, University of Colorado, Boulder Lisa Grobar, California State University, Long Beach Fatma Gunay Bendas, Washington and Lee University Michael Hammock, Middle Tennessee State University Michele Hampton, Cuyahoga Community College Moonsu Han, North Shore Community College F. Andrew Hanssen, Clemson University David Harris, Benedictine College Robert Harris, Indiana University-Purdue University Indianapolis

Julia Heath, University of Cincinnati Jolien Helsel, Youngstown State University Matthew Henry, Cleveland State University Thomas Henry, Mississippi State University David Hewitt, Whittier College Wayne Hickenbottom, University of Texas, Austin Jannett Highfill, Bradley University Michael Hilmer, San Diego State University John Hilston, Brevard College Naphtali Hoffman, Elmira College and **Binghamton University** Kim Holder, University of West Georgia Robert Holland, Purdue University Don Holley, Boise State University Paul Holmes, Ashland University James A. Hornsten, Northwestern University Gail Hoyt, University of Kentucky Jim Hubert, Seattle Central Community College Scott Hunt, Columbus State Community College Kyle Hurst, University of Colorado, Denver Ruben Jacob-Rubio, University of Georgia Joyce Jacobsen, Wesleyan University Kenneth Jameson, University of Utah Kevin Jasek-Rysdahl, California State University, Stanislaus Andres Jauregui, Columbus State University Brian Jenkins, University of California, Irvine Sarah Jenyk, Youngstown State University Robert Jerome, James Madison University Deepak Joglekar, University of Connecticut Paul Johnson, Columbus State University Ted Joyce, City University of New York David Kalist, Shippensburg University

Lilian Kamal, University of Hartford\*

Leonie Karkoviata, University of Houston, Downtown

Kathy Kelly, University of Texas, Arlington

Nathan Kemper, University Arkansas

Colin Knapp, University of Florida

Yilmaz Kocer, University of Southern California

Ebenezer Kolajo, University of West Georgia

Janet Koscianski, Shippensburg University

Robert Krol, California State University, Northridge

Daniel Kuester, Kansas State University Patricia Kuzyk, Washington State

Sumner La Croix, University of Hawaii

Rose LaMont, Modesto Community College

Carsten Lange, California State University, Pomona

University

Vicky Langston, Columbus State University

Susan Laury, Georgia State University

Myoung Lee, University of Missouri, Columbia

Sang Lee, Southeastern Louisiana University

Phillip K. Letting, Harrisburg Area Community College

John Levendis, Loyola University

Steven Levkoff, University of California, San Diego

Dennis P. Leyden, University of North Carolina, Greensboro

Gregory Lindeblom, Brevard College

Alan Lockard, Binghamton University

Joshua Long, Ivy Technical College

Linda Loubert, Morgan State University

Heather Luea, Kansas State University

Rotua Lumbantobing, Western Connecticut State University

Rita Madarassy, Santa Clara University

James Makokha, Collin County Community College

Liam C. Malloy, University of Rhode Island Christopher Mann, University of Nebraska, Lincoln Paula Manns, Atlantic Cape Community College Vlad Manole, Rutgers University Hardik Marfatia, Northeastern Illinois University Lawrence Martin, Michigan State University Norman Maynard, University of Oklahoma Katherine McClain, University of Georgia Scott McGann, Grossmont College Kim Marie McGoldrick, University of Richmond Shah Mehrabi, Montgomery Community College Aaron Meininger, University of California, Santa Cruz Saul Mekies, Kirkwood Community College Kimberly Mencken, Baylor University Diego Mendez-Carbajo, Illinois Wesleyan University Thomas Menn, United States Military Academy at West Point Catherine Middleton, University of Tennessee, Chattanooga Nara Mijid, Central Connecticut State University Laurie A. Miller, University of Nebraska, Lincoln Edward Millner, Virginia Commonwealth University Ida Mirzaie, Ohio State University David Mitchell, Missouri State University, Springfield Michael Mogavero, University of Notre Dame Robert Mohr, University of New Hampshire Barbara Moore, University of Central Florida Thaddeaus Mounkurai, Daytona State College Usha Nair-Reichert, Emory University Camille Nelson, Oregon State University Michael Nelson, Oregon State University John Neri, University of Maryland

Andre Neveu, James Madison University Jinlan Ni, University of Nebraska, Omaha Eric Nielsen, St. Louis Community College Jaminka Ninkovic, Emory University Chali Nondo, Albany State University Richard P. Numrich, College of Southern Nevada Andrew Nutting, Hamilton College Grace O, Georgia State University Norman Obst, Michigan State University Scott Ogawa, Northwestern University Lee Ohanian, University of California, Los Angeles Paul Okello, Tarrant County College Ifeakandu Okoye, Florida A&M University Alan Osman, Ohio State University Tomi Ovaska, Youngstown State University Caroline Padgett, Francis Marion University Zuohong Pan, Western Connecticut State University Peter Parcells, Whitman College Cynthia Parker, Chaffey College Mohammed Partapurwala, Monroe Community College Robert Pennington, University of Central Florida David Perkis, Purdue University, West Lafayette Colin Phillipps, Illinois State University Kerk Phillips, Brigham Young University Goncalo Pina, Santa Clara University Michael Podgursky, University of Missouri Greg Pratt, Mesa Community College Guangjun Qu, Birmingham-Southern College Fernando Quijano, Dickinson State University Joseph Quinn, Boston College Reza Ramazani, Saint Michael's College Ranajoy Ray-Chaudhuri, Ohio State University

Mitchell Redlo, Monroe Community College

Javier Reyes, University of Arkansas

Teresa Riley, Youngstown State University

Nancy Roberts, Arizona State University

Malcolm Robinson, Thomas More College

Randall Rojas, University of California, Los Angeles

Sudipta Roy, Kankakee Community College

Jared Rubin, Chapman University

Jason C. Rudbeck, University of Georgia

Melissa Rueterbusch, Mott Community College

Mariano Runco, Auburn University at Montgomery

Nicholas G. Rupp, East Carolina University

Steven Russell, Indiana University-Purdue University-Indianapolis

Michael Ryan, Western Michigan University

Ravi Samitamana, Daytona State College

David Sanders, University of Missouri, St. Louis

Michael Sattinger, State University of New York, Albany

Anya Savikhin Samek, University of Wisconsin, Madison

Peter Schuhmann, University of North Carolina, Wilmington

Robert M. Schwab, University of Maryland

Jesse Schwartz, Kennesaw State University

James K. Self, Indiana University, Bloomington

Katie Shester, Washington and Lee University

Mark Showalter, Brigham Young University, Provo

Dorothy Siden, Salem State University

Mark V. Siegler, California State University, Sacramento

Carlos Silva, New Mexico State University

Timothy Simpson, Central New Mexico Community College Michael Sinkey, University of West Georgia

John Z. Smith, Jr., United States Military Academy, West Point

Thomas Snyder, University of Central Arkansas

Joe Sobieralski, Southwestern Illinois College

Sara Solnick, University of Vermont

Martha Starr, American University

Rebecca Stein, University of Pennsylvania

Liliana Stern, Auburn University

Adam Stevenson, University of Michigan

Cliff Stone, Ball State University

Mark C. Strazicich, Appalachian State University

Chetan Subramanian, State University of New York, Buffalo

AJ Sumell, Youngstown State University

Charles Swanson, Temple University

Tom Sweeney, Des Moines Area Community College

James Swofford, University of South Alabama

Kevin Sylwester, Southern Illinois University

Vera Tabakova, East Carolina University

Emily Tang, University of California, San Diego

Mark Tendall, Stanford University

Jennifer Thacher, University of New Mexico

- Charles Thomas, Clemson University
- Rebecca Thornton, University of Houston
- Jill Trask, Tarrant County College, Southeast

Steve Trost, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University

Ty Turley, Brigham Young University

Nora Underwood, University of Central Florida

Mike Urbancic, University of Oregon

Don Uy-Barreta, De Anza College

John Vahaly, University of Louisville

Ross Van Wassenhove, University of Houston

Don Vandegrift, College of New Jersey

Nancy Virts, California State University, Northridge

Cheryl Wachenheim, North Dakota State College

Jeffrey Waddoups, University of Nevada, Las Vegas

Parag Waknis, University of Massachusetts, Dartmouth

Donald Wargo, Temple University

Charles Wassell, Jr., Central Washington University

Matthew Weinberg, Drexel University

Robert Whaples, Wake Forest University

Elizabeth Wheaton, Southern Methodist University

Mark Wheeler, Western Michigan University

Anne Williams, Gateway Community College

Brock Williams, Metropolitan Community College of Omaha

DeEdgra Williams, Florida A&M University

Brooks Wilson, McLennan Community College

Mark Witte, Northwestern University

Katherine Wolfe, University of Pittsburgh

William Wood, James Madison University

Jadrian Wooten, Pennsylvania State University

Steven Yamarik, California State University, Long Beach

Guy Yamashiro, California State University, Long Beach

Bill Yang, Georgia Southern University

Young-Ro Yoon, Wayne State University

Madelyn Young, Converse College

Michael Youngblood, Rock Valley College

Jeffrey Zax, University of Colorado, Boulder

Martin Zelder, Northwestern University

Erik Zemljic, Kent State University

Kevin Zhang, Illinois State University

## **Global Edition Acknowledgments**

Pearson would like to thank Eliane Haykal, Notre Dame University - Louaize, for developing content for this Global Edition.

## **Reviewers**

We are deeply grateful to the following reviewers, who provided invaluable insights that helped further develop the content. Chris Zheng Cao, Aston University Natalie Chen, Warwick University Alexander Tziamalis, Sheffield Business School This page is intentionally left blank
# The Principles and Practice of Economics



# Is Facebook free?

Facebook doesn't charge you a monthly fee, so it's tempting to say "it's free."

Here's another way to think about it: what do you give up when you use Facebook? Stop reading for a moment and answer that question:

What do you give up when you use Facebook?

Facebook may not take your money, but it does take your data and your time. For the moment, let's focus on your time (although your data are very valuable too!). When you spend time on Facebook, you are giving up an alternative use of your time. You could spend that time playing soccer, watching YouTube, napping, studying, listening to Spotify, or pursuing any other activity that generates something that you value. For example, you could spend the time earning money. If a typical college student went cold turkey on social media and reallocated just that time to paid work, they would earn enough money to pay the annual lease on a sports car.

A part-time job is just *one* alternative way to use the time you spend on Facebook, Instagram, TikTok, and hundreds of other social media apps. In *your* view, what is the best alternative use of your social media time? That's the economic way of thinking about the time *cost* of Facebook, which we'll explore further in the Evidence-Based Economics feature in this chapter.

In this chapter, we introduce you to the economic way of thinking about the world. Economists study all of the choices that people make, from the big decisions like choosing a job to the small decisions like logging onto Facebook or any other social media platform. To understand those choices, economists focus on the costs and benefits involved, including subtle costs like the activities that get *crowded out*.

How do people make all of these choices? How should people make these choices? Economists have answers that will occasionally surprise you and, most importantly, help you make choices that improve your well-being.



### CHAPTER OUTLINE

# **KEY** IDEAS

- Economics is the study of people's choices.
- The first principle of economics is that people try to optimize: they try to choose the best available option.
- The second principle of economics is that economic systems tend to be in equilibrium, a situation in which nobody believes they will benefit by changing his or her own behavior.
- The third principle of economics is *empiricism*—analysis that uses data. Economists use data to test theories and to determine what is causing things to happen in the world.

# **1.1 The Scope of Economics**

Economics involves far more than money. Economists study *all* human behavior, from a person's decision to lease a car, to her decision not to wear a seat belt, to the speed the new driver chooses as she rounds a hairpin corner. These are all choices, and they are all fair game to economists. Choice—not money—is the unifying feature of all the things that economists study.

Choice—not money—is the unifying feature of all the things that economists study.

In fact, economists think of almost all human behavior as the outcome of choices. For instance, imagine that Dad tells his teenage daughter that she *must* wash the family car. The daughter has several options: she can wash it, she can negotiate for an easier chore, she can refuse to wash it and suffer the consequences, or she can move out (a drastic response, sure, but still an option). The way economists think about it, everything you do is the outcome of a choice that you are making.

### **Economic Agents and Economic Resources**

Saying that economics is all about choices is an easy way to summarize the topic of study. To give you a more precise definition, we first need to introduce two important concepts: *economic agents* and *resource allocation*.

An **economic agent** is an individual or a group that makes choices. To demonstrate the enormous range of this concept, let's start with a few illustrative types of *individual* economic agents and one choice that they make. For example, a *consumer* chooses which cell phone to purchase. A *parent* chooses whether and how to reward their teenager for good behavior. A *student* chooses to attend classes or skip them. A *citizen* chooses whether or not to vote, and if so, which candidate to support. A *worker* chooses to do her job or slack off. A *criminal* chooses to sell meth or opioids (or neither or both). A *business leader* chooses where in the world to open a new production facility. A *senator* chooses to vote for or against a Supreme Court nominee. Of course, you are also an economic agent because you make an enormous number of choices every day.

Not all economic agents, however, are individuals. An economic agent can also be a group—a government, an army, a firm, a university, a political party, a labor union, a sports team, a family, or a street gang (Exhibit 1.1). Sometimes economists simplify their analysis by treating these groups as a single decision maker, without worrying about the details of how the different individuals in the group contributed to the decision. For example, an economist might say that "Apple prices the iPhone to maximize its profits," glossing over the fact that many employees participated in the internal debates that led to the choice of the price.

An **economic agent** is an individual or a group that makes choices.



**Scarce resources** are things that people want, where the quantity that people want exceeds the quantity that is available.

1.1

**Scarcity** is the situation of having unlimited wants in a world of limited resources.

**Economics** is the study of how agents choose to allocate scarce resources and how those choices affect society.

The second important concept to understand is that economics studies the allocation of *scarce resources*. **Scarce resources** are things that people want, where the quantity that people want (if the resources were being given away for free) exceeds the quantity that is available. Gold wedding bands, Shiatsu massages, Italian handbags, Broadway shows, iPhones, triple-chocolate-fudge ice cream, and rooms with a view are all scarce resources. But a resource doesn't need to be luxurious to be scarce—everyday goods are also scarce, like toilet paper, subway seats, and clean drinking water. **Scarcity** exists because people have unlimited wants in a world of limited resources. The world does not have enough resources to give everyone *everything* they want (for free).

Consider cars: if cars were given away at a zero price, there would not be enough of them to go around. So how does society determine who gets the limited supply of cars? In general, how does society allocate all of the scarce resources in the economy?

In a modern economy, consumers like you play a key role in this resource allocation process. You have 24 hours to allocate each day—this is your daily time budget. You choose how many of those 24 hours you will allocate to Facebook. You choose how many of those 24 hours you will allocate to other activities, including schoolwork and/or a job. If you have a job, you choose how to spend your hard-earned wages. These types of decisions determine how scarce resources are allocated in a modern economy: to the consumers who are able and willing to pay for them.

Economists don't want to impose our personal tastes on you. Imagine that you needed to decide whether to commute by car, bicycle, foot, Uber/Lyft, taxi, or public transportation. We are interested in showing you how to use economic reasoning so that *you* can compare the costs and benefits of the alternative options and make the choices that are best for you.

#### **Definition of Economics**

We are now ready to define economics precisely. **Economics** is the study of how agents choose to allocate scarce resources and how those choices affect society.

Our earlier examples all emphasized people's *choices*, and choices play a key role in the formal definition of economics. However, the definition of economics also adds a new element to our discussion: the effects of any individual agent's choices on society. For example, the sale of a new car doesn't just affect the person driving off the dealer's lot. The sale generates sales tax, which the government uses to fund projects like highways and hospitals. The purchase of the new car also generates some congestion—that's one more car in rush-hour gridlock. It's another car that might grab the last parking spot on your street. If the new owner drives recklessly, the car may generate risks to other drivers. Economists study the original choice and its multiple consequences for other people in the world.



Economics is the study of choice.

**Positive economics** is analysis that generates objective descriptions or predictions, which can be verified with data.

**Normative economics** is analysis that recommends what an individual or society ought to do.

### **Positive Economics and Normative Economics**

We now have an idea of what economics is about: people's choices. But why study these choices? Part of the answer is that economists are just curious, but that's only a small piece of the picture. Understanding people's choices is practically useful for two key reasons. Economic analysis:

- 1. Describes what people *actually* do (positive economics)
- 2. Recommends what people, including society, *ought* to do (normative economics)

The first application is descriptive, and the second is advisory.

**Positive Economics Describes What People Actually Do** Descriptions of what economic agents actually do are *objective* statements about the world—in other words, statements that can be confirmed or tested with data. For instance, from March to April 2020, the percentage of the U.S. labor force that was unemployed increased from 4.4 percent to 14.7 percent, the largest jump ever recorded.<sup>1</sup> During this month COVID-19 lockdowns caused firms to close for business and, in many cases, to lay off their workers. Describing what has happened or predicting what will happen is referred to as **positive economics** or positive economic analysis.

For instance, consider the prediction that renewable power capacity will expand by 50 percent between 2019 and 2024 (especially solar, wind, hydropower, and bioenergy).<sup>2</sup> This forecast can be compared to future data and either confirmed or disproven. Because a prediction is eventually testable—after the passage of time—it is also part of positive economics.

**Normative Economics Recommends What People Ought to Do** Normative economics, the second of the two types of economic analysis, advises individuals and society on their choices. Normative economics is about what people ought to do. Normative economics is almost always dependent on *subjective* judgments, which means that normative analysis depends at least in part on personal feelings, tastes, or opinions. So whose subjective judgments do we try to use? Economists believe that the people being advised should determine the preferences to be used.

For example, consider an economist who is helping a worker to decide how much risk to take in her investments. The economist might ask the worker about her own preferences regarding investment risk. Suppose the worker said that she wouldn't sleep well at night if her retirement savings were invested in the stock market, which does fall sharply (and unpredictably) from time to time—for example, the Dow Jones Industrial Average (a U.S. stock index) fell 38 percent at the start of the COVID-19 crisis in February and March 2020. The economist would explain that eliminating risk comes at a cost—riskless investments have a lower *average* rate of return in the long run than investments in the stock market. Stocks have had an annual average return that is about 6 percentage points higher per year than the return on riskless investments. If the worker acknowledged this difference and still wanted the riskless investments, the economist would help the worker find such riskless investments. Here the economist plays the role of engineer, finding the investment portfolio that will deliver the level of risk that the worker wants.

And that's the key—what the worker wants. In the mind of most economists, it is legitimate for the worker to choose any level of risk, as long as she understands the implications of that risk for her average rate of return—less risk implies a lower average rate of return. When economic analysis is used to help *individual* economic agents choose what is in their personal best interest, this type of normative economics is referred to as *prescriptive economics*.

Sometimes the normative analysis gets more complicated because there are many economic agents in the picture. We turn to these harder normative analyses next.

**Normative Analysis and Public Policy** Normative analysis also generates advice to society in general. For example, economists are often asked to evaluate public policies, like taxes or regulations. When public policies create winners and losers, citizens tend to have opposing views about the desirability of the government program. One person's migratory bird sanctuary is another person's mosquito-infested swamp. Protecting a wetland with environmental regulations benefits bird-watchers but may harm a landowner who would like to develop that land.

1.1



1.2

views on the future of this swamp. The owner of the property wants to build housing units. An environmentalist wants to preserve the wetland to protect the whooping crane, an endangered species. What should happen?

Microeconomics is the study of how individuals, households, firms, and governments make choices, and how those choices affect prices, the allocation of resources, and the wellbeing of other agents.

Macroeconomics is the study of the economy as a whole. Macroeconomists study economy-wide phenomena, like the growth rate of a country's total economic output, the inflation rate, or the unemployment rate.

When a government policy creates winners and losers, economists need to make some ethical judgments to conduct normative analysis. Economists must make ethical judgments when evaluating policies that make one group worse off so another group can be made better off.

Ethical judgments are usually unavoidable when economists think about government policies because there are few policies that make everyone better off. Deciding whether the costs experienced by the losers are justified by the benefits experienced by the winners is partly an ethical judgment. Is it ethical to create environmental regulations that prevent a real estate developer from draining a swamp so she can build new homes? What if those environmental regulations protect migratory birds that other people value? Are there possible compromises—should the government, for example, try to buy the land from the real estate developer? These public policy questions-which all ask what society should doare normative economic questions.

#### Microeconomics and Macroeconomics

There is one other distinction that you need to know to understand the scope of economics. Economics can be divided into two broad fields of study, though many economists do a bit of both.

Microeconomics is the study of how individuals, households, firms, and governments make choices, and how those choices affect prices, the allocation of resources, and the well-being of other agents. In general, microeconomists are called on when we want to understand a particular piece of the overall economy, like the market for coal-fired electricity generation.

For example, some microeconomists study pollution generated by coal-fired power plants. A microeconomist might predict the level of coal-based pollution over the next decade, basing her forecast on the overall demand for electricity and likely technological developments in the energy industry-including solar- and wind-energy substitutes for coal-fired power plants. Predicting future levels of pollution from coal-fired plants is part of positive economic analysis.

Some microeconomists undertake normative analysis of coal-based pollution. For example, because global warming is largely caused by carbon emissions from coal, oil, and other fossil fuels, microeconomists design new government policies that attempt to reduce the use of these fuels. For example, a "carbon tax" targets carbon emissions. Under a carbon tax, relatively carbon-intensive energy sources—like coal-fired power plants—pay more tax per unit of energy produced than do energy sources with lower carbon emissions—like wind farms. Some microeconomists have the job of designing interventions like carbon taxes and determining how such interventions will affect the energy choices of households and firms.

Macroeconomics is the study of the economy as a whole. Macroeconomists study economy-wide phenomena, like the growth rate of a country's total economic output, the percentage increase in *overall* prices (the inflation rate), or the fraction of the nation's labor force that is looking for work but cannot find a job (the unemployment rate). Macroeconomists design government policies that improve overall, or "aggregate," economic performance.

For example, macroeconomists try to identify the best policies for stimulating an economy that is experiencing a sustained period of negative growth—in other words, an economy in recession. Macroeconomists played an active role in the policy responses to the 2020 economic contraction caused by the COVID-19 crisis. Macroeconomists also worry about how to manage an economy that is growing well. For example, in 2018, with a historically low unemployment rate below 4 percent and strong (inflation-adjusted) annual economic growth above 3 percent, macroeconomists debated whether it was prudent for the Federal Reserve System to raise interest rates to head off the potential threat of rising inflation.

# **1.2 Three Principles of Economics**

You now have a sense of what economics is about. But you might be wondering what distinguishes it from the other social sciences, including anthropology, history, political science, psychology, and sociology. All social sciences study human behavior, so what sets economics apart?

**Optimization** means trying to pick the best feasible option, given whatever limited information, knowledge, experience, and training the economic agent has.

### Decisions aren't made with a crystal ball. People try to do as well as they can.

**Equilibrium** is the special situation in which *everyone* is simultaneously optimizing, so nobody believes they would benefit personally by changing their own behavior, given the choices of others.

**Empiricism** is analysis that uses data — evidence-based analysis. Economists use data to develop theories, to test theories, to evaluate the success of different government policies, and to determine what is causing things to happen in the world.

Economists emphasize three key concepts.

1. Optimization: We have explained economics as the study of people's choices. The study of all human choices may initially seem like an impossibly huge and diverse topic. At first glance, your decision to log on to Facebook tonight does not appear to have much in common with a corporate executive's decision to build a \$500 million laptop factory in China. However, economists have identified some powerful concepts that unify the enormous range of choices that economic agents make. One such insight is that choices are tied together by the concept of *optimization*: trying to pick the best feasible option. Economists do *not* believe that people always succeed in picking the best feasible option. People don't always succeed because we are not perfect, all-knowing decision makers. There is a great

deal of discussion among economists about how well people succeed in actually picking the best feasible option, a discussion that we will return to in Chapter 3.

Optimization is the first principle of economics. Economists believe that optimization—trying to pick the best feasible option—explains the choices that people make, including minor decisions like accepting an

invitation to see a movie and major decisions like deciding whom to marry. Decisions aren't made with a crystal ball. People try to do as well as they can, given the limited information, knowledge, experience, and training that they have.

- **2. Equilibrium:** The second principle of economics holds that economic systems tend to be in *equilibrium*, a situation in which no agent believes they would benefit personally by changing their own behavior, given the choices of others. The economic system is in equilibrium when *all* agents believe they cannot do any better by picking another course of action. In other words, equilibrium is a situation in which everyone is simultaneously optimizing.
- **3. Empiricism:** The third principle of economics is an emphasis on *empiricism* evidence-based analysis. In other words, analysis that uses data. Economists use data to develop theories, to test theories, to evaluate the success of different government policies, and to determine what is causing things to happen in the world.

# **1.3 The First Principle of Economics:** Optimization

Let's now consider our first principle in more detail. Economics is the study of choices, and economists have a leading theory about how choices are made. Economists believe that people optimize, meaning that economic agents try to choose the best feasible option, given whatever (limited) information, knowledge, experience, and training the economic agents have. Feasible options are those that are available and affordable to an economic agent. If you have \$10 in your wallet and no credit/debit/ATM cards, then a \$5 veggie burger is a feasible dinner option, while a \$50 lobster dinner is not.

The concept of feasibility goes beyond the financial budget of the agent. Many different constraints can determine what is feasible. For instance, it is not feasible to work more than 24 hours in a day. It is not feasible to attend meetings *in person* in London and Beijing at the same time.

In cases where agents make predictable mistakes, normative (prescriptive) economic analysis can help them realize their mistakes and make better choices in the future. Any decision can depend only on the information available at the time of the choice. For example, if you choose to drive from San Diego to Los Angeles and your car is hit by a drunk driver, you are unlucky, but you haven't necessarily failed to optimize. Optimization means that you weigh the information that you have, not that you perfectly foresee the future. When someone chooses the best feasible option *given the information that is available*, economists say that the decision maker is being rational or, equivalently, that he or she is exhibiting rationality.

Rational action does not require a crystal ball, just a logical appraisal of the costs, benefits, and risks that are known to the economic agent.

1.2

1.3 1.4

1.

An economic agent faces a **trade-off** when the agent needs to give up one thing to get something else.

A **budget constraint** shows the bundles of goods or services that a consumer can choose given her limited budget.

However, if you decide to let a friend drive you from San Diego to Los Angeles and you know that your friend is drunk, this is likely a case in which you are not choosing the best feasible option. Again, evaluating the rationality of a decision means examining the quality of your initial decision, not the outcome. Even if you and your drunk driver arrive at your destination without a crash, your choice to let your friend drive is still a bad choice. Fortunately, you got lucky despite making a bad decision.

We devote much of this book to the analysis of optimization. We explain how to choose the best feasible option, and we discuss some evidence that supports the theory that economic agents often do choose the best feasible option (or something close to it). We also discuss important cases where people consistently fail to choose the best feasible option. In cases where agents make predictable mistakes, normative (prescriptive) economic analysis can help them realize their mistakes and make better choices in the future.

Finally, it is important to note that *what* we optimize varies from person to person and group to group. Many firms try to maximize profits, but most individual people are not trying to maximize their personal income. If that were our goal, we'd work far more than 40 hours per week, and we'd keep working long past retirement age. Most households are trying to maximize their overall well-being, which involves a mix of income, leisure, health, and a host of other factors, like social networks, personal relationships, and a sense of purpose in life. Most governments, meanwhile, are optimizing a complex mix of policy goals. For most economic agents, then, optimization (and economics) is about much more than money.

The COVID-19 crisis is a good example of the complexity of optimization. If governments were simply trying to maximize total economic output, firms and employees would have kept working through the pandemic despite the health consequences. Instead, almost all countries adopted aggressive public health measures during the crisis, including lockdowns and shelter-in-place rules, causing their overall economies to sharply contract. Accordingly, the policy response to the COVID-19 crisis involved a trade-off between health and economic output. Almost all countries accepted a sharp drop in economic output as the price for partially reducing illness and deaths—morbidity and mortality resulting from the pandemic. You can think of this as the first recession that was equivalent to intentionally putting the economy into a coma.

### **Trade-offs and Budget Constraints**

All optimization problems involve trade-offs. **Trade-offs** arise when some benefits must be given up to gain others. Think again about the simple case of Facebook. If you spend an hour on Facebook, then you cannot spend that hour doing other things. For example, you cannot work at most part-time jobs at the same time you are editing your Facebook profile. (However, some students believe that they can read their friends' posts while listening to a lecture. When the authors of this textbook try to do this ourselves, we find that we don't learn very much from that lecture.)

Economists use budget constraints to describe trade-offs. A **budget constraint** is the set of things that a person can choose to do (or buy) without breaking her budget.

Here's an illustration. To keep the analysis simple, suppose that you can do only one of two activities with each hour of your free time: use social media sites or work at a part-time job. Suppose that you have 5 free hours in a day (once we take away necessities like sleeping, eating, bathing, attending classes, doing problem sets, and studying for exams). Think of these 5 free hours as your budget of free time. Then your budget constraint would be:

5 hours = Hours on social media + Hours working at part-time job.

This equation, which is also called a budget constraint, implies that you face a trade-off. If you spend an extra hour on social media, you need to spend one less hour working at a part-time job (unless you secretly use Facebook while you are being paid for a job—in this case, don't put your boss on your friend list). Likewise, if you spend an extra hour working at the part-time job, you need to spend one less hour surfing the Web. More of one activity implies less of the other. We can see this in Exhibit 1.2, where we list all the ways that you could allocate your 5 free hours.

Budget constraints are useful economic tools because they quantify trade-offs. When economists talk about the choices that people make, the economist always takes into account the budget constraint. It's important to identify the feasible options and the trade-offs—the budget constraint gives us that information.

#### Exhibit 1.2 Possible Allocations of 5 Free Hours (Round Numbers Only)

Each row reports a different way that a person could allocate 5 free hours, assuming that the time must be divided between social media and working at a part-time job. To keep things simple, the table only reports allocations in round numbers.

| Budget  | Hours on Social Media | Hours at Part-Time Job |
|---------|-----------------------|------------------------|
| 5 hours | 0 hours               | 5 hours                |
| 5 hours | 1 hours               | 4 hours                |
| 5 hours | 2 hours               | 3 hours                |
| 5 hours | 3 hours               | 2 hours                |
| 5 hours | 4 hours               | 1 hours                |
| 5 hours | 5 hours               | 0 hours                |

#### **Opportunity Cost**

We are now ready to introduce another critical tool in the optimization toolbox: opportunity cost. Social media provides an illustration of the concept. The time that we spend on social media is time that we could have spent in some other way. In the illustrative example just discussed, the only two alternative activities were social media and working at a part-time job. But in real life, there are an enormous number of activities that might get squeezed out when you use social media—for instance, playing soccer, jogging, daydreaming, taking a yoga class, meditating, sleeping, eating with friends, or working on a problem set. You implicitly sacrifice time on some alternative activities when you spend time on social media.

Generate your own list of alternative activities that are squeezed out when you use social media. Think about the best alternative to an extra hour of social media, and put that at the top. Pause here and write that alternative activity down. Having a cup of coffee with a friend? Studying for an exam? Going for a jog? What is your best alternative to an extra hour of social media?

We face trade-offs whenever we allocate our time. When we do one thing, something else gets squeezed out. Joining the basketball team might mean dropping lacrosse. During exam week, an extra hour of sleep means one less hour spent studying or decompressing with friends. You can't write a term paper and update your Facebook page at the same moment. And postponement is not an escape hatch from this ironclad logic. For example, even if you only postpone writing that term paper, something has got to give when the paper deadline rolls around. (Perhaps studying for your economics final?)

Evaluating trade-offs can be difficult because so many options are under consideration. Economists tend to focus on the *best* alternative activity. We refer to this best alternative activity as the **opportunity cost**. This is what an optimizer is effectively giving up when she allocates an hour of her time. Recall your own best alternative to an extra hour of social media. That's your opportunity cost of an hour of social media time.

Here's another example to drive home the concept. Assume that your family is taking a vacation over spring break. Your choices are a Caribbean cruise, a trip to Miami, or a trip to Los Angeles. (Assume that they all have the same monetary cost and use the same amount of time.) If your first choice is the cruise and your *second* choice is Miami, then your opportunity cost of taking the cruise is the Miami trip. The cruise is crowding out the Miami trip, so the Miami trip is what you are giving up to take the cruise.

The concept of opportunity cost applies to all trade-offs, not just your daily time budget of 24 hours. Suppose that a woodworker has a beautiful piece of maple that can be used to make a sculpture, a bowl, or a picture frame. (Assume that they all use the same amount of wood and take the same amount of time.) If the woodworker's first choice is the sculpture and the second choice is the bowl, then the bowl is the opportunity cost of making the sculpture.

**Assigning a Monetary Value to an Opportunity Cost** Economists sometimes try to put a monetary value on opportunity cost. One way to estimate the monetary value of an hour of your time is to analyze the consequences of taking a part-time job or working additional hours at the part-time job you already have.

The opportunity cost of an hour of your time spent on social media is at least the value that you would receive from an hour of work at a job, assuming that you can find one that fits your schedule. Here's why. A part-time job is one item in the long list of alternative

**Opportunity cost** is the best alternative use of a resource.

1.3

ways to spend your time. If the part-time job is at the top of your list, then it's the best alternative, and the part-time job is your opportunity cost of spending time on social media. What if the part-time job is not at the top of your list, so it's not the best alternative? Then the best alternative is even better than the part-time job, so the best alternative is worth more than the part-time job. To sum up, your opportunity cost is either the value of a parttime job or a value that is even greater than that.

To turn these insights into something quantitative, it helps to note that the median wage for U.S. workers between 16 and 24 years of age was \$14.70 in 2020—this statistic is from the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics.<sup>3</sup> A job has many attributes other than the wage you are paid: unpleasant tasks (like being nice to obnoxious customers), on-the-job training, friendly or unfriendly coworkers, and resume building, to name a few.

If we ignore these non-wage attributes, the value of an hour of work is just the wage (minus taxes paid). However, if the positive and negative non-wage attributes don't cancel each other, the calculation is much harder. To keep things simple, we'll focus only on the after-tax wage in the analysis that follows—about \$13 per hour for young workers—but we urge you to keep in mind all of the non-wage consequences that flow from a job.

### **Cost-Benefit Analysis**

Let's use opportunity cost to solve an optimization problem. Specifically, we want to compare a set of feasible alternatives and pick the best one. We call this process *cost-benefit analysis*. **Cost-benefit analysis** is a calculation that identifies the best option by summing benefits and subtracting costs, with both benefits and costs denominated in a common unit of measurement, like dollars. Cost-benefit analysis is used to identify the alternative that has the greatest **net benefit**, which is the sum of the benefits of choosing an alternative minus the sum of the costs of choosing that alternative.

To see these ideas in action, suppose that you and a friend are going to Miami Beach from Boston for spring break. Imagine that the only question is whether you should drive or fly. Your friend argues that you should drive because splitting the cost of a rental car and gas "will only cost \$200 each." He tries to seal the deal by pointing out "that's much better than a \$300 plane ticket."

To analyze this problem using cost-benefit analysis, you need to list all benefits and costs of driving compared to the alternative of flying. Here we'll express these benefits and costs comparatively, which means the benefits of driving compared to flying and the costs of driving compared to flying. We'll need to translate those benefits and costs into a common unit of measurement.

From a benefit perspective, driving saves you \$100—the difference between driving direct costs of \$200 and a plane ticket of \$300. We sometimes refer to these direct costs as "out-of-pocket" costs. But out-of-pocket costs aren't the only thing to consider. Driving also costs you an extra 40 hours of time—the difference between 50 hours of round-trip driving time and about 10 hours of round-trip airport/flying time. Spending 40 extra hours traveling is a *cost* of driving, even if it isn't a direct out-of-pocket cost.

We're now ready to decide whether it is optimal to drive or fly to Florida. We need to express all benefits and costs in common units, which will be dollars for our example. Recall that driving will take an additional 40 hours of travel time. To complete the analysis, we must translate this time cost into dollars. To make this translation, we will use a \$13 per hour opportunity cost of time. The net benefit of driving compared to flying is the *benefit* of driving (saving \$100 in out-of-pocket costs) minus the *cost* of driving (40 additional hours of your time):

 $(\$100 \text{ reduction in out-of-pocket costs}) - (40 \text{ hours of additional travel time}) \times (\$13/\text{hour})$ = \$100 - \$520 = -\$420.

Hence, the net benefit of driving is overwhelmingly negative. Using the numbers in this example, an optimizer would choose to fly.

This analysis about travel to Miami is a simple example of cost-benefit analysis, which is a great tool for collapsing all sorts of things down to a single number: a dollardenominated net benefit. This course will guide you in making such calculations. When you are making almost any choice, cost-benefit analysis can help.

To an economist, cost-benefit analysis is an example of optimization. When you pick the option with the greatest net benefits, you are optimizing. Cost-benefit analysis is useful for

**Cost-benefit analysis** is a calculation that identifies the best alternative, by summing benefits and subtracting costs, with both benefits and costs denominated in a common unit of measurement, like dollars.

**Net benefit** is the sum of the benefits of choosing an alternative minus the sum of the costs of choosing that alternative.

1.1

*normative* economic analysis. It enables an economist to determine what an individual or a society should do. Cost-benefit analysis also yields many useful positive economic insights. In many cases, cost-benefit analysis correctly predicts the choices made by actual consumers.

We'll see hundreds of examples of optimization throughout this course. Moreover, we dedicate a whole chapter to optimization (Chapter 3) to give you a more complete ground-ing in this foundational principle of economics.

### **EVIDENCE-BASED**

### ECONOMICS

**Q: Is Facebook free?** 

e can now turn to the question posed at the beginning of the chapter. By now you know that Facebook has an opportunity cost—the best alternative use of your time. We now estimate this cost. To do this, we're going to need some data. Whenever you see a section in this textbook titled "Evidence-Based Economics," you'll know that we are using data to analyze an economic question.

U.S. adults are estimated to spend 56 minutes per day on social media platforms in 2019, which includes sites like Facebook, TikTok, Instagram, Snapchat, Twitter, Pinterest, Tumblr, and LinkedIn.<sup>4</sup> To simplify our calculation, let's round this up to 1 hour per day. Even if we pick a relatively conservative opportunity cost of time of \$13/hour, this amounts to \$4,745 per year per U.S. adult:

 $(1 \text{ hour/day}) \times (365 \text{ days/year}) \times (\$13/\text{hour}) = \$4,745 \text{ per year.}$ 

In 2019, there were 254 million adults (ages 18 and older) in the United States, so the opportunity cost of social media use among U.S. adults was at least

 $($4,745/adult) \times (254 \text{ million adults}) = $1.2 \text{ trillion per year.}$ 

We can also think about this calculation another way. If U.S. adults had substituted their time on social media for work with average pay of \$13 per hour, the U.S. economy would have produced about \$1.2 trillion more measured output in 2019. This is more than the annual combined economic output of Austria and Sweden.

So far, we have gone through a purely positive economic analysis, describing the frequency of social media usage and the trade-offs that this usage implies. None of this analysis, however, answers the related question: Are Facebook and other social media users optimizing? We've seen that the time spent on sites like Facebook has valuable alternative uses (see Exhibit 1.3). But Facebook users are deriving substantial benefits that may justify this allocation of time. For example, social networking sites keep us up-to-date on the activities of our friends and family. They facilitate the formation of new friendships and new connections. And Facebook and similar sites are entertaining. Indeed, it is possible that we should spend more time on Facebook!

Because we cannot easily quantify these benefits, we're going to leave that judgment to you. Economists won't tell you what to do, but we will help you identify the tradeoffs that you are making in your decisions. Here is how an economist would summarize the prescriptive issues that are on the table:

Assuming a \$13/hour opportunity cost, the opportunity cost of using social media for an hour per day is \$4,745 per year. Do you receive benefits from Facebook that exceed this opportunity cost? If the annual benefits that you receive are less than \$4,745, you should scale down your Facebook usage.

Economists don't want to impose their tastes on other people. In the view of an economist, people who get big benefits from frequent use of Facebook should stay the course. However, we do want economic agents to recognize the implied trade-offs that are being made. Economists are interested in helping people make the best use of scarce resources 1.

### **EVIDENCE-BASED**

**ECONOMICS** 

(continued)

like budgets of money and leisure time. In many circumstances, people are already putting their resources to best use. Occasionally, however, economic reasoning can help people make better choices. In other words, economic reasoning can help you be a better optimizer.

|  | Cost per unit | Number of units | Total cost |
|--|---------------|-----------------|------------|
|  |               |                 |            |
| Starbucks cappuccino                   | \$4           | 52 cups         | \$208      |
| iPhone                                 | \$740         | 1               | \$740      |
| Round trip: NYC to Paris               | \$1,200       | 1               | \$1,200    |
| Hotel in Paris                         | \$275         | 5 nights        | \$1,375    |
| Round trip: NYC to U.S. Virgin Islands | \$300         | 1               | \$300      |
| Hotel in Virgin Islands                | \$180         | 5 nights        | \$900      |
| Eleven iPhone apps                     | \$2           | 11              | \$22       |
| Total                                  |               |                 | \$4,745    |

#### Exhibit 1.3 What Could You Buy with \$4,745?

Everyone would choose to spend \$4,745 in their own particular way. This list illustrates one feasible basket of goods and services. Note that this list includes just the monetary costs of these items. A complete economic analysis would also include the opportunity cost of the time that you would need to consume them.



Use the concepts presented in this feature by working through the Evidence-Based Economics Problems at the end of this chapter.

# **1.4 The Second Principle of Economics: Equilibrium**

In most economic situations, you aren't the only one trying to optimize. Other people's behavior will influence what you decide to do. Economists think of the world as a large number of economic agents who are interacting and influencing one another's efforts at optimization. Recall that *equilibrium* is the special situation in which everyone is trying to optimize, so nobody believes that they would benefit personally by changing his or her own behavior.

An important but subtle point is embedded in this definition. We say that in equilibrium, nobody *believes* he or she would benefit from changing their own behavior. In equilibrium, all economic agents are trying to make their best feasible choices, taking into account the information they have, including their beliefs about the behavior of others.

To build intuition for the concept of equilibrium, consider the length of the standard checkout lines at your local supermarket (ignore the express lines). If any line has a shorter wait than the others, optimizers will choose that line. If any line has a longer wait than the others, optimizers will avoid that line. So the short lines will attract shoppers, and the long lines will drive them away. And it's not just the length of the lines that matters. You may pick your line by estimating which line will move the fastest, an estimate that incorporates what you can see, including the number of items in each person's shopping cart. Sometimes, you might end up waiting longer because of twists you didn't anticipate: a customer who takes 5 minutes to find the right change, or someone with a sea of tiny items at the bottom of their cart. Still, economists say that "in equilibrium," all checkout lines will have roughly the same wait time. When the wait times are expected to be the same, no shopper has an incentive to switch lines. In other words, nobody believes that they will benefit by switching lines.

Here's another example. Suppose the market price of gasoline is \$2 per gallon and the gasoline market is in equilibrium. Three conditions will need to be satisfied:

- **1.** The amount of gasoline produced by gasoline sellers—energy companies—will equal the amount of gasoline purchased by buyers.
- **2.** Energy companies will only operate wells where they can extract crude oil and produce gasoline at a cost that is less than the market price of gasoline: \$2 per gallon.
- **3.** The buyers of gasoline will only use it for activities that are worth at least \$2 per gallon—like driving to their best friend's wedding—and they won't use it for activities that are worth less than \$2 per gallon.

In equilibrium, both the sellers and the buyers of gasoline are optimizing, given the market price of gasoline. Nobody would benefit by changing their own behavior. (We'll



In equilibrium

Out of equilibrium

In equilibrium, everyone is simultaneously optimizing, so nobody would benefit by changing his or her own behavior.

.3

1.4



A free rider in the New York subway system. Are you paying for this person to ride the subway?

have much more to say about this example of equilibrium analysis in Chapter 4.)

Notice that we've started to think about what happens when many economic agents interact. This could be two chess players, thirty participants in an eBay auction, hundreds of millions of investors buying and selling shares on the New York Stock Exchange, or billions of households buying gasoline to fuel their tractors, trucks, mopeds, motorcycles, and cars. In all these cases, we assume that everyone is constantly simultaneously optimizing—for instance, at every move in a chess game and during every trade on the New York Stock Exchange. Combined, these choices produce an equilibrium—and economists believe that this kind of equilibrium analysis provides a good description of what actually happens when many people interact.

#### The Free-Rider Problem

Let's use the concept of equilibrium to analyze an economic problem that may interest you: roommates. Assume that five roommates live in a rented house. Each roommate can spend some of their time contributing to the general well-being of all the roommates by throwing away empty pizza boxes and soda cans. Or each roommate can spend all their time on activities that only benefit themselves—for instance, watching TikTok videos or listening to Spotify.

Imagine that one roommate hates the mess and starts spending time cleaning up the kitchen. Although the other roommates appreciate it, they may have no incentive to chip in. If the public-spirited roommate spends 30 minutes doing the dishes, all the other roommates benefit without having to lift a finger. It would be beneficial to each of the roommates if everyone chipped in and did a little cleaning. But each

of the five roommates has an incentive to leave that to others. Consequently, rentals with lots of roommates are often a mess. The *equilibrium* prediction is that when people live in large rooming groups, they will have messier apartments than if the same people each had their own apartment.

Roommates who leave the cleaning to others are an example of something that economists call the *free-rider problem*. Most people want to let someone else do the dirty work. We would like to be the free riders who don't contribute but still benefit from the work done by others.

Sometimes free riders get away with it. When there are few free riders and lots of contributors, the free riders might be overlooked. For example, a small number of people sneak onto public transportation without paying. These turnstile jumpers are so rare that they don't jeopardize the subway system. But if everyone started jumping turnstiles, the subway would soon run out of cash. Indeed, that is happening more and more often in New York City. The government agency that oversees New York City's mass transit system released a report in December 2018 estimating that *each day*, 208,000 people take the subway without paying and 350,000 people take the bus without paying.<sup>5</sup> You can see videos capturing New Yorkers in the act.<sup>6</sup>

In the subway system, free riding is discouraged by security patrols. In rooming groups, free riding is discouraged by social pressure. Free riding is a problem because it's not easy to catch the free rider in the act. It's possible to slip over a turnstile in a subway station. It's easy to leave crumbs on the couch when nobody is watching.

People's private benefits are sometimes out of sync with the public interest. Equilibrium analysis helps us predict the behavior of interacting economic agents and understand why free riding occurs. People sometimes pursue their own private interests and don't contribute voluntarily to the public interest. Unfortunately, selfless acts—like those of a war hero—are exceptional, and selfish acts are more common. When people interact, each individual might do what's best for themselves instead of acting in a way that optimizes the well-being of society.

Equilibrium analysis helps us design special institutions—like financial contracts—that reduce or even eliminate free riding. For example, what would happen in the rooming

group if everyone agreed to pay \$5 per week so the roommates could hire a cleaning service? It would be easier to enforce \$5 weekly payments than to monitor compliance with the rule "clean up after yourself, even when nobody is here to watch you." Pizza crumbs don't have identity tags. So equilibrium analysis explains both why individuals sometimes fail to serve the interest of society and how the incentive structure can be redesigned to fix these problems.

# **1.5 The Third Principle of Economics:** Empiricism

Economists test their ideas with data. We refer to such evidence-based analysis as empirical analysis or *empiricism*. Economists use data to determine whether our theories about human behavior—like optimization and equilibrium—match up with actual human behavior. Of course, we want to know if our theories fail to explain what is happening in the world. In that case, we need to go back to the drawing board and come up with better theories. That is how economic science, and science in general, progresses.

Economists are also interested in understanding what is *causing* things to happen in the world. We can illustrate what causation is—and is not—with a simple example. Hot days and crowded beaches tend to occur at the same time of the year. What is the cause and what is the effect here? It is, of course, that high temperatures cause people to go swimming. It is not that swimming causes the outside air temperature to rise.

But there are some cases when cause and effect are hard to untangle. Does being relatively smart cause people to go to college, or does going to college cause people to be relatively smart? Perhaps both directions of causation apply. Or perhaps some other factor plays the causal role—for instance, a love for reading might cause people to become smarter *and* cause them to go to college.

We'll come back to the topic of empiricism in general, and causality in particular, in great detail in Chapter 2. Sometimes causes are easy to determine, but sometimes identifying cause and effect requires great ingenuity.

# **1.6 Is Economics Good for You?**

Should you take this course? Cost-benefit analysis can help you think about this question.

Let's begin by assuming that you've already chosen to go to college. So we can assume that tuition costs and room and board are *sunk costs* (they won't be affected by your decision to take economics). With those costs accounted for, are there any other costs associated with this course? The key opportunity cost of this course is another course that you won't be able to take during your time spent as a student. What other course did economics crowd out? Japanese history? Biochemistry? Russian poetry? If you are taking the two-semester version of this course, then you need to consider the *two* other courses that economics is crowding out.

Learning how to make good choices is the biggest benefit you'll realize from learning economics. Now consider the benefits of an economics education. The benefits come in a few different forms, but the biggest benefit is the ability to apply economic reasoning in your daily life. Whether you are deciding how to keep an apartment clean with four other roommates or deciding how to use your free time, economic reasoning will improve the quality of your decisions. These benefits will continue throughout your life as

you make important decisions, such as where to invest your retirement savings and how to choose a house to buy.

Most decisions are guided by the logic of costs and benefits. Accordingly, you can use positive economic analysis to predict *other* people's behavior. Economics illuminates and clarifies human behavior.

We also want you to use economic principles when you give other people advice and when you make your own choices. This is normative economics. Learning how to make good choices is the biggest benefit you'll realize from learning economics. That's why we have built our book around the concept of decision making. Looking at the world through the economic lens puts you at an enormous advantage throughout your life.

We also think that economics is a lot of fun. Understanding people's motivations is fascinating, particularly because there are many surprising insights along the way.

To realize these payoffs, you'll need to connect the ideas in this textbook to the economic activities around you. To make those connections, keep a few tips in mind:

- You can apply economic tools, such as trade-offs and cost-benefit analysis, to any economic decision, so learn to use them in your own daily decisions. This will help you master the tools and also appreciate their limitations.
- Even if you are not in the midst of making a decision, you will learn a lot of economics by keeping your eyes open when you walk through any environment in which people are using or exchanging resources. Think like an economist the next time you find yourself in a supermarket or at a used-car dealership, a poker game, or a soccer match. For example, why is it an equilibrium for a soccer player to randomize the side of the goal into which they launch a penalty kick? Why is it an equilibrium for the goal keeper to randomize the side of the goal that they jump to when the penalty kick occurs? (*Hint:* What would happen if the penalty kicker predictably kicked in one direction?)
- The easiest way to encounter economic ideas is to keep up with what's happening in the world. Go online and read a newspaper with excellent economics coverage like the *New York Times, The Wall Street Journal,* or the *Financial Times*. News magazines will also do the job. There's even a news magazine called *The Economist,* which is required reading for prime ministers and presidents. However, you don't need to read *The Economist to learn about economics.* Almost every page of any magazine—including *People, Sports Illustrated,* and *Vogue*—describes events driven by economic factors. Identifying and understanding these forces will be a challenge. Over time, though, you'll find that it gets easy to recognize and interpret the economic story behind every headline.

Once you realize that you are constantly making economic choices, you'll understand that this course is only a first step. You'll discover the most important applications outside class and after the final exam. The tools of economics will improve your performance in all kinds of situations—making you a better businessperson, a better consumer, and a better citizen. Keep your eyes open and remember that every choice is economics in action.

### Summary

- Economics is the study of how agents choose to allocate scarce resources and how those choices affect society. Economics can be divided into two kinds of analysis: positive economic analysis (what people actually do) and normative economic analysis (what people ought to do). There are two key topics in economics: microeconomics (individual decisions and individual markets) and macroeconomics (the total economy).
- Economics is based on three key principles: optimization, equilibrium, and empiricism.
- Trying to choose the best feasible option, given the available information, is called optimization. To optimize, an economic agent needs to consider many issues, including trade-offs, budget constraints, opportunity costs, and cost-benefit analysis.
- Equilibrium is a situation in which nobody believes they would benefit personally by changing their own behavior, given their beliefs about the choices of others. In equilibrium, everyone is simultaneously optimizing.
- Economists test their ideas with data. We call such evidence-based analysis empirical analysis or empiricism. Economists use data to determine whether our theories about human behavior—like optimization and equilibrium—match actual human behavior. Economists also use data to determine what is causing things to happen in the world.



economic agent *p. 37* scarce resources *p. 38* scarcity *p. 38* economics *p. 38* positive economics *p. 39* normative economics *p. 39*  microeconomics p. 40 macroeconomics p. 40 optimization p. 41 equilibrium p. 41 empiricism p. 41 trade-off p. 42 budget constraint *p*. 42 opportunity cost *p*. 43 cost-benefit analysis *p*. 44 net benefit *p*. 44

### **Questions**

- **1.** Give examples to explain how economic analysis can be positive and normative.
- **2.** Economists think of almost all human behavior as the outcome of choices. Do you agree with this statement? Based on your reading of the chapter, how would you define economics?
- **3.** Examine the following statements and determine if they are examples of normative economics or positive economics. Explain your answer.
  - **a.** According to the World Economic Outlook Update released by the International Monetary Fund in January 2021, the global economy is projected to grow 5.5 percent in 2021 and 4.2 percent in 2022.
  - **b.** According to an article published in the European Central Bank (ECB) *Economic Bulletin* in January 2021, government spending on investment should be a priority during the interim phase in the run-up to the economic recovery in the euro area.
- **4.** How does microeconomics differ from macroeconomics? Would the sales of iPhones in China be studied under microeconomics or macroeconomics? What about the growth rate of *total* economic output in China?
- **5.** Why do economic agents have to make trade-offs on any given day of their lives? What kind of non-monetary budget constraints do agents face?
- 6. This chapter introduced the idea of opportunity cost.
  - **a.** What is meant by opportunity cost?
  - **b.** What is the opportunity cost of taking a year after graduating from high school and backpacking across Europe? Are people who do this being irrational?

- 7. Suppose you wish to take out a mortgage to buy a new house for your family. However, the houses you like exceed your budget. You are considering three options: choose a neighborhood that is less fashionable and, therefore, the prices are lower; take out a mortgage with a longer maturity period; or instead of buying a house, buy a larger apartment in your current neighborhood. How would you evaluate these options and choose the optimal one?
- 8. Suppose the market price of the latest model of iPhone is €759 in Germany. What are the three conditions that will need to be satisfied for the iPhone market to be in equilibrium at this price?
- 9. Suppose you are living in a housing project that has 100 apartments. The housing project has its own garden, swimming pool, library, and community center. To be able to utilize the available amenities, residents must contribute €50 a month towards the upkeep while also taking turns keep it clean. In this context, answer the following questions.
  - **a.** What is meant by free riding?
  - **b.** How would you define a free-riding resident? Why would it be a problem for the housing project?
- **10.** "Scarcity exists because people have unlimited wants in a world of limited resources." Explain this statement using a real-life example.
- **11.** Identify the cause and the effect in the following phenomena in a hypothetical country:
  - **a.** A surge in the price of goods and an increase in the workers' income.
  - **b.** A rise in GDP and an increase in the number of university graduates.

### **Evidence-Based Economics Problems**

- 1. Estimate the opportunity cost of going to see a movie in a movie theater. Express this opportunity cost in dollars. *Hint:* Think about both the out-of-pocket cost (i.e., the price of the ticket) and the indirect cost (the value of your time).
- **2.** Estimate the opportunity cost for a hypothetical student to spend one year in college. Express this opportunity

cost in dollars. Assume that the student spends T in tuition and R in room and board. Estimate the value of the student's time spent studying during a typical academic year, which is the indirect cost of going to college.

**3.** Estimate how many hours you spend on social media each year. Now estimate the opportunity cost of this time in dollars.

### **Problems**

- 1. You have purchased a non-refundable ticket to the Maldives with an early morning departure scheduled for Saturday. You receive a call notifying you about an interview for a job that may be scheduled around the same time. While you really wanted this job, you think that going on the trip is more important for your mental well-being as you have been planning this trip for a year now.
  - **a.** The human resources department from the company you applied to informs you that there is only one slot available for the interview, which clashes with your flight. Should this affect your decision to go on the trip? Explain by using the term "opportunity cost."
  - **b.** Suppose instead that you realize that the nonrefundable travel ticket, which you already purchased, cost you €100; previously you had mistakenly believed the price was €250. Should learning this information affect your decision to go to the Maldives trip?
- 2. You are thinking about buying a house in London. You find one you like that costs £1,000,000. You learn that, based on the value of the house and your wages, your bank will give you a mortgage for 20 years in the region of £600,000. This means that you must make a down payment of £400,000. What are some of the monetary and non-monetary opportunity costs of this purchase?
- **3.** Your local coffee shop used to be the best in the neighborhood; however, due to a recent change in ownership the quality of the service and products offered has been steadily decreasing. Nevertheless, you have some fond memories of the place and it is also quite conveniently located—on the way to the train station that you use to get to work.
  - **a.** What is the opportunity cost of searching for a new coffee shop?
  - **b.** You have found a new coffee shop, but to get there you have to take a longer route to the train station. How would you determine, every morning, which coffee shop to visit? The old one or the new one?
- **4.** You are watching your weight, and you have decided that you are going to consume 800 calories of pizza and cheeseburgers at a party Saturday night. A slice of pizza has 200 calories, and a cheeseburger has 400 calories.
  - **a.** Create a table that shows the various combinations of pizza slices and cheeseburgers you can consume while staying within your 800-calorie "budget." To keep things simple, use only round numbers for pizza slices and cheeseburgers (e.g., don't worry about half portions).
  - **b.** Under these assumptions, what is the opportunity cost of a cheeseburger?
- **5.** Consider the following three statements:
  - **a.** You are planning a conference in St. Petersburg, Russia, and your closing gala will be on a cruise boat

in November. Do you think hosting the event on a boat is a rational choice?

- **b.** You have to reach the airport during rush hour to catch your flight to St. Petersburg. You have two options: take the underground or take a taxi. Although you have an hour to get there, traffic most of the time is heavy during rush hour. Which option would be the rational choice?
- **c.** Suppose you decided to take a taxi to the airport and made it to the airport in time. Once you landed in St. Petersburg, you noticed that the temperature was surprisingly mild, making the cruise boat experience comfortable. Do these outcomes mean that the decisions to host an event on a cruise boat in November and take a taxi to the airport were rational?
- 6. Consider the following three statements:
  - **a.** Your friends are coming over for lunch and you realize you have forgotten to get groceries. You go to the local market, where there are about 50 stalls. You are in a hurry, so you decide to do all of your shopping at the first two stalls.
  - **b.** You find a stall that sells good quality vegetables and fruit. However, you do not have enough money on you. You start to haggle and agree on a 15 percent discount for the products you are buying.
  - **c.** Despite being in a hurry, you now decide to go around the market to check the prices and quality at all stalls.

Which of these statements deals with optimization, which deals with equilibrium, and which deals with empiricism? Explain.

- 7. In 2014, California was in its third year of a major drought. With water supplies dwindling, Governor Brown issued a plea for a voluntary 20 percent reduction in water use. This target was not reached. In early 2015, Governor Brown issued an executive order requiring local water agencies to reduce water use by 25 percent, but no enforcement mechanism was specified. No taxes or fines were in the executive order. State officials hoped that they could achieve compliance without resorting to fines.<sup>7</sup>
  - **a.** From an individual homeowner's perspective, what are the costs and benefits of using water during a drought? Why do you think that the voluntary reduction order in 2014 didn't work?
  - **b.** Using concepts from this chapter, explain how you might get individual homeowners to reduce water use during a drought.
  - **c.** Eventually, many communities began levying fines on water use. However, while many middle-income families dramatically cut water use, wealthy households cut back their water use relatively little.<sup>8</sup> How can you explain this phenomenon from an economic perspective?

- **8.** Use the concepts discussed in this chapter to answer the following problems:
  - **a.** Oskar is about to join a new factory where he has the option of joining a trade union. Being a part of the trade union means that he will have to pay 5 percent of his wages to the union. Why do you think some workers decide not to join a trade union?
  - **b.** You are living in a semi-detached house with a common garden. This means that both families living in the house can use it while being jointly responsible for its maintenance and upkeep. However, you decide that you cannot spare any time to maintain the garden. How can the other family get you to do your share of the maintenance?
- **9.** It is the night before your trip to Spain and you must decide how many hours to spend on expanding your vocabulary. The total benefits column shows how many more Spanish words you expect to learn. The cost column shows how many Spanish words you will mispronounce because of the increased fast learning. (The "marginal"

columns show the effect of each additional hour spent studying. These marginal numbers are calculated by taking the difference within a column from one row to the next row.)

| Hours<br>Spent<br>Learning | Total<br>Benefit | Marginal<br>Benefit | Total<br>Cost | Marginal<br>Cost |
|----------------------------|------------------|---------------------|---------------|------------------|
| 0                          | 0                | _                   | 0             | _                |
| 1                          | 8                | 8                   | 0             | 0                |
| 2                          | 13               | 5                   | 2             | 2                |
| 3                          | 16               | 3                   | 6             | 4                |
| 4                          | 16               | 0                   | 12            | 6                |

**a.** If you study in an optimal way, how many more Spanish words will you learn?

**b.** Explain how you can find the optimal number of hours by using the marginal benefits and marginal costs columns.

# Economic Science: Using Data and Models to Understand the World



# Is college worth it?

There is a good chance that you are either in college or thinking about taking the plunge. As you know, college is a big investment. During the 2019–2020 academic year, annual tuition (not counting room and board) averaged \$3,730 for community colleges, \$10,440 for in-state public colleges, \$26,820 for out-of-state public colleges, and \$36,880 for nonprofit private colleges.<sup>1</sup> And that's not the only cost. Your time, as we have seen, is worth \$13 or more per hour—this time value adds at least \$20,000 per year to the opportunity cost of a college education.

Why sit in class, then, if you could travel the world or earn money at a job? As with any other investment, you'd like to know how a college education is going to pay you back. What is the "return to education," and how would you measure it? We'll discuss recent research about the effect of college and mandatory schooling laws on wages in this chapter's Evidence-Based Economics feature. In this chapter, you'll see that you can answer such questions with data and models, the key tools that economists use to understand the world.

### CHAPTER OUTLINE

2

#### 2.1

The Scientific Method EBE How much more does a worker with a 4-year college degree earn compared to a worker

with a high school

degree?

### 2.2

Causation and Correlation

#### EBE

What is the return to education?

Economic Questions and Answers

# **KEY** IDEAS

- A model is a simplified description of reality.
- Economists use data to evaluate the accuracy of models and understand how the world works.
- Correlation does not imply causality.
- Experiments help economists measure cause and effect.
- Economic research focuses on questions that are important to society and can be answered with models and data.

# **2.1 The Scientific Method**

In Chapter 1, we explained the concepts of optimization and equilibrium, the first two principles of economics. Now we explain how economists put these two principles into practice and how you can, too.

Economics is a science. Like other scientists, economists explain data using scientific principles. For example, an astronomer might be interested in data about the changing location of Mars in the night sky as observed over many centuries. The scientific principle that is used to explain that data is the planet's gravitationally curved trajectory around another, much more massive astronomical body (our solar system's sun). Once you have an accurate model of Mars's orbit, you can both explain historical observations of the planet's location and accurately predict where it will be in the future. If you want to land autonomous vehicles—and one day a human settlement—on Mars, you'll need an accurate prediction of Mars's future location. Astronomers can tell us exactly where Mars will be millions of years in the future.

Economists are also trying to explain the past and predict the future. The *choices* that people make are the data we use. Economists explain this kind of data with our two core scientific principles: optimization and equilibrium. Gathering data and using it to understand the

world is called empiricism, which is the third key principle of economics.

Empiricism—using data to analyze the world—is at the heart of all scientific analysis. The **scientific method** is the name for the ongoing process that economists, other social scientists, and natural scientists use to:

- 1. Develop models of the world
- 2. Evaluate those models by testing them with data

Testing models with data enables economists to separate the good models—those that make predictions that are mostly consistent with the data—from the bad models. When a model is overwhelmingly inconsistent with the data, economists try to fix the model or replace it altogether. By cycling through the two steps—developing models and then testing them—economists can move toward models that better explain the past and even predict the future.

For example, we'd like to know how going to college will improve a student's subsequent earnings in the labor market. To take another example, we'd like to know how raising the wages of Lyft drivers will affect the market share and profitability of that ride-sharing company. We would also like to know how an increase in the tax on

The **scientific method** is the name for the ongoing process that economists and other scientists use to (1) develop models of the world and (2) evaluate those models by testing them with data.



Astronomers use historical data on Mars's location in the sky to predict its future location, facilitating space travel and other forms of scientific inquiry. Economists use data on people's historical choices to predict their future choices, enabling households, businesses, and governments to foresee and plan for the future. gasoline will affect gasoline purchases and, ultimately, emissions of greenhouse gases. As you'll see, empirical analysis enables us to answer these questions, along with myriad others that are relevant for households, businesses, governments, and society more generally.

Given the complexity of the world, we do not expect the scientific method to generate a perfect model of economic behavior-we'll never be able to precisely predict our economic future. However, economists do expect to identify models that are useful for understanding the data that we have already observed and to partially predict the future. In this section, we explain what a model is and how it can be tested with data.

### **Models and Data**

Before the discoveries of the ancient Greek philosophers, everyone believed that the earth was flat. We now know that it is more like a beach ball than a Frisbee. Yet a flat-earth model is still actively used. Ask for directions from Google Maps, and you'll be using maps of a flattened planet.

Flat maps and spherical globes are both models of the surface of the earth. A model is a simplified description of reality. Sometimes economists will refer to a model as a *theory*. These terms are usually used interchangeably.

Because models are simplified, they are not perfect replicas of reality. Obviously, flat maps are not perfectly accurate models of the surface of the earth—they distort the curvature. If you are flying from New York to Tokyo, the curvature matters (see Exhibit 2.1). But if you are touring around New York City, you don't need to worry about the fact that the earth is shaped like a sphere (see Exhibit 2.2).

> lyzing the problem at hand. Even if a model/map is based on assumptions that are known to be false, like the flatness of the earth, the model may still help us to make good predictions and good plans for the future. It is more important for a model to be simple and useful than it is for the

> Scientists-and commuters-use the model that is best suited to anamodel to be a perfect replica of the world.



#### A model is a simplified description of reality. Sometimes economists will refer to a model as a theory. These terms are usually used interchangeably.

Flat Map

navigation).

Scientific models are used to make predictions that can be checked with empirical evidence.



#### Exhibit 2.2 New York City Subway Map

This is a model of the subway system in New York City. It is highly simplified—for example, it treats New York City as a perfectly flat surface, and it also distorts the shape of the city—but it is nevertheless very useful for commuters and tourists.



**Empirical evidence** consists of facts that are obtained through observation and measurement. Empirical evidence is also called **data**.

**Hypotheses** are predictions (typically generated by a model) that can be tested with data.

Scientific models are used to make predictions that can be checked with **empirical evidence**—in other words, facts that are obtained through observation and measurement. We also refer to empirical evidence as **data**. Recall from Chapter 1 that economists often describe themselves as empiricists, or say that we practice empiricism, because we use empirical evidence. Empiricists use data to answer questions about the world and to test models. For example, we could test the New York City subway map by actually riding the subway and checking the map's accuracy.

When conducting empirical analyses, economists refer to a model's predictions as **hypotheses**. Whenever such hypotheses are contradicted by the available data, economists return to the drawing board and try to come up with a better model that yields new hypotheses.

During the COVID-19 crisis that started in late 2019, scientists from Imperial College London developed an epidemiological model that had a large impact on public health policies. Using a few characteristics of the pandemic derived from empirical evidence—such as an estimated fatality rate of 0.9 percent among those infected—the scientists' developed a model of viral transmission that predicted 510,000 deaths in Great Britain and 2.2 million deaths in the United States *if* no action were taken to suppress the pandemic.<sup>2</sup> This model also projected that the number of deaths would be substantially lowered using public health policies such as social distancing. These policies were predicted to slow the spread of the virus and prevent medical systems from being overwhelmed with patients.

The model's key prediction, and the scientists' main hypothesis, was that social distancing would substantially reduce transmission of COVID-19. The Imperial College model was useful as a forecasting tool, and it spurred the adoption of stronger social distancing interventions, such as shelter-in-place policies, which did significantly slow the spread of the virus and also reduced the number of fatalities.<sup>3</sup>

### **An Economic Model**

Let's consider an example of an economic model. We're going to study an extremely simple model to get the ball rolling. But even economic models that are far more complicated than this example are also simplified descriptions of reality.

All models begin with assumptions. Consider the following assumption about the return to education: *each additional year of education causes your future wages to rise by* 

*10 percent.* Let's put the assumption to work to generate a model that relates a person's level of education to her wages.

Increasing a wage by 10 percent is the same as multiplying the wage by (1 + 0.10) = 1.10. Thus, the return-to-education assumption implies that someone with an extra year of education earns 1.10 times as much as she would have earned without the extra year of education. For example, if someone earns \$15 per hour with 13 years of education, then we predict that a 14th year of education will cause her hourly wage to rise to  $1.10 \times $15$ , or \$16.50.

Economists use assumptions to derive other implications. For example, the return-toeducation assumption implies that 2 additional years of education will increase earnings by 10 percent twice over—once for each extra year of education—producing a 21 percent total increase:

$$1.10 \times 1.10 = 1.21$$

Likewise, four additional years of education will increase earnings by 10 percent four times over, implying a 46 percent total increase:

 $1.10 \times 1.10 \times 1.10 \times 1.10 = (1.10)^4 = 1.46.$ 

This implies that going to college would increase a college graduate's income by 46 percent compared to what she would have been paid if she had ended her education after finishing high school. In other words, a prediction—or hypothesis—of the model is that college graduates will earn 46 percent more than high school graduates.

In principle, we can apply this analysis to any number of years of education. We therefore have a general model that relates people's educational attainment to their income. The model that we have derived is referred to as the return-to-education model. It describes the economic payoff of more education—in other words, the return on your educational investment. Most economic models are much, much more complex than this. In some economic models, it takes pages of mathematical analysis to derive the implications of the assumptions. Nevertheless, this simple model is a good starting point for our discussion. It illustrates two important properties of all models.

First, economists know that *a model is only an approximation* and accordingly understand that the model is not exactly correct. Taken literally, the model implies that each person would increase their future wages by exactly 10 percent if they obtained an extra year of education, but this precise prediction is false. For example, the final year of college does much more to increase your wages than the second-to-last year of college because that final year earns you the official degree, which is a key line on your resume. Likewise, your college major importantly impacts how much you will earn after college. Those who major in economics, for example, tend to earn more than graduates in most other majors. Our simple model overlooks such distinctions. Just as a flat subway map is only an approximation of the features of a city, the return-to-education model is only an approximation of the mapping from years of education to wages. The model's predicted relationship between education and wages is a simplification that overlooks lots of special considerations.

Second, a model makes predictions that can be tested with data—in this case, data on people's education and earnings. We are now ready to use some data to actually evaluate the predictions of the return-to-education model.

## **EVIDENCE-BASED**

ECONOMICS

# Q: How much more does a worker with a 4-year college degree earn compared to a worker with a high school degree?

o put the model to the test we need data, which we obtain from the Current Population Survey, a U.S. government data source. This survey collects anonymized data on earnings, education, and many other characteristics of the general population and is available to anyone who wants to use it. When data are available to the general public, they are called "public-use data."



Exhibit 2.3 summarizes the average annual earnings for our test. The exhibit shows that full-time U.S. workers who are 25-34 years old and have a high school diploma (and no more education) had median annual earnings of \$35,620 in 2018. The exhibit also shows that full-time U.S. workers who are 25-34 years old and have a 4-year college degree (and no more education) had median annual earnings of \$55.660 in 2018.

If we divide these two medians—earnings for college-educated workers divided by earnings for high school educated workers—the ratio is 1.56, implying a 56 percent difference in earnings:

Median annual earning of 25- to 34-year-old workers with 16 year of education \$55,660 = 1.56Median annual earning of 25- to 34-year-old workers with 12 year of education \$35,620

> Recall that the return-to-education model says that each additional year of education raises the wage by 10 percent, so 4 extra years of education should raise the wage by a factor of  $(1.10)^4 = 1.46$ . We can see that the model does not closely match the data but is in the right ballpark. Going from 12 years of education to 16 years is associated with a 56 percent difference in earnings, which is higher than the model's predicted increase of 46 percent.



degree earn compared to a worker with a high school degree?



Population Survey for full-time workers ages 25–34.<sup>4</sup> Exhibit 2.3 compares median annual earnings for each education group.



individual's experience might differ

Use the concepts presented in this feature by working through the Evidence-Based Economic Problem at the end of this chapter.

#### **Means and Medians**

You may wonder how the data from the Current Population Survey were used to calculate the earnings reported above. We used the concept of the **median**, which is the "middle" value of a group of numbers. Specifically, the **median** value is calculated by ordering the numbers from least to greatest and then finding the value halfway through the list.

We can show how the median is calculated with a simple example. Say that there are five people: Mr. Kwon, Ms. Littleton, Mr. Locke, Ms. Reye, and Ms. Shephard, each with a different hourly wage:

Kwon = \$26 per hour, Littleton = \$24 per hour, Locke = \$8 per hour, Reye = \$35 per hour, Shephard = \$57 per hour.

Recall that the **median** value is calculated by ordering the numbers from least to greatest and then finding the value halfway through the list. Ordering the data that we just described produces the list: \$8, \$24, \$26, \$35, \$57. The middle value—the median—is \$26. (When there are an even number of items in the list, the median is the midpoint between the two middle values. So the median of the numbers \$8, \$24, \$26, and \$35 is the midpoint between \$24 and \$26: \$25.)

Scientists also sometimes study the *mean*, or *average*. The **mean** (or **average**) is the sum of all the different values divided by the number of values. Statisticians and other scientists use the terms *mean* and *average* interchangeably.

For the preceding example, if we add the five wages together and divide by 5, we calculate a mean wage of \$30 per hour:

$$\frac{\$26 + \$24 + \$8 + \$35 + \$57}{5} = \$30$$

In review, the median is the value in the middle of an ordered group of numbers, and the mean is the average value of the group of numbers. When the group of numbers has one or more extreme values, the median and the mean pull apart. For example, suppose that Shephard is extremely highly paid—she might be a corporate lawyer—with an hourly wage of \$257 (instead of the original value of \$57 per hour). Then the group mean rises to \$70 per hour, but the median doesn't change at all: \$26 per hour is still the middle wage. Hence, the mean is affected by outliers, which are extreme numbers that are dissimilar to the rest of the numbers in the list, whereas the median is not affected by outliers.

This analysis of a small sample—only five people—illustrates the concepts of medians and means, but convincing data analysis in economics relies on using a large sample. For example, a typical economic research paper uses data gathered from thousands of people. When we showed in Exhibit 2.3 that higher levels of education are associated with higher levels of earnings, we didn't rely on a handful of *observations* (each piece of data is called an "observation"). Instead, we used data from 15,000 full-time workers randomly chosen from the U.S. population and surveyed by the Census Bureau. Using lots of observations strengthens the force of an empirical argument because a large sample of observations is likely to be representative of the underlying population from which the sample was drawn.

To show you how to make convincing empirical arguments, this book uses lots of real data from large groups of people. Credible empirical arguments, based on many observations, are a key component of the scientific method.

#### Argument by Anecdote

Education is not destiny. There are some people with lots of education who earn very little, and there are some people with little education who earn a lot. The second, fifth, and seventh richest people in the world didn't graduate from college: Bill Gates dropped out of Harvard to start Microsoft, Larry Ellison left two different universities before creating Oracle, and Mark Zuckerberg dropped out of Harvard to start Facebook.<sup>5</sup>

The **mean** (or **average**) is the sum of all the different values divided by the number of values.

The **median** value is calculated by ordering the numbers from least to

greatest and then finding the value

halfway through the list.

2.1

With these examples in mind, it might be tempting to conclude that dropping out of college is a great path to success. However, it is a mistake to use anecdotes, or any small sample of people, to try to judge a statistical relationship.

If you study two randomly chosen 30-year-olds, there is almost a one-third chance that the person with only a high school diploma has higher earnings than the one with a 4-year college degree. This fact highlights that there is much more than education that determines your earnings, although getting a college degree will usually help raise your earnings.

When you look at only a small amount of data, it is easy to jump to the wrong conclusion. Keep this warning in mind the next time a newspaper columnist tries to sway you with a few anecdotes. If the columnist backs up their story with data reflecting the experiences of thousands of people, then they have done their job and may deserve to win the argument. But if the columnist rests their case after sharing a handful of anecdotes, remain skeptical. Be doubly skeptical if you suspect that the anecdotes have been carefully selected to prove the columnist's point. Argument by anecdote should not be taken seriously.

There is one exception to this rule. Argument by example is appropriate when you are contradicting a *blanket* statement. For example, if someone asserts that every National Basketball Association (NBA) player has to be tall, just one counterexample is enough to prove this statement wrong. In this case, your proof would be Tyrone "Muggsy" Bogues, a 5-foot 3-inch (133-pound) dynamo who played point guard in the NBA for 15 seasons.

# **2.2** Causation and Correlation

Unfortunately, even analysis that relies on large data sets can be misleading. Consider our returnto-schooling example. Using our large data set on wages and years of education, we've seen that on average, wages rise roughly 10 percent for every year of additional education. Does that mean that staying in school one more year will cause *your* future wages to rise by 10 percent? Not necessarily. Let's use an example to think about why this is not always the case.

#### **The Red Ad Blues**

Imagine a department store has hired you as a consultant. You have developed a hypothesis about ad campaigns: you believe that campaigns using the color red are good at catching people's attention. To test your hypothesis, you assemble empirical evidence from historical ad campaigns, including the dominant color of the ad campaign and how revenue at the store changed during the campaign.

Your empirical research confirms your hypothesis! Sales go up 25 percent during campaigns with lots of red images and only 5 percent during campaigns with lots of blue images. You race to the chief executive officer (CEO) to report this remarkable result. You are a genius!

Unfortunately, the CEO instantly fires you. What did the CEO notice that you missed?

The red-themed campaigns were mostly concentrated during the Christmas season. The blue-themed campaigns were mostly spread out over the rest of the year. In the CEO's words, "The red colors in our advertising don't cause an increase in our revenue. Christmas causes an increase in our revenue. Christmas also causes an increase in the use of red in our ads. If we ran blue ads in December, our holiday season revenue would still rise by about 25 percent."

Unfortunately, this is actually a true story, though we've changed the details to protect our friends. We return, in the appendix, to a related story in which the CEO was not as sharp as the CEO in this story.

#### **Causation Versus Correlation**

As in the misguided ad analysis, people often mistake *correlation* for *causation*. **Causation** occurs when one thing directly affects another. You can think of causation as the path from cause to effect: turning on the stovetop burner *causes* the water in the kettle to boil.

Scientists refer to a changing factor or characteristic as a **variable**—for example, the temperature of water in a teakettle. Scientists say that causation occurs when one variable (for instance, the flow of natural gas burning on a stovetop) causes another variable (the temperature of water in a teakettle) to change.

**Causation** occurs when one thing directly affects another.

A **variable** is a changing factor or characteristic.





From cause to effect. The flame on the stove heats the water in the kettle, causing the water to boil and vaporize. The vaporizing water does *not* cause the flame to burn on the stovetop.

Does jogging cause people to be healthy? Does good health cause people to jog? In fact, both kinds of causation are simultaneously true.

# You can think of causation as the path from cause to effect.

**Correlation** means that two variables tend to change at the same time.

**Positive correlation** implies that two variables tend to move in the same direction.

**Negative correlation** implies that two variables tend to move in opposite directions.

When the variables have movements that are not related, we say that the variables have **zero correlation**.

**Correlation** means that two variables tend to change at the same time as one variable changes, the other changes as well. There is some kind of connection. It *might* be cause and effect, but correlation can also arise when causation is not present. For example, students who take music classes score better on their SATs than students who do not take music classes. Some

music educators have happily jumped to the conclusion that this relationship is causal: more music causes higher SAT scores.

But don't buy a clarinet for your younger sibling just yet. There is scant evidence of a causal relationship, and there are many alternative explanations for the correlation between music lessons and high SAT scores.

For example, the students who have music lessons tend to have wealthier parents who can pay for SAT tutors that raise their kids' SAT scores. In this scenario, the causal pathway is from wealth to SAT tutors to high SAT scores. Music lessons aren't causing high SAT scores. Parental wealth is causing music lessons, and parental wealth is also causing high SAT scores (through the tutor channel).

When two variables are correlated, it suggests that causation may be possible and that further investigation is warranted—but it's only the beginning of the analysis. Interestingly, when researchers have tried to document a *causal* link from music lessons to higher cognitive ability, they have almost always failed.<sup>6</sup> Accordingly, if a young trumpeter broke her finger and dropped out of music classes, this would not cause her future SAT scores to fall. To summarize, it does not appear that taking music lessons *causes* SAT scores to rise, even though music lessons and SAT scores are correlated.

Can you think of other situations in which correlation is confused with causality? Does being on a high school sports team cause you to be more successful in life (e.g., have a higher income at age 30)? Does smoking cigarettes at age 15 cause you to have a greater likelihood of later becoming addicted to illegal drugs? Are these causal relationships? Or are these only correlations?

Correlations are divided into three categories: *positive correlation, negative correlation,* and *zero correlation*. **Positive correlation** implies that two variables tend to move in the same direction—for example, surveys reveal that people who have a relatively high income are more likely to be married than people who have a relatively low income. In this situation, we say that the variables of income and marital status are positively correlated. **Negative correlation** implies that the two variables tend to move in opposite directions—for example, people with a high level of education are less likely to be unemployed. In this situation, we say that the variables of education and unemployment are negatively correlated. When two variables are not related, we say that they have a **zero correlation**. The number of friends you have has no relation to whether your address is on the odd or even side of the street.

An **omitted variable** is something that has been left out of a study that, if included, would explain why two variables that are in the study are correlated.

**Reverse causality** occurs when we mix up the direction of cause and effect. **When Correlation Does Not Imply Causality** There are two main reasons we should not jump to the conclusion that a correlation between two variables implies a particular causal relationship:

- 1. Omitted variables
- **2.** Reverse causality

An **omitted variable** is something that has been left out of a study that, if included, would explain why two variables are correlated. Recall that the amount of red content in the store's ads is positively correlated with the growth rate of their sales. However, the red color does not necessarily cause the store's sales to rise. The arrival of the Christmas season causes both the store's ads to be red and month-over-month sales revenue to rise. Thus, the Christmas season is an omitted variable that explains why red ads tend to occur at around the time that sales tend to rise. (See Exhibit 2.4.)

Is there also an omitted variable that explains why education and income are positively correlated? One possible factor might be an individual's tendency to work hard. What if workaholics tend to thrive in college classes more than other students? Perhaps pulling all-nighters to write term papers allows hard-working students to do well in their courses, encouraging them to stay in school. These same tendencies would also allow workaholics to earn more money than others—by staying late on the job, for example, or working on weekends. Does workaholism cause you to earn more and, incidentally, to graduate from college rather than drop out? Or does staying in college cause you to earn those higher wages? What is cause, and what is effect? We'll unravel this knot a bit later in this chapter.

**Reverse causality** is another problem that plagues our efforts to distinguish correlation and causation. Reverse causality occurs when we mix up the direction of cause and effect. For example, consider the fact that relatively wealthy people tend to be relatively healthy, too. This has led some social scientists to conclude that greater wealth causes better health—because, for instance, wealthy people can afford better healthcare. However, this could be a case of reverse causality: better health may cause greater wealth. For example, healthy people can work harder, can retire later in life, and have fewer healthcare expenditures than less healthy people. It turns out that both causal channels seem to exist: greater wealth causes better health, and better health causes greater wealth.

In our analysis of the return to education, could it be that reverse causality is at play? That is, could higher wages at age 30 cause you to get more education at age 20? We can logically rule this out. Assuming that you don't have a time machine, it is unlikely that your wage as a 30-year-old causes you to obtain more education in your 20s. So in the return-to-education example, reverse causality is probably not a problem. But in many other analyses—for example, the wealth-health relationship—reverse causality is a key consideration.

#### Exhibit 2.4 An Example of an Omitted Variable

The amount of red content in the store's ads is positively correlated with the growth of the store's revenue. In other words, when ads are red themed, the store's month-over-month sales revenue tends to grow the fastest. However, the redness does not cause the store's revenue to rise. The Christmas season causes the store's ads to be red, and the Christmas season also causes the store's sales revenue to rise. The Christmas season is the omitted variable that explains the positive correlation between red ads and month-over-month revenue growth.

Cause: Christmas





### Spend Now and Pay Later?

Two economists, Andrew Francis-Tan and Hugo Mialon, used U.S. survey data to calculate the empirical relationship between wedding spending and rates of divorce.<sup>7</sup> They found that more spending on a wedding ceremony or the engagement ring predicts a higher rate of divorce (holding other factors constant). For example, in their sample of recently married women whose weddings cost more than \$20,000, the annual likelihood of divorce is 3.5 times higher compared to women whose weddings cost between \$5,000 and \$10,000.

That's an intriguing piece of empirical evidence. Does this correlation prove that the key to a long marriage is a small wedding or, even better yet, an elopement? Does spending more on a wedding actually cause the couple to divorce? Or are there omitted variables at work? What omitted variables might cause people to have fancy weddings and also cause them to end up divorced? Vanity? Pride? Materialism?

Or perhaps expensive weddings create financial strains for the newlyweds, and these strains might cause divorce. So there *might* be a causal path from wedding expenses to divorce rates.

In fact, the authors of this paper aren't claiming to prove that expensive weddings cause divorce. They understand that correlation need not imply causation. With complex examples like this in mind, can we ever determine what is correlation and what is actually causation? Economists have developed a rich set of tools for identifying cause and effect. We turn to some of these tools next.



Do expensive weddings cause divorce? Or is something else going on?

An **experiment** is a controlled method of investigating causal relationships among variables.

**Randomization** is the assignment of subjects by chance, rather than by choice, to a treatment group or a control group.

#### **Experimental Economics and Natural Experiments**

One method of determining cause and effect is to run an **experiment**—a controlled method of investigating causal relationships among variables. Though you may not read much about economic experiments in the newspaper, headlines for experiments in medicine are common. For example, the Food and Drug Administration requires pharmaceutical companies to run carefully designed experiments to provide evidence that new vaccines work before they are approved for use by the general public. As we write this text, dozens of vaccines for COVID-19 are going through this rigorous process of testing in the hope that at least one will emerge as a success.

To run an experiment, researchers usually take a target population and divide it into a treatment (test) group and a control group. The treatment group is exposed to some novel experience—for example, they are given a newly developed vaccine that is being evaluated for its effectiveness and safety. By contrast, the control group doesn't get any unusual treatment—for example, the control group might receive a placebo vaccine—for example, a saline injection with no known medical benefit. Participants are assigned randomly to participate either as a member of the treatment group or as a member of the control group. **Randomization** is the assignment of subjects by chance, rather than by choice, to the treatment group or to the control group. The treatment group and the control group are treated identically, except along a single dimension that is intentionally varied across the two groups. Ultimately, the purpose of the experiment is to determine the impact of this variation.

If we want to know whether a promising new vaccine helps patients avoid COVID-19 infections, we could take 1,000 patients and randomly place 500 of them into a treatment group—those who receive the new vaccine. The other 500 patients would be in the control group and receive the placebo vaccine (the saline injection). Then we would follow all the patients and monitor their rate of infection with COVID-19. This experiment would test the causal hypothesis that the real vaccine is better than the saline injection at avoiding infections.

Now, consider an economics experiment. Suppose that we want to know what difference a college degree makes. We could take 1,000 high school students who cannot afford college but would like to attend college (if it were free) and randomly place 500 of them into a treatment group, where they had all their college expenses paid. The other 500 students would be placed in the control group. Then we would keep track of all the original 1,000 students—including the 500 control-group students who weren't able to go to college because they couldn't afford it. We would use periodic surveys during their adult lives to see how the wages in the group that got a college education compare with the wages of the group that did not attend college. This experiment would test the hypothesis that a college education causes wages to rise.

Experiments can sometimes be very costly to conduct. For instance, the collegeattendance experiment that we just described would cost tens of millions of dollars because the researchers would need to pay the college fees for 500 students.

Another problem is that experiments do not provide immediate answers to some important questions. For example, learning how more education affects wages over the *entire working life* would take many decades.

And yet another problem is that experiments are sometimes run poorly. For example, if medical researchers do not truly randomize the assignment of patients to medical treatments, then the experiment may not teach us anything at all. For instance, if patients who go to cutting-edge research hospitals tend to be the ones who get prescribed the new vaccine, then we cannot identify causation; we don't know whether it was the vaccine or something else at the leading medical centers that caused those patients to fare better during the pandemic. In a well-designed experiment, randomization alone would determine who got the new vaccine and who didn't.

When research is badly designed, economists are skeptical of its conclusions. We say "garbage in, garbage out" to capture the idea that bad research methods invalidate a study's conclusions.

If we don't have the budget or time to run an experiment or don't have the ability to truly randomize treatment, how else can we identify cause and effect? One approach is to study historical data generated by a natural experiment. A **natural experiment** is an empirical study in which some process—out of the control of the experimenter—has assigned subjects to control and treatment groups in a random or nearly random way.

In many situations, natural experiments are literally the only kind of experiment that we have from which to draw a conclusion. For instance, generals don't randomly choose villages on which to drop bombs—if they did, they would be court-martialed. But sometimes random factors cause some villages to be bombed and other villages to be spared. Melissa Dell, an economist who just won the highly prestigious Bates Clark Prize, has explored such a natural experiment to determine the effect of different bombing policies during the Vietnam War.<sup>8</sup> Most natural experiments are far less ethically complex. In a moment, we'll discuss a natural experiment—in this case, a change in mandatory education laws—that led some kids to get an extra year of education.

Economists have found and exploited natural experiments to answer numerous major questions. This methodology can be useful for providing a more definitive answer to our question at hand: What are you getting from your education?

## EVIDENCE-BASED EC

ECONOMICS

### Q: What is the return to education?

century ago, compulsory schooling laws were much more permissive, allowing teenagers to drop out well before they graduated from high school. Philip Oreopoulos studied a natural experiment that was created by a change in these compulsory schooling laws.<sup>9</sup> Before 1947, the United Kingdom allowed kids to drop out of school once they reached age 14. In 1947, the United Kingdom raised the bar by 1 year, requiring 14-year-old kids to stay in school until they turned 15. Before 1947, most kids in the United Kingdom dropped out at age 14. After 1947, almost nobody did.

A **natural experiment** is an empirical study in which some process—out of the control of the experimenter—has assigned subjects to control and treatment groups in a random or nearly random way.

### **EVIDENCE-BASED**

(continued)



In this natural experiment, those kids reaching age 14 in 1946 are a "control group" for those reaching age 14 in 1948 (who were compelled to stay in school an extra year). Oreopoulos compared the lifetime labor market earnings of students who turned 14 in 1946 to the lifetime earnings of the students who turned 14 in 1948. Using this natural experiment, Oreopoulos estimated that the return to schooling is about 10 percent. In other words, his analysis implies that the *causal* effect of staying in school an extra year is to earn 10 percent more *every* year of your working life.

**ECONOMICS** 

Natural experiments are a useful source of data in empirical economics. In many problems, they help us separate correlation from causation. Applied to the return to education, they suggest that the correlation between years of education and higher income not only is due to some omitted variables but also reflects the causal influence of education. The return-to-education model thus obtains strong confirmation from the data. Does a 10 percent return to each additional year of education increase your appetite for more years of schooling?



Use the concepts presented in this feature by working through the Evidence-Based Economics Problems at the end of this chapter.

# 2.3 Economic Questions and Answers

Economists like to think about our research as a process in which we pose and answer questions. We've already seen a couple of these questions. For example, in the current chapter, we asked, "What is the return to education?" and in Chapter 1, we asked, "Is Facebook free?"

Good questions come in many different forms. But the most exciting economic questions share two properties.

1. Good economic questions address topics that are important to individual economic agents and/or to our society. Economists tend to think about economic research as something that contributes to society's welfare. We try to pursue research that has general implications for human behavior or economic activity. For example, understanding the return to education is extraordinarily important because individuals invest significant resources to obtain an education. The United States spends \$1.5 trillion per year on education *plus* the opportunity cost of students' time. It is useful to understand the payoffs from all this investment. If the return to education

is very high, society may want to encourage more educational investment. If the return to education is low, we should share this important fact with students who are deciding whether to stay in school. Knowing the return to education will help individuals and governments decide how much of their scarce resources to allocate to educational investment.

**2.** *Good economic questions can be answered.* In some other disciplines, posing a good question is enough. For example, philosophers believe that some of the most important questions don't have answers. In contrast, economists are primarily interested in questions that can be answered with enough hard work, careful reasoning, and empirical evidence.

Here are some of the economic questions that we discuss in this book. As you look over the set, you will see that the answers to these questions have interesting (and occasionally comical) implications for you and for society as a whole. In this book we will explore those answers. We believe the journey will be illuminating and exhilarating.

| Chapter | Questions  |
|---------|--|
| 1       | Is Facebook free?  |
| 2       | How much more does a worker with a 4-year college degree earn<br>compared to a worker with a high school degree? What is the return to<br>education?   |
| 3       | How does location affect the cost of housing?  |
| 4       | How much gasoline would you buy if it were almost free?  |
| 5       | Would a smoker quit the habit for \$100 a month?   |
| 6       | How would an ethanol subsidy affect ethanol producers?   |
| 7       | Can markets composed of only self-interested people maximize the overall well-being of society? Do companies like Uber make use of the invisible hand? |
| 8       | Will free trade cause you to lose your job? What can the government do to lower the number of earthquakes in Oklahoma?                                 |
| 9       | How can the Queen of England lower her commute time to Wembley Stadium?  |
| 10      | What is the optimal size of government?  |
| 11      | Is there discrimination in the labor market?   |
| 12      | Can a monopoly ever be good for society?   |
| 13      | Is there value in putting yourself into someone else's shoes?  |
| 14      | How many firms are necessary to make a market competitive?   |
| 15      | Do people exhibit a preference for immediate gratification?  |
| 16      | Why do new cars lose considerable value the minute they are driven off<br>the lot? Why is private health insurance so expensive?                       |
| 17      | How should you bid in an eBay auction? Who determines how the household spends its money?  |
| 18      | Do people care about fairness?   |
| 19      | In the United States, what is the total market value of annual economic production?  |
| 20      | Why is the average American so much richer than the average Indian?  |
| 21      | Why are you so much more prosperous than your great-great-grandparents were?   |
| 22      | Are tropical and semitropical areas condemned to poverty by their geographies?   |
| 23      | What happens to employment and unemployment if local employers go out of business?   |
| 24      | How often do banks fail?   |
| 25      | What caused the German hyperinflation of 1922–1923?  |

| Chapter       | Questions  |
|---------------|--|
| 26            | What caused the recession of 2007–2009?  |
| 27            | How much does government spending stimulate GDP?                                       |
| 28            | Are companies like Nike harming workers in Vietnam?                                    |
| 29            | How did George Soros make \$1 billion?   |
| Web Chapter 1 | Do investors chase historical returns?   |
| Web Chapter 2 | What is the value of a human life?   |
| Web Chapter 3 | Do governments and politicians follow their citizens' and constituen-<br>cies' wishes? |

### Summary

- The scientific method is the name for the ongoing process that economists and other scientists use to (1) develop models of the world and (2) evaluate those models by testing them with data.
- Empirical evidence is facts that are obtained through observation and measurement. Empirical evidence is also called data.
- Economists try to uncover causal relationships among variables.
- An experiment can be designed to measure a causal relationship. Economists now actively pursue experiments both in the laboratory and in the field. Economists also determine causality by studying historical data that have been generated by a natural experiment.

### **Key Terms**

scientific method *p. 55* model *p. 56* empirical evidence (data) *p. 57* hypotheses *p. 57* median *p. 60* mean (average) *p. 60* 

## Questions

causation *p.*variable *p.*correlation *p.*positive correlation *p.*negative correlation *p.*zero correlation *p.* omitted variable *p. 63* reverse causality *p. 63* experiment *p. 64* randomization *p. 64* natural experiment *p. 65* 

- **1.** Why do economists use the scientific method? Explain your answer by arguing for and against the use of this method.
- **2.** Explain how economists study the economic behavior of a society empirically. By using hypotheses, confirmed by empirical evidence, how do the economists and the empirical evidence contribute to the welfare of the society?
- **3.** Are economic models detailed or simplified versions of reality? Could economists build perfect economic models? Why?
- 4. How is the mean calculated from a series of observations? Suppose a supermarket near you sells four types of fruit juice (apple, orange, lemon, and grape). The price of the apple juice is €3, the price of the orange juice is €5, the lemon juice is €6, and the grape juice is €4. What is the average price of juice in the supermarket?
- **5.** Why does the size of the sample matter in an empirical argument?

- **6.** Explain why correlation does not equal causation. Give examples where the cause and effect relationship between events is not necessarily clear.
- **7.** Consider the following examples and state whether there is positive correlation, negative correlation, or zero correlation between the variables.
  - **a.** A person's gender and how well they drive a car.
  - **b.** The number of sunglasses sold and the number of sunny days.
  - c. The amount of gas (petrol) sold and its price.
- **8.** What is data? Is it always numerical? How is data used in empirical analysis? Give an example.
- **9.** Why is it necessary to conduct experiments before releasing new drugs in a market? Why is randomization needed for experiments?
- **10.** Suppose you had to find the effect of smoking on cancer. Would you choose to run a randomized experiment or would it make sense to use natural experiments here? Explain.

## **Evidence-Based Economics Problems**

- 1. Let's return to our examination of whether workers with 4-year college degrees earn more than workers with high school degrees. In the first Evidence-Based Economics module, we provided data about earnings for U.S. workers. We showed that the median earnings of full-time workers with a college degree was 56 percent higher than the median earnings of full-time workers with a high school degree, holding age fixed. From these data alone, can we infer that going to college causes higher wages? Choose one of the four answers below.
  - i. Not necessarily. Higher earnings for college-educated workers might be due to preexisting characteristics that caused those workers to go to college and also cause those workers to earn more. This is called reverse causality.
  - **ii.** Not necessarily. Higher earnings for college-educated workers might be due to preexisting characteristics that caused those workers to go to college and also cause those workers to earn more. This is called an omitted variable problem.

- **iii.** Yes. Being a college graduate is positively correlated with earnings.
- **iv.** Yes. Being a college graduate is positively correlated with earnings, and this is true even when we compare workers of the same age.
- 2. In the second Evidence-Based Economic module, we discussed how Philip Oreopoulos used a natural experiment involving compulsory schooling laws to infer that the return to one additional year of schooling is a 10 percent increase in earnings. For this question, let's assume that Oreopoulos's 10 percent finding is correct and applies to all people in all circumstances. (These are strong assumptions that are made for illustrative purposes.)
  - **a.** Compare two workers, one of whom has 12 years of schooling and one of whom has 18 years of schooling. Assume these workers are otherwise identical. In percentage terms, how much higher will the earnings of the second worker be?
  - **b.** Suppose the first worker earns \$50,000 per year. How much would the second worker earn in a year?

### Problems

- 1. Some studies have found that people who owned guns were more likely to be killed with a gun. Do you think this study is strong evidence in favor of stricter gun control laws? Explain.
- **2.** The average score for a class of 30 students is 70. The score for the top 20 students in the class averaged at 75. What is the average score of the remaining 10 students in the class?
- **3.** This chapter stressed the importance of using appropriate samples for empirical studies. Consider the following two problems in that light.
  - **a.** Imagine you are a sociologist and your task is to find out the average wage in a small town in rural Europe. Since you are short on time you travel to the city and ask 10 random people waiting at the train station about their wages, then travel back and report on the data. Are you going to get an accurate number?
  - **b.** Your friend was visiting a European capital city for two days and comes home saying that this city has

the best restaurants in the world. Do you think his/her conclusion is justified?

- **4.** A study in 1991 have found that hormone replacement therapy (HRT), used to treat symptoms of menopause, reduces coronary heart disease risk. Do you think this study is strong evidence in favor of HRT? Explain.
- **5.** As the text explains, it can sometimes be very difficult to sort out the direction of causality.
  - **a.** As opposed to the United States, which has serious speed limits, in Germany, many places have no speed limits on the motorway. This means that you can easily travel at 200 kilometers per hour. Does the lack of a speed limit on the motorway mean that there are likely to be more fatalities due to car accidents in Germany?
  - **b.** In 2017, Europe experienced the hottest summer since 2003. The heatwave was aptly named Lucifer. Temperatures crossed 40°C. Do you think it is likely that more people would have bought an airconditioning device for their home?

- 6. During the summer of 2015, the European Union (EU) experienced a record number of applications from asylum seekers. Some said they are economic migrants who just want to take advantage of the relatively good social protection system of the EU, whereas others pointed out that most asylum applications come from countries experiencing civil war. Why do you think asylum seekers were trying to get into the EU? List at least five possible explanations.
- 7. An independent variable is a variable whose value does not depend on another variable, whereas a dependent variable is a variable whose value depends on another variable. Assume that ACT scores obtained by the students is the dependent variable.
  - **a.** What kind of independent variables might we use in order to predict how a student might perform in secondary school?
  - **b.** Assuming that in order to pass their calculus module students on average have to spend 100 hours studying.

If they study more, they will of course improve on their ACT score. If someone i) has a higher IQ ii) has better teachers iii) has more committed classmates iv) has to work part time, will they have to spend more or less hours on average to pass calculus?

- 8. In 2016, most British voters decided that the United Kingdom should exit the European Union (EU). This withdrawal is popularly known as Brexit. How can we use this to demonstrate the effects of EU membership? Is this a natural experiment? What economic impact will this have on the United Kingdom?
- **9.** An economist believes that the consumption patterns of a household can be determined by using the equation C = a + bI, where *I* is the income, *a* denotes a positive number, and *b* a percentage.
  - **a.** Is the economist using a model?
  - **b.** How would you test this?

# **Appendix**

# **Constructing and Interpreting Charts and Graphs**

As you start to learn economics, it's important that you have a good grasp of how to make sense of data and how to present data clearly in visible form. Graphs are everywhere—on TV, on the Web, in newspapers and magazines, in economics textbooks. Why are graphs so popular?

A well-designed graph summarizes a large amount of information—as the saying goes, "a picture is worth a thousand words." A well-designed graph summarizes a large amount of information as the saying goes, "a picture is worth a thousand words." In this book, you will find many graphs, and you will see that they provide a way to supplement the verbal description of economic concepts.

Indeed, visualization can be extremely useful at every stage of economic analysis. As you'll see throughout this book, simple charts and graphs reveal the relationships between variables in a model. Charts and

graphs make complicated databases more intuitive by giving the researchers a sense of important underlying properties in the data, like time trends. To demonstrate how data visualizations enhance economic analysis, we will walk you through a recent study that one of us—John List—co-authored, presenting data visualizations along the way.

### A Study about Incentives

Would you study harder for this economics class if we paid you \$50 for earning an A? What if we raised the stakes to \$500? Your first impulse might be to think "Well, sure . . . why not? That money could buy a new iPhone or maybe a ticket to a Nicki Minaj concert."

As we learned in Chapter 1, though, there are opportunity costs of studying more, such as attending fewer music concerts or spending less time at your favorite coffee house talking with friends. Such opportunity costs must be weighed against the benefits of earning an A in this course. You might conclude that because this question is hypothetical anyway, there's no need to think harder about how you would behave.

But what if the question weren't imaginary?

Over the past few years, thousands of students have actually been confronted with such a financial offer. Sally Sadoff, Steven Levitt, and John List carried out an experiment at two high schools in the suburbs of Chicago over several years in which they used incentives to change students' behavior. Such an experiment allows us to think about the relationship between two *variables*—in this case, how an increase in a financial reward affects student test scores. And it naturally leads to a discussion of cause and effect, which we have just studied in this chapter: we'll examine simple correlations between variables and identify a causal relationship. Both correlation and causation are powerful concepts in gaining an understanding of the world around us—and, as we'll see, data visualizations are crucial tools for this analysis.

### **Experimental Design**

There are two high schools in Chicago Heights, and both have a problem with student dropout rates. It is not uncommon for more than 50 percent of incoming ninth-graders to drop out before receiving a high school diploma. These problems are not unique to Chicago Heights; many urban school districts face a similar problem.

How can economists help? Some economists have devised incentive schemes to lower the dropout rates and increase academic achievement in schools. In this instance, students were *paid* for improved academic performance.<sup>10</sup>
Let's first consider the experiment to lower the dropout rate. Each student was randomly placed into one of the following three groups:

- **Treatment Group with Student Incentives:** Students would receive \$50 for each month they met special academic standards (explained below) established by the experimenters.
- **Treatment Group with Parent Incentives:** Students' *parents* would receive \$50 for each month the special academic standards were met by their child.
- **Control Group**: Neither students nor parents received financial compensation linked to academic performance.

A student was deemed to have met the monthly standards if he or she:

- 1. did not have a D or an F in any classes during that month,
- 2. had no more than one unexcused absence during that month, and
- 3. had no suspensions during that month.

# **Describing Variables**

Before we discover how much money these students actually made, let's consider more carefully the variables that we might be interested in analyzing. As its name suggests, a variable is a factor that is likely to vary or change; that is, it can take different values in different situations. In this section, we show you how to use three different techniques to help graphically describe variables:

- 1. Pie charts
- 2. Bar charts
- 3. Time series graphs

#### **Pie Charts**

Understanding pie charts is a piece of cake. A **pie chart** is a circle split into slices of different sizes. The area of each slice represents the relative importance of non-overlapping parts that add up to the whole. Pie charts show how some economic variable can be divided into components that each represent a fraction of the total and that jointly add up to 100 percent.

For example, the students in our experiment were asked to choose one (and only one) category from this list: Black or African American, Non-Hispanic white, Hispanic, or other. In Exhibit 2A.1, we learn that 59 percent of ninth-graders in the study identify as Black or African American. We therefore differentiate 59 percent of our pie chart with the color blue to represent the proportion of Black or African-American participants in the study. We see that 15 percent of the students identify as non-Hispanic whites, represented by the red piece of the pie. We continue breaking down participation until we have filled in 100 percent of the circle. The circle then describes the self-identified racial and ethnic identities of the participants in the study.

#### Exhibit 2A.1 Chicago Heights Study Participants by Race and Ethnicity

The pie segments are a visual way to represent the fractions of all Chicago Heights high school students in the experiment that make up the four different categories. Just as the numbers add up to 100 percent, so do all of the segments add up to the complete "pie."



A **pie chart** is a circle split into slices of different sizes. The area of each slice represents the relative importance of non-overlapping parts that add up to the whole. A **bar chart** uses bars of different heights or lengths to indicate the properties of different groups.

An **independent variable** is a variable whose value does not depend on another variable; in an experiment it is manipulated by the experimenter.

A **dependent variable** is a variable whose value depends on another variable.

A **time series graph** displays data at different points in time.

# **Bar Charts**

Another type of graph that can be used to summarize and display a variable is a bar chart. A **bar chart** uses bars (no surprise there) of different heights or lengths to indicate the properties of different groups. Bar charts make it easy to compare a single variable across many groups. To make a bar chart, simply draw rectangles side by side, making each rectangle as high (or as long, in the case of horizontal bars) as the value of the variable it is describing.

For example, Exhibit 2A.2 captures the overall success rates of students in the various experimental groups. In the exhibit we have the **independent variable**—the variable that the experimenter is choosing (the treatment group or control group in the study to which each student is randomly assigned)—on the horizontal or *x*-axis. On the vertical or *y*-axis is the **dependent variable**—the variable that is potentially affected by the experimental treatment. In the exhibit, the dependent variable is the proportion of students meeting the academic standards. Note that 100 percent is a proportion of 1, and 30 percent is a proportion of 0.30.

We find some interesting experimental results in Exhibit 2A.2. For instance, we can see from the bar chart that 25.1 percent of students in the Control group (students who received no incentives) met the academic standards. In comparison, 32.5 percent of students in the Parent Incentive group met the standards. This is a meaningful increase in the number of students meeting the standards—evidence that incentives can work.

# **Time Series Graphs**

With pie charts and bar charts, we can summarize how a variable is broken up into different groups, but what if we want to understand how a variable changes over time? For instance, how did the proportion of students meeting the standards change over the school year? A **time series graph** can do the trick. A time series graph displays data at different points in time.

As an example, consider Exhibit 2A.3, which displays the proportion of students meeting the standards in each month in the Control and Parent Incentive groups. Keep in mind that although there are multiple months and groups, we are still measuring only a single variable—in this case, the proportion meeting the standard. As Exhibit 2A.3 makes clear, the number of students meeting the standard is higher in the Parent Incentive treatment group than in the Control group. But notice that the difference within the Parent Incentive and Control groups changes from month to month. Without a time series, we would not be able to appreciate these month-to-month differences and would not be able to get a sense for how the effectiveness of the incentive varies over the school year. As you read this book, keep in mind that the variables we discuss can change over time—and that time series graphs are invaluable in tracking these changes.



#### Exhibit 2A.3 Participants Meeting All Standards by Month

The time series graph takes some of the information that was in the bar chart and shows how it changes depending on the month of the school year during which the experiment was conducted. The points are connected to more clearly illustrate the month-tomonth trend. In addition, by using a different color or line pattern, we can represent two groups (Control and Parent Incentives) on the same graph, giving the opportunity to compare the two groups, just as with the bar chart in the previous exhibit.



# **Cause and Effect**

We've written about both causation and correlation in this chapter. Economists are much more interested in the former. Causation relates two variables in an active way—a causes b if, because of a, b has occurred.

For example, we can conclude in our experimental study that paying money for the students' performance *causes* them to improve their academic performance. This would not necessarily be the case if the experiment were not properly implemented—for example, if students were not randomly placed into control and treatment groups. For instance, imagine that the experimenters had placed all of the students who had achieved poorly in the past in the control group. Then the relatively poor performance of the control group might be due to the composition of students who were assigned to the control group, and not to the lack of financial incentives. Any relationship between academic achievement and payment stemming from such an experiment could be interpreted as a correlation because all other things were not equal at the start of the experiment—the control group would have a higher proportion of low achievers than the other groups.

Fortunately, the Chicago Heights experiment was implemented using the principle of randomization discussed earlier in this chapter. The experimenters split students into groups randomly, so each experimental group had an equal representation of students—that is, attributes like average student intelligence were similar across groups. Accordingly, any difference between the groups' academic performance during the experiment was due to the different experimental conditions, such as differences in financial incentives.

This means that we can claim that the cause of the difference between the performance of the Student Incentive group and that of the Control group is that students in the Student Incentive group were given an incentive of \$50, whereas students in the Control group received no incentive for improvement.

### **Correlation Does Not Necessarily Imply Causality**

Often, correlation is misinterpreted as causation. While correlation can certainly indicate potential causation—a reason to look more closely—it's only a first step. As an example, not long ago, a high-ranking marketing executive showed us Exhibit 2A.4 (the numbers are changed for confidentiality reasons). He was trying to demonstrate that his company's retail advertisements were effective in increasing sales: "It shows a clear positive relation-ship between ads and sales. When we placed 1,000 ads, sales were roughly \$35 million. But see how sales dipped to roughly \$20 million when we placed only 100 ads? This proves that more advertisements lead to more sales."



Before discussing whether this exhibit proves causality, let's step back and think about the basic characteristics of Exhibit 2A.4. In such an exhibit we have:

- 1. The *x*-variable plotted on the horizontal axis, or *x*-axis; in our figure the *x*-variable is the number of advertisements.
- **2.** The *y*-variable plotted on the vertical axis, or *y*-axis; in our figure the *y*-variable is the sales in millions of dollars.
- **3.** The origin, which is the point where the *x*-axis intersects the *y*-axis; both sales and the number of advertisements are equal to zero at the origin.

In the exhibit, the number of advertisements is the independent variable, and the amount of sales is the dependent variable. When the values of both variables increase together in the same direction, they have a positive relationship; when one increases and the other decreases, and they move in opposite directions, they have a negative relationship.

So in Exhibit 2A.4, we find a positive relationship between the two variables. What is the strength of that positive relationship? This is called the slope. The **slope** is the change in the value of the variable plotted on the *y*-axis divided by the change in the value of the variable plotted on the *x*-axis:

Slope = 
$$\frac{\text{Change in } y}{\text{Change in } x} = \frac{\text{Rise}}{\text{Run}}.$$

In this example, the increase in the number of advertisements from 100 to 1,000 was associated with an increase in sales from \$20 million to \$35 million. Thus, the rise, or the change in sales (y), is \$15 million and the run, or change in x, is 900 ads. Because both are rising (moving in the same direction), the slope is positive:

Slope = 
$$\frac{\$35,000,000 - \$20,000,000}{1000 \text{ ads} - 100 \text{ ads}} = \frac{\$15,000,000}{900 \text{ ads}} = \$16,667 \text{ per ad}$$

Thus, our exhibit implies that one more advertisement is associated with \$16,667 more in sales. But, does this necessarily mean that if the retailer increases the number of advertisements by one, this will cause sales to increase by \$16,667?

Unfortunately, no. While it is tempting to interpret the sales increasing with ads as a causal relationship between the two variables, we cannot be sure that this relationship is causal. In this case, the marketing executive forgot to think about *why* his company so drastically increased its advertisement volume to begin with—after all, the amount of advertising was not determined randomly in an experiment. As it turns out, the company did so because of the holiday season, a time when sales would presumably have been high anyway.

The **slope** is the change in the value of the variable plotted on the *y*-axis divided by the change in the value of the variable plotted on the *x*-axis.

#### Exhibit 2A.5 Ice Cream Production and Drownings in the United States

We depict the relationship between monthly ice cream production and monthly drownings. Each of the 12 points represents a single month in 2011. Is this relationship causal or is there an omitted variable that is causing these two variables to move together? *Hint:* The point in the upper right corner of the exhibit is July and the point in the lower left corner of the exhibit is December!

Sources: Based on Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, and Brian W. Gould, University of Wisconsin Dairy Marketing and Risk Management Program (2011).



So, after some further digging (we'll spare you the details), what the data actually say is that the retailer placed more ads during times of busy shopping (around Thanksgiving and in December), but that is exactly when sales would normally be high—because of the holiday shopping season. Similar to what happened in the department store red/blue ad example in this chapter, taking into account seasonal variation in sales fully explains the correlation between ads and sales, eliminating the causal explanation.

This example shows that you should be careful when you connect a few points in a graph. Just because two variables move together (a correlation), they are not necessarily related in a causal way. They could merely be linked by another variable that is causing them both to increase—in this case, the shopping season.

To see the general idea of what is happening more clearly, let's instead graph the quantity of ice cream produced against the number of monthly drownings in the United States. Using data across months in a single year, we constructed Exhibit 2A.5. In Exhibit 2A.5, we see that in months when ice cream production is relatively high, there are a lot of drownings. Likewise, in months when there is relatively little ice cream production, there are far fewer drownings. Does this mean that you should not swim after you eat ice cream?

Indeed, parents persuaded by such a chart might believe that it's causal, and never let their kids eat ice cream near swimming pools or lakes! But luckily for us ice cream lovers, there is an omitted variable lurking in the background. In the summertime, when it is hot, people eat more ice cream *and* swim more. More swimming leads to more drowning. Even though people eat more ice cream cones in the summer, eating ice cream doesn't *cause* people to drown.

Just as a heightened shopping season was the omitted variable in the retailer advertisement example, here the omitted variable is heat—it causes us to swim more *and* to eat more ice cream cones. While the former causes more drownings (as we would all expect), the latter has nothing to do with drowning, even though there is a positive correlation between the two, as shown in Exhibit 2A.5.

Beyond an understanding of how to construct data figures, we hope that this appendix gave you an appreciation for how to interpret visual displays of data. An important lesson is that just because two variables are correlated—and move together in a figure—does not mean that they are causally related. Causality is the gold standard in the social sciences. Without understanding the causal relationship between two variables, we cannot reliably predict how the world will change when the government intervenes to change one of the variables. Experiments help reveal causal relationships; for example, we learned from the Chicago Heights experiment that incentives can affect student performance.

# **Appendix Key Terms**

pie chart *p.* 72 bar chart *p.* 73

independent variable *p. 73* dependent variable *p. 73* 

# **Appendix Problems**

- A1. How would you represent the following graphically?
  - **a.** Income inequality in the United States has increased over the past 10 years.
  - **b.** All the workers in the manufacturing sector in a particular country fit into one (and only one) of the following three categories: 31.5 percent are high school dropouts, 63.5 percent have a regular high school diploma, and the rest have a vocational training certificate.
  - **c.** The median income of a household in Alabama was \$43,464 in 2012, and the median income of a household in Connecticut was \$64,247 in 2012.
- **A2.** Consider the following data that show the quantity of coffee produced in Brazil from 2004 to 2012.

| Production (in tons) |
|----------------------|
| 2,465,710            |
| 2,140,169            |
| 2,573,368            |
| 2,249,011            |
| 2,796,927            |
| 2,440,056            |
| 2,907,265            |
| 2,700,440            |
| 3,037,534            |
|                      |

time series graph *p*. 73 slope *p*. 75

- **a.** Plot the data in a time series graph.
- **b.** What is the mean quantity of coffee that Brazil produced from 2009 to 2011?
- **c.** In percentage terms, how much has the 2012 crop increased over the 2009–2011 mean?
- **A3.** Suppose the following table shows the relationship between revenue that the Girl Scouts generate and the number of cookie boxes that they sell.

| Number of Cookie Boxes | Revenue |
|------------------------|---------|
| 50                     | \$200   |
| 150                    | \$600   |
| 250                    | \$1,000 |
| 350                    | \$1,400 |
| 450                    | \$1,800 |
| 550                    | \$2,200 |

- **a.** Present the data in a scatter plot.
- **b.** Do the two variables have a positive relationship or do they have a negative relationship? Explain.
- **c.** What is the slope of the line that you get in the scatter plot? What does the slope imply about the price of a box of Girl Scout cookies?

# 3

# Optimization: Trying to Do the Best You Can

How does location affect the rental cost of housing?

> Suppose you just landed a job near the center of a city and you now need to decide where to live. If you live close to the city center, your round-trip commute will be 15 minutes. If you live in the suburbs, your round-trip commute will be 60 minutes. Holding square footage fixed, where will apartments be relatively less expensive? How will you choose where to live? How should you make the best decision given the trade-offs you face?

In this chapter, we'll dig into the concept of optimization—trying to choose the best feasible option. You will learn how to optimize by using costbenefit analysis. And we will apply this knowledge to an example that we revisit throughout the chapter and examine empirically in the Evidence-Based Economics feature choosing an apartment.

# CHAPTER OUTLINE

#### 3.1

Optimization: Trying to Choose the Best Feasible Option



Apartment

# 3.3

Optimization Using Marginal Analysis

#### EBE

How does location affect the rental cost of housing?

# **KEY** IDEAS

- When an economic agent tries to choose the best feasible option, they are optimizing.
- Optimization using total value calculates the total value of each feasible option and then picks the option with the highest total value.
- Optimization using marginal analysis calculates the change in total value when a person switches from one feasible option to another and then uses these marginal comparisons to choose the option with the highest total value.
- Optimization using total value and optimization using marginal analysis give identical answers.

# **3.1 Optimization: Trying to Choose the Best Feasible Option**

In Chapter 1, we described economics as the study of choice. Economists usually assume that people make choices by trying to select the best feasible option, given the available information. In other words, people optimize. Recall that optimization is the first principle of economics.

Economists use optimization to predict most of the choices that people, households, businesses, and governments make. Economists use optimization to predict most of the choices that people, households, businesses, and governments make. To an economist, seemingly unrelated decisions—for example, where a college student will travel on spring break, which apartment a worker will rent, or what price Apple charges for an iPhone—are all connected by the unifying principle of optimization. Whatever choices people face, economists believe that they will try to choose the best option. However, economists don't assume that people always *succeed*—an issue we will return to below.

Of course, optimization need not be easy, and optimization is often quite complex. To illustrate the complexity, consider the choice of an apartment. In a large city there could be millions of rental apartments, each with different characteristics to consider, such as the number of bedrooms, location, views, and neighborhood amenities.

Making an optimal decision, then, involves juggling multiple trade-offs. For example, how do you compare two apartments, one of which has the benefit of lower rent and one of which has the benefit of a shorter commute? How would you determine which apartment is a better choice for you? In this chapter, we are going to see how to optimally evaluate such trade-offs. We will introduce you to the most important optimization tools that economists use.

We have a lot to say about choosing a rental apartment, but remember that the choice of an apartment is just one illustration of the general concept of optimization. We can use the principal of optimization to analyze any decision that an economic agent faces, from the trivial—how many miles will you jog in a workout?—to the profound—how many years of education will you obtain?

Optimization can be implemented using many different techniques. In this chapter, we show you how to optimize using two different techniques, which yield *identical* answers. The first technique simply calculates the total value of each feasible option and then picks the option with the greatest total value. The second technique—*marginal analysis*, which we explain later in the chapter—focuses on differences among the feasible options and finds the best option by analyzing these differences. Because the two optimization techniques yield identical answers, you can decide to use whichever technique you find easier for each particular problem.



# Do People Actually Choose the Best Feasible Option?

We have emphasized that people *try* to choose the best feasible option and have been noncommittal about how often and how well they succeed in those efforts. Do economic agents always *succeed* in picking the best feasible option? Of course not! So why do economists focus so much on the best feasible option, which economists refer to as the **optimal choice** or as the **optimum**?

Economists believe that optimal choice is a useful approximation of most economic behavior, even if real people *don't always* hit the bull's-eye. Economists are interested in identifying situations in which optimal choice is a good approximation of people's behavior. Likewise, economists are interested in identifying situations in which people systematically get things wrong.

There is even a branch of economics that specializes in studying how well people do in different situations. **Behavioral economics** explains why people pick (or nearly pick) the optimum in some situations and don't come close in others (even in situations where they are trying to choose well). Behavioral economists model this range of behavior by combining economic and psychological theories of human decision making.

Several special situations are associated with behavior that is not optimal. For example, when people have self-control problems—like procrastination or, far worse, addiction—optimal choice is not a good description of behavior. (We discuss self-control problems in Chapter 15.)

People also tend to fail to pick the optimum when they are new to a task. For instance, the first time individuals play poker, they tend to play poorly—they make rookie mistakes—even though they are trying to play well. We have never met someone who intentionally tried to lose money at the card table, but we have spent time with people who lost money because they weren't good at playing cards (or had too much to drink). Because inexperienced agents tend to make mistakes, the optimum is a much better description of behavior when people have lots of experience.

For example, as investors gain more years of experience, they tend to make fewer mistakes. John Campbell, Tarun Ramadorai, and Benjamin Ranish documented this pattern of improving performance in a 2014 research paper. They obtained anonymized data that summarized the activity of 11.6 million investors in India. The researchers found that experienced investors (those with brokerage accounts that have been open a relatively long time) have annual returns that are substantially higher than those of their inexperienced peers.<sup>1</sup> The authors named their paper after the Beatles song "Getting Better."

Because people aren't born knowing how to make the optimal choice in every situation, it is useful for all of us to learn how to make better choices. Economists show people how to choose optimally—such advice amounts to prescriptive economic analysis.

We hope that you use the concept of optimal choice in two ways: first, to describe the behavior of decision makers who are knowledgeable, experienced, and sober; and, second, to identify and improve suboptimal choices especially your own!

# **3.2 Optimization Application:** Renting the Optimal Apartment

Economists refer to the best feasible option as the **optimal choice** or as the **optimum**.

Behavioral economics jointly analyzes the economic and psychological factors that explain human behavior, helping to identify situations in which agents choose optimally (or nearly optimally) and situations in which people don't come close to choosing optimally. Let's explore the theory of optimization in more depth. To illustrate these ideas, we return to our opening example in which you are an apartment hunter.

Imagine that you have narrowed your rental choice to four possible apartments your "short list." Exhibit 3.1 summarizes this short list, including two key pieces of information for each apartment—the monthly rent and the amount of commuting time per month. Exhibit 3.1 assumes that rent decreases the farther you are from work; as rent falls, commuting time increases, generating a trade-off. Later in this chapter, we explain why economic forces predict this inverse relationship between rent and distance from work. We'll also show you empirical evidence that confirms this prediction.

You might wonder about everything that was left out of the summary of information in Exhibit 3.1. What about other differences among these apartments, like how long it takes to walk to the neighborhood laundromat or whether there is a park nearby? We also omitted commuting costs other than time, like the direct dollar cost of public transportation or, if you drive yourself, gasoline and tolls. Shouldn't all these considerations be part of the comparison?

3.2

#### Exhibit 3.1 Apartments on Your Short List, Which Differ with Regard to Commuting Time and Rent and Are Otherwise Identical

Many cities have a single central business district—which is often referred to as the city center—where lots of employers are concentrated. In most cities, apartments near the city center cost more to rent than otherwise identical apartments that are far away. Why is this so?



| Apartment  | Commuting Time<br>(hours/month) | Rent<br>(\$/month) |
|------------|---------------------------------|--------------------|
| Very Close | 5 hours                         | \$1,180            |
| Close      | 10 hours                        | \$1,090            |
| Far        | 15 hours                        | \$1,030            |
| Very Far   | 20 hours                        | \$1,000            |
|            |                                 |                    |



The proximity of local amenities such as schools or parks should also go into a complete optimization analysis because these amenities change the net benefits of an apartment. To keep things simple, we will omit these other factors for now, even though they *are* important in practice. We omit them to keep the calculations simple and so that the basic economic concepts are easier to understand. As you'll discover in the problems at the end of the chapter, once you understand the basic ideas, it is easy to add more details. For now, we will assume that the four apartments—Very Close, Close, Far, and Very Far—are identical except for the differences listed in Exhibit 3.1.

Note, too, that we are focusing only on costs in this example—the cost of commuting time and the cost of rent. We are assuming that the benefits of these apartments are the same—for instance, size or views. If the benefits are the same, then cost-benefit analysis becomes simpler. In normal cost-benefit analysis, the decision maker finds the alternative with the highest value of *net benefit*, which is benefit minus

cost. When the benefits are the same across all the alternatives, cost-benefit analysis simplifies to finding the alternative with the lowest cost. That's what we are going to do next.

Exhibit 3.1 contains the information that we need, but on its own, it does not enable us to choose the best apartment. First, we need to sum the cost of rent and the cost of commuting time to calculate the *total* cost of each apartment. The total cost includes the *direct* cost of rent and the *indirect* cost of commute time.

To sum these two costs, we first need to decide on a common unit of account. Let's pick dollars per month for now. Because rent is already expressed in dollars per month, half of our work has been done for us. All that remains is to translate the indirect cost—commuting time—into the same unit of measurement.

#### Exhibit 3.2 Commuting Cost and Rental Cost Expressed in Common Units, Assuming an Opportunity Cost of Time of \$10/Hour

To optimize, it is necessary to convert all of the costs and benefits into common units. In this example, the common unit is dollars per month. The optimum—in bold—is Far, which has the lowest total cost.

| Apartment  | Commuting Time<br>(hours/month) | Commuting Cost<br>(\$/month) | Rent<br>(\$/month) | Total Cost: Rent + Commuting<br>(\$/month) |
|------------|---------------------------------|------------------------------|--------------------|--|
| Very Close | 5 hours                         | \$50                         | \$1,180            | \$1,230                                    |
| Close      | 10 hours                        | \$100                        | \$1,090            | \$1,190                                    |
| Far        | 15 hours                        | \$150                        | \$1,030            | \$1,180                                    |
| Very Far   | 20 hours                        | \$200                        | \$1,000            | \$1,200                                    |
|            |                                 |                              |                    |  |

To do this, we use the concept of opportunity cost, which we introduced in Chapter 1. Let's begin by considering somebody with an opportunity cost of commuting time of \$10/hour. This is the hourly value of the alternative activity that is crowded out when you spend more time commuting. The fact that it is a dollar value doesn't imply that this time would have been spent at work if it weren't spent commuting. An extra hour of time has value to you regardless of what you might choose to do with that time, including napping, socializing, watching videos, taking longer showers, or working.

If the round-trip commute takes 20 hours/month and the opportunity cost of time is \$10/hour, then the dollar cost of that commute is

$$\left(\frac{20 \text{ hours}}{\text{month}}\right)\left(\frac{\$10}{\text{hour}}\right) = \left(\frac{\$200}{\text{month}}\right).$$

The first term on the left is commute time per month, which is expressed in hours per month, just as it is in Exhibit 3.1. The term just before the equal sign is the opportunity cost of time, which is expressed as dollars per hour. The "hours" units cancel, leaving a final cost expressed as dollars per month.

Now we are ready to rewrite Exhibit 3.1. Using the calculations that we just illustrated for 20 hours of monthly commuting time, we can calculate costs for a commute of any duration. Exhibit 3.2 reports this commuting cost in dollars per month for all four apartments.

Exhibit 3.2 gives us the answer to our optimization problem. "Far" is the best apartment for a consumer with an opportunity cost of time of \$10/hour. This apartment has the lowest total cost—\$1,180—taking into account both direct rental costs and indirect time costs of commuting.



32

We also easily see this result by plotting the total costs. Exhibit 3.3 plots the total cost of each of the four apartments—and, as the dip in the curve clearly shows, Far is the best choice. Economists call the best feasible choice the optimum, which you can see labeled on the total cost curve.

To sum up our discussion so far, optimization using total value has three steps:

- 1. Translate all costs and benefits into common units, like dollars per month.
- 2. Calculate the *total* net benefit of each alternative.
- 3. Pick the alternative with the highest net benefit.

#### **Before and After Comparisons**

If apartment hunters make optimal choices, then the choice of an apartment will be affected by a change in the opportunity cost of time. Until now we have assumed that the opportunity cost of time is \$10/hour. Let's instead assume that the opportunity cost of time is \$15/hour. Why might opportunity cost rise? For example, an hourly worker's opportunity cost of time would rise if their hourly wage rose.

How does this increase in the opportunity cost of time change the predicted behavior? Before we take you through it step by step, try to use your intuition. How would a change in the value of time affect the optimal decision of where to live? Should commuters with a higher value of time move closer to where they work or farther away?

To answer this question, we again need to translate the indirect cost—commuting time into the same units as the direct cost of rent, which are dollars per month. Accordingly, we rewrite Exhibit 3.2, assuming instead a \$15/hour opportunity cost of time. Exhibit 3.4 reports this commuting cost in dollars per month for all four apartments.

Exhibit 3.4 provides the answer to our new optimization problem. The best apartment for a consumer with an opportunity cost of time of \$15/hour now shifts from Far to Close. Close has the lowest total cost—\$1,240—taking into account both direct rental costs and indirect time costs of commuting.

Exhibit 3.5 plots the total cost of each of the four apartments assuming a \$15/hour opportunity cost of time. Close is the best choice—the optimum.

When the opportunity cost of time increases from \$10/hour to \$15/hour, it becomes more valuable for the commuter to choose an apartment that reduces the amount of time spent commuting. So the optimal choice switches from a relatively inexpensive apartment with a longer commute—Far—to a relatively expensive apartment with a shorter commute—Close.

Exhibit 3.6 takes the two different cost curves from Exhibits 3.3 and 3.5 and plots them in a single figure. The purple line represents the total cost curve for the commuter with an opportunity cost of \$10/hour. The orange line represents the total cost curve for the commuter with an opportunity cost of \$15/hour. Two key properties are visible in Exhibit 3.6:

1. The \$10/hour cost curve lies below the \$15/hour cost curve. The \$10/hour curve has lower commuting costs for each apartment, so the total cost, which takes into account both the direct cost of rent and the indirect cost of commuting, is lower for all apartments.

# Exhibit 3.4 Commuting Cost and Rental Cost Expressed in Common Units, Assuming an Opportunity Cost of Time of \$15/Hour

To optimize, it is necessary to convert all costs and benefits into common units. In this example, the common unit is dollars per month. The optimum—in bold—is Close, which has the lowest total cost.

| Apartment  | Commuting Time<br>(hours/month) | Commuting Cost<br>(\$/month) | Rent<br>(\$/month) | Total Cost: Rent + Commuting<br>(\$/month) |
|------------|---------------------------------|------------------------------|--------------------|--|
| Very Close | 5 hours                         | \$75                         | \$1,180            | \$1,255                                    |
| Close      | 10 hours                        | \$150                        | \$1,090            | \$1,240                                    |
| Far        | 15 hours                        | \$225                        | \$1,030            | \$1,255                                    |
| Very Far   | 20 hours                        | \$300                        | \$1,000            | \$1,300                                    |

3.2